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Characteristics of GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (The “Stock Exchange”)
TR AR ] (TS ) GEM T

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should
be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is
given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make
no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the ‘“Directors”) of RMH Holdings
Limited (the “Company’, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group’)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowleage and belief, the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

F I

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors, | would like to present
to you the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

REVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in three types of business, (i) the provision
of clinical healthcare, as well as medical and aesthetic dermatology
treatment services (the “Clinical Healthcare and Dermatological Services”);
(i) the provision of dental implant and oral healthcare-related medical
services and sales of related products through its subsidiaries in the
People’s Republic of China (the “Dental Business”); and (i) trading of
healthcare and wellness products and nutritional supplements in Hong
Kong (the “Trading Business”).

For the Group's principal business operations, as set out in the 2024
annual report, the revenue of dental services amounted to approximately
S$$2,137,000, representing an increase of approximately S$98,000
or 4.8% as compared to the Group’s revenue of approximately
S$$2,039,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, which accounted
for approximately 42.4% of total revenue. The revenue of dermatologic
aesthetics and treatment services amounted to approximately
S$$2,140,000, representing an increase of approximately S$2,140,000
as compared to the Group’s revenue of approximately S$0 for the year
ended 31 December 2023, which accounted for approximately 42.4% of
total revenue.

OUTLOOK

In the coming year, the Group is strategically positioned for rapid growth
as it enhances the core business operations, focusing on Clinical
Healthcare and Dermatological Services in Hong Kong, and Dental
Business in China. The healthcare landscape in these regions presents
a unique opportunity for expansion, driven by the aging population,
increasing health and dermatological awareness, and rising demand for
specialized medical services. By integrating technologies and patient-
centric approach, the Group aims to optimize service delivery, making
healthcare more accessible and efficient for patients.

To address evolving consumer needs, we are broadening our wellness
& integrated health services, including Chinese medicine, physiotherapy;,
and preventative health programs. This holistic approach aligns with the
post-pandemic shift toward comprehensive well-being, positioning the
Group as a leader in integrated healthcare solutions.

Amidst ongoing economic recovery-marked by cautious consumer
spending and industry-wide price pressures-we remain focused on
sustaining margins through elevating service quality, process optimization
via integrating technologies to streamline operation. These efforts ensure
long-term patient loyalty while maintaining operational efficiency.
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Chairman’s Statement
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In tandem with these internal efforts, we will forge collaborations with
local businesses, leverage digital marketing & social media to engage
younger demographics, to boost awareness of our brand and services.
We aim to increase our visibility in the community and establish ourselves
as a trusted healthcare provider in Hong Kong and China.

Recognizing the high-growth potential of Southeast Asia’s emerging
aesthetic industry, we are actively exploring strategic entry opportunities.
The region’s rising demand for premium dermatological services aligns
with our expertise, enabling us to replicate our success in new markets.

Through innovation, strategic expansion, and patient-focused care, the
Group is committed to solidifying our leadership in clinical healthcare,
dermatology, and dental services across Hong Kong, Greater China and
beyond.

We will proactively and properly address debt issues and other issues
historically left unresolved. As the relevant Singaporean subsidiaries,
which were originally the major business entities of the Company,
gradually entered bankruptcy proceedings and judicial management,
the business and assets of the said subsidiaries had been stripped
from the Company and its financial statements, resulting in their claims
for debts against the various related companies retained by the Group.
The Company will remain in a positive position to exercise caution in
our negotiations and consultations with the creditors, to safeguard the
Company’s rights and interests to the fullest extent, and to minimize the
impact of existing debts on the Company’s current business operations.
In addition, the Company will consider streamlining existing non-core
businesses and assets, so as to reduce the consumption or erosion
by unproductive assets and businesses of our existing resources, while
striving to improve the efficiency of asset utilization and reduce our
operating costs. These efforts aim to create the greatest value for the
Company and its shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to all of our shareholders, customers and business
partners for their continuous support. | would also like to express my
heartfelt appreciation to our management and professional colleagues for
their cohesive teamwork and valuable contribution to the Group.

Mr. Poon Chun Yin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Company is an investment company and the Group is principally
engaged in (i) the provision of clinical healthcare, as well as medical and
aesthetic dermatology treatment services (the “Clinical Healthcare and
Dermatological Services”); (i) the provision of dental implant and oral
healthcare-related medical services and sales of related products through
its subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “Dental Business”);
and (jii) trading of healthcare and wellness products and nutritional
supplements in Hong Kong (the “Trading Business”).

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In the coming year, the Group is strategically positioned for rapid growth
as it enhances the core business operations, focusing on Clinical
Healthcare and Dermatological Services in Hong Kong, and Dental
Business in China. The healthcare landscape in these regions presents
a unique opportunity for expansion, driven by the aging population,
increasing health and dermatological awareness, and rising demand for
specialized medical services. By integrating technologies and patient-
centric approach, the Group aims to optimize service delivery, making
healthcare more accessible and efficient for patients.

To address evolving consumer needs, we are broadening our
wellness and integrated health services, including Chinese medicine,
physiotherapy, and preventative health programs. This holistic approach
aligns with the post-pandemic shift towards comprehensive well-being,
positioning the Group as a leader in integrated healthcare solutions.

Amidst ongoing economic recovery — marked by cautious consumer
spending and industry-wide price pressures — we remain focused on
sustaining margins through elevating service quality, process optimization.
These efforts ensure long-term patient loyalty while maintaining
operational efficiency.

In tandem with these internal efforts, we will forge collaborations with
local businesses and leverage on digital marketing and social media to
engage younger demographics, to boost awareness of our brand and
services. We aim to increase our visibility in the community and establish
ourselves as a trusted healthcare provider in Hong Kong and China.

Recognizing the high-growth potential of Southeast Asia’s emerging
aesthetic industry, we are actively exploring strategic entry opportunities.
The region’s rising demand for premium dermatological services aligns
with our expertise, enabling us to replicate our success in new markets.

Through innovation, strategic expansion, and patient-focused care, the
Group is committed to solidifying our leadership in clinical healthcare,
dermatology, and dental services across Hong Kong, Greater China and
beyond.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

As of 31 December 2024, the trading amount of healthcare products,
nutritional supplements, and other related aesthetics products amounted
to approximately S$767,000, representing a decrease of approximately
S$374,000 or 32.8% as compared to the Group’s revenue of
approximately S$1,141,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Dental Business also witnessed rapid growth during the year. The
Company commenced this new business at the beginning of 2022 by
registering an operating company (‘Operating Company”) in Zhongshan,
Guangdong Province, which commenced business operations with
operating income generated in June 2022. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Operating Company engaged in the new dental
implant business achieved sales of S$2,137,000, representing an
increase of approximately S$98,000 or 4.8% as compared to the Group’s
revenue of approximately S$2,039,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023. The revenue of dermatologic aesthetics and treatment services
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
S$%$2,140,000, representing an increase of approximately S$2,140,000 as
compared to the Group’s revenue of approximately S$O for the twelve
months ended 31 December 2023, which accounted for approximately
42.4% of total revenue.

Other operating income for the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately S$184,000, which represented a decrease of
approximately S$177,000 as compared to the other operating income of
approximately S$361,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the gain other rental income of the
Group.

Our consumables and medical supplies used for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 amounted to approximately S$1,399,000 and
S$1,637,000, representing approximately 27.7% and 51.5% of the total
revenue, respectively.

Cost of consumables and medical supplies used decreased by
approximately S$238,000 or 14.5%, from approximately S$1,637,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately S$1,399,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable
to the decrease of the trading sales during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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Employee benefits expense

BEEMAX

2024 2023

20245 20234

S$°000 S$'000

F 3 b0 T T3 T

Director’s remunerations i) 422 921
Other staff costs: H 8 TAA:

— Salaries, bonus and other benefits — ¥ A N EMER 1,581 1,420

— Contributions to retirement benefits scheme —iRREFIFT B 57 22

— Share-based payment — RT3 - =

Employee benefits expense EERAMMAZ 2,060 2,363

Employee benefits expense relate to Directors’ remuneration, salaries,
bonus and other benefits for other professional staff such as trained
therapists, clinic executives and other administrative staff, contributions to
retirement benefits scheme. The decrease was largely attributable to the
decrease in Directors’ remuneration during the year ended 31 December
2024.

BERAAISREZHH EMmBEEAS (W0
RIEE -2 ERABREMITHRETI)N
- F e TEA R EAER  RIRGTEIME K- B
B EBRBEEH £2024F12 A31H (L FE
LEEHH -

Our total staff count for employees (including part time staff), as at the HFIRZHBFERNEE (BREFBRET )N
end of the respective financial years is as follow: BTHAHMT:
2024 2023
20244 20234
Total staff count BITHEH 45 32
Depreciation of plant and equipment BEREERE

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the
cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual
value. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment. Our
depreciation expenses primarily comprised:

(@) professional equipment, mainly our medical equipment;

(b) computer and office equipment at our various premises used for
our operations; and

(c) leasehold improvements in relation to the leased premises for our

operations.
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and
adjusted as appropriate at the end of the reporting period. Our medical
equipment and office equipment are generally depreciated over three
to five years, which we considered as reasonable for the useful lives
for assets of such nature. The increase in the depreciation of plant and
equipment of approximately S$42,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 was mainly attributable to the decrease in plant and equipment
during the year.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term
and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of
the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that
the group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group’s other operating expenses comprised rental and property
upkeep, administrative fees, professional and consulting fees, net foreign
currency exchange (gain)/loss and other expenses.

The other operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024
increased by approximately S$664,000 or 35.5% from approximately
S$1,869,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
$%$2,533,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
S$234,000, which represented an increase of approximately S$179,000
as compared to the finance costs of approximately S$55,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to the
increase in interest expenses on short-term loans during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Loss for the year was approximately S$3,371,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December 2023: loss of
approximately S$6,853,000). The decrease of loss was mainly due to the
decrease in impairment loss and the increase in revenue the increase in
revenue as a result of the new consolidation of QR Group.
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Consolidated statement of financial position of the
Company

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net liabilities of approximately
S$24,412,000 (31 December 2023: approximately S$12,519,000). The
increase in net liabilities was mainly resulted from the decreased in assets
by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The capital of the Group only comprises ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the total deficit of the Group was approximately
S$%$24,412,000 (2023: approximately S$12,519,000). The Group generally
financed its operation with internally generated cash flows. The Group
had bank balances and cash of approximately S$566,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately S$306,000). As at 31 December
2024, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately S$21,555,000
(2023: approximately $$12,102,000).

As at 31 December 2024, the capital structure of the Group consisted of
deficit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately S$19.5
million.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant investments in
equity securities of companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

MAJOR ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On 21 March 2024, RMH HK and Ms. Tse, being the existing
shareholders of QR Medical, entered into the shareholders’ agreement
to regulate the arrangement and the respective rights and obligations of
RMH HK and Ms. Tse with respect to the management and operations of
QR Group. Prior to the entering into of the Shareholder’s Agreement and
change of composition of board of directors of QR Group, the Group’s
51% equity interest over QR Group was accounted for as investment in
a joint venture and its financial results, assets and liabilities have been
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of the Group under
equity method of accounting.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group operate mainly in Singapore, the PRC and Hong Kong with
most of the transactions settled in Singapore dollars, Renminbi and Hong
Kong dollars respectively. Our management considers that the business
is not exposed to any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no
significant financial assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in
currencies other than the respective functional currencies of our operating
entities. We did not hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency
during the historical record period.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, our Group had a total of 45 employees, all
of whom are full-time employees (2023: 32). The gender ratio of the
Group’s workforce (including senior management) was approximately
26.7% male to approximately 73.3% female. The Group shall continue
to take into account diversity perspectives including gender diversity in
its hiring of employees from time to time. Staff costs, including Directors’
remuneration, of our Group were approximately S$2,060,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: approximately S$2,363,000).
Remuneration is determined with reference to factors such as
comparable market salaries and work performance, time commitment
and responsibilities of each individual. Employees are provided with
relevant inhouse and/or external training from time to time. In addition to
a basic salary, year-end discretionary bonuses are offered to employees
who performed outstandingly to attract and retain eligible employees to
contribute to our Group.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no charges on the
Group’s assets.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under Cayman Companies Law
on 22 March 2017. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 13 October 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Particulars
of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group
is mainly engaged in three types of business, 1) providing dermatology
aesthetic and treatment services, 2) providing dental care and dental
implantation services, and 3) trading health and health products and
nutritional supplements. Due to the occurrence of liquidation and judicial
management to the Group’s Singapore subsidiaries during 2022, the
nature of the Group’s main business changed significantly in the fourth
quarter of past year. The core business of the Group has changed from
providing dermatology aesthetic and treatment services to providing
clinical healthcare, as well as medical and aesthetic dermatology
treatment services (the “Clinical Healthcare and Dermatological Services”),
dental care and dental implant services and trading business.

Details of the business review for the year ended 31 December 2024,
including a fair review of the Group’s business, principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business are set out in the Chairman’s
statement and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 12 of
this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Dividend Distribution Policy of the Company establishes the principles
to ascertain amounts that can be distributed to the Shareholders as
dividend by the Company. Subject to the applicable law and its Articles
of Association, the Company’s dividend payout will be determined based
on available financial resources, investment requirements and taking into
account optimal shareholders return.
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While determining the nature and quantum of dividend payout, the Board
would take into account the following factors, inter alia:

o Cash flow position of the Company

. Earnings stability

o Long term investments

. Future cash requirements for development
° Economic environment

o Industry outlook for the future years

° Changes in the Government policies, industry specific rulings &
regulatory provisions

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 203 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it engages. The Group strives to improve
the efficient use of the natural resources, including electricity, water and
paper. The Group aims to develop energy saving culture. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and employment.

Details regarding to the Group’s environmental, social and governance
report can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
set out on pages 50 to 98 of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations. During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report, the Group has complied in material respects with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CLIENTS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees, clients,
suppliers, banks, regulators and the Shareholders. During the year ended
31 December 2024, there were no material and significant disputes
between the Group and its key stakeholders. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each
of its key stakeholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last four years is set out on page 204 of this report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
103 to 104 of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the Directors, no reserves
of the Company available for distribution to shareholders under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group other borrowings amounting to
approximately S$0.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 31
December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouses
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Poon Chun Yin (Chairman) (appointed on 21 February 2024) (Note 1)

Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 31 January 2023 and
resigned on 28 February 2024)

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Cui Han

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 21 February 2024 and
resigned on 17 March 2025)

Mr. Tang Ho Lun Ronald (appointed on 18 March 2025) (Note 2)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chau Wing Nam (appointed on 21 March 2024) (Note 3)

Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason (appointed on 21 March 2024) (Note 4)
Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun (@ppointed on 21 March 2024
resigned on 12 November 2024) (Note 5)

Ms. Chong Wai Shan (appointed on 27 March 2024) (Note 6)

Ms. Chan Siu Mat (appointed on 12 November 2024)
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Notes:

Mr. Poon Chun Yin, being appointed on 21 February 2024, had obtained the
legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 21 February
2024. He confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director.

Mr. Tang Ho Lun Ronald, being appointed on 18 March 2025, had obtained
the legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 18
March 2025. He confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director.

Mr. Chau Wing Nam, being appointed on 21 March 2024, had obtained the
legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 21 March
2024. He confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director.

Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason, being appointed on 21 March 2024, had
obtained the legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules
on 21 March 2024. He confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
Director.

Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun, being appointed on 21 March 2024, had obtained the
legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 21 March
2024. He confirmed that he understood his obligations as a Director.

Ms. Chong Wai Shan, being appointed on 27 February 2024, had obtained
the legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 27
February 2024. She confirmed that she understood her obligations as a
Director.

Ms. Chan Siu Mat, being appointed on 12 November 2024, had obtained
the legal advice referred to Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules on 12
November 2024. She confirmed that she understood her obligations as a
Director.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Cui Han, Mr. Chau Wing Nam,
Ms. Chan Siu Mat and Mr. Tang Ho Lun Ronald will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each

independent non-executive Director has given the Company an

annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent and meet the independent guidelines
of Rules 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of one year commencing from the date
of the Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party by
giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with our Company. Each letter of appointment is for an
initial term of one year unless terminated by either party giving at least
one month’s notice in writing.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of
the Group.

We have established a remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy, the
remuneration packages of all individual executive Directors and senior
management and other remuneration related matters, including benefits
in kind and other compensation payable to the Directors and senior
management, after consultation with the chairman and/or chief executive
officer of the Company.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid

individuals of the Group are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding Company,
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company or his connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole and any part of the
Company’s business were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than payments to the Central Provident Fund in Singapore and
a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group has
not operated any other retirement benefit schemes for its employees.
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently
in force and was in force during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of our
Directors and chief executive of our Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of our Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”) which, once the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
will have to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange under
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register as referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions
by our Directors to be notified to our Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Nature of interest

HHEE

Name of Director

EEHA

Lee Chung Shun Beneficial owner
TR EnfEAA
Note:

1. On 12 January 2023, 6,000,000 shares were allotted and issued to Mr. Lee
Chung Shun pursuant to full exercise of the share options granted to him
under the Share Option Scheme. After adjustment made pursuant to the
share consolidation being effective on 26 November 2024, the number of
Shares that Mr. Lee Chung Shun interested in was 300,000.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
directors of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FTERERHEMALTAERATRA -
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS HEROREEZSNEZEAE

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons, not being a Director  R20245F12A31H A N AL (WIHEEH AR
or chief executive of our Company, had an interest or short positon  FlEZEITHA 8 ) RARD TR K i8R &
in the Shares and underlying Shares of our Company which would fall B 1R # &% & #8165 (G5 EXVEF F£2 8435 516
to be disclosed to our Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 ZBRIARATWEMERSIRE K BLARIEE
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of % [ Hi & {5 5336 {5 1R 7 B B4 2 7 & L
the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO (the ([FEBREERRM) WSS XA HBEEX
“Substantial Shareholders’ Register”), or, who is interested, directly or &% % A M &5 4 F| 7] PME MBI T £ A & BT
indirectly, in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital ~ fA] Ak 8 A & HY IR K & |+ &K R 8 (£ ] 48 Bl I A
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any  FEI{E5%3k A

member of our Group:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RZARATZERNEE

Number of Approximate % of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest shares interested shareholding
BRRER HE B1ip fEtE BEEENROEE BARER DL
Loh Teck Hiong Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1) 10,501,200 15.77
Loh Teck Hiong REHEE S (A aE1)
Brisk Success Beneficial owner 10,501,200 15.77
Brisk Success ExnEAA
Ms. Fung Yuen Yee Interest of spouse (Note 2) 10,501,200 15.77
Fung Yuen YeeZ + BB ss (A1it2)
Mr. Li Mingcheng Interest in controlled corporation (Note 3) 6,648,400 9.98
Li Mingcheng?t 4 REEE R (H773)
Beneficiary owner (Note 3) 34,800 0.05
BB A (H523)
HK MZ Health Investment Beneficiary owner (Note 3) 6,648,400 9.98
Management Group Limited
ERERRERIREER EmlEA A (H:23)
SEERAA
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Notes:

1 These 10,501,200 shares are held by Brisk Success. Dr. Loh Teck Hiong
holds 70% equity interests in Brisk Success and under the SFO, Dr. Loh
Teck Hiong is deemed to be interested in the 10,501,200 Shares held by
Brisk Success.

) Ms. Fung Yuen Yee, being the spouse of Dr. Loh, is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares in which Dr. Loh is interested pursuant to the SFO.

(©)) The entire issued shares of HK MZ Health Investment Management Group
Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Li Mingcheng. Accordingly, Mr. Li
Mingcheng is deemed to be interested in 6,648,400 Shares held by HK MZ
Health Investment Management Group Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any persons who/entities which had any interest or short
position in the Shares or underlying Shares that would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be recorded in the Substantial Shareholders’
Register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the period under review, none of the Directors or the controlling
Shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) of the Company had any interests in any businesses which
competed with or might compete with the business of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 22 September 2017 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
or a reward to eligible persons for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).
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(b) Participants of the share option scheme

(c)

(d)

(e)

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any option
shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be, including,
where required under the GEM Listing Rules, employees (full-
time and part-time), directors, consultants, advisers, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of our Group) from time to time on the basis
of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of our Group.

Total number of shares available for issue
under the share option scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares which
may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date unless the Company
obtains a fresh approval from the Shareholders.

As at the date of this report, the outstanding number of share
options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme is nil.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the share option scheme

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company to each participant in any
12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the total shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

The period during which an option may be exercised is determined
by the Board at its discretion, save that such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date of grant.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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() The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

() The amount payable on acceptance of an
option and the period within which payments
shall be made

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to our Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

(h) The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely
determined by the Board and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the nominal value of a Share
on the date of grant of the option, provided that in the event of
fractional prices, the subscription price per Share shall be rounded
upwards to the nearest whole cent.

(i) The remaining life of the share option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

On 29 September 2022, a total of 60,000,000 shares options were
granted to ten Directors of the Company and eligible participants. The
options were granted at a cash consideration of HK$1.00 per grantee
and entitled the grantees to subscribe for ordinary shares at an exercise
price of HK$0.109 per share. The options are exercisable during the
period from 29 September 2022 to 28 September 2032.
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Details of share options granted under the scheme with adjustments
made due to the Share Consolidation are as follows:

Exercisable As at
Period 1/1/2024
20245

1A18

Exercise
Grant Date Price

Vesting

Name of grantee Period

ARARS

REAH

fE
HK$
B

BES TEH

BIEEIE ERERE (ARDE T MIEHFAZE)
BT

Number of Share Options
BREHE
As at
31/12/2024
#2024
12A31H

Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled

BT BEH#

Employees 29.09.2022 0.109 Nil - 29.09.2022 to 600,000 - - - - 600,000
28.00.2032

EE 202269 A29H 0.109 £ Q022F9A298E
2032679 A 28F

Total

85t 600,000 - - - - 600,000

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

A full corporate governance report is set out on pages 31 to 49 of this
report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general mesting of the Company (the “AGM”) will
be held at Portion 2, 12/F., The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong on Wednesday, 25 June 2025 at 10:00 a.m.. A notice of which
shall be sent to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles, the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
20 June 2025 to Wednesday, 25 June 2025, both dates inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 19 June 2025.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year ended 31
December 2023 or subsisted as at 31 December 2024.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had no
transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in note 39 to this
report.

AUDITOR

CL Partners CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company
on 21 December 2022.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

RMH Holdings Limited
Mr. Poon Chun Yin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management

HR R ESE R B

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Poon Chun Yin (&£ Z) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 45, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in business administration from the University of
London. He has extensive experience in medical and education fields. He
founded an education centre, a medical clinic and a Chinese medicine
clinic in Hong Kong. He is currently serving as a director of Universe
Optical Company Limited and several primary and secondary schools
in Hong Kong. Mr. Poon is also committed to community work. He
was the president of Tsuen Wan Lions Club and the vice chairman of
Yan Oi Tong Limited. He was awarded the chief executive’s community
service certificate in 2023. He served as an executive director of China
e-Wallet Payment Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 802) from 31 January 2024 to 18
December 2024.

Mr. Cui Han (£8) (“Mr. Cui”), aged 44, graduated from South China
University of Technology of China* (#FBIZERIE T K ) with Bachelor
Degree of Electronic Technology and Application* (& F % fily £2 & 7 2
+247)in July 2004. He has extensive experience in pharmaceutical
manufacturing, pharmaceutical commercial distribution and retail, and
centralized procurement of government pharmaceuticals. He also has
extensive experience in equity investment, asset restructuring, and
intelligent manufacturing. From June 2017 to December 2022, Mr. Cui
Han served as an executive of Hydoo international Holdings Limited
(currently known as Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 1396). From June 2010 to October 2016, he served
as assistant to the president and deputy general manager of Shenzhen
Neptunus Group Limited. He is currently the vice president of Hong Kong
Federation of Jiangxi Associations.

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Z3R3%) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 49, obtained a
Bachelor Degree of Science with Honours in Accounting from The
University of Hull in September 2014. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in
corporate, financial and assets management. He held senior position in a
number of public and holding companies in Hong Kong. He is currently
the deputy chairman and the chief financial officer of the Company, mainly
responsible for accounting and financial management of the Company.
He was appointed as an executive director and chief executive officer of
Amars Asia Limited from March 2000 to January 2003. He was appointed
as Chief Financial Officer of King of Catering (Holdings) Limited from
February 2007 to November 2010. He was appointed as chief executive
officer of Hong Kong Pacific Network Limited from May 2013 to January
2016. He was appointed as an executive director of 1 Creation Limited
from May 2015 to August 2017. He was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of 1 Creation Limited from March 2014 to December 2021. He
held senior management positions at Bar Pacific Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 8432) from February 2016 to June 2018. He was appointed
as chief financial officer of K Wealth Hong Kong Limited from January
2022 to April 2022.
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Mr. Tang Ho Lun Ronald (5834 B%) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 37, obtained
a bachelor degree in marketing and advertising from Curtin University,
Australia. Mr. Tang has extensive experience in marketing and business
development and management. He joined Asiaray Media Group Limited (a
company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1993)
in May 2011. He was promoted to the position of senior sales manager
in January 2019 until he left in May 2021. He was mainly responsible
for customer development and sales management using creativity to
enhance the value of the company’s products, and formulating the most
suitable media plan & solution through data analysis enabling customers
to efficiently reach their target audiences and achieve their objectives. He
has been an executive director of SingAsia Holdings Limited (a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8293) from 12 August
2021 to 16 March 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Wing Nam (E584) ("Mr. Chau”), aged 38, has 6 years
of experience in handling initial public offering projects including both
the main board and GEM. In addition, he had more than 7 years of
experience in providing auditing, assurance and business advisory
services. Additionally, he is familiar with Hong Kong accounting standards,
taxation, financial reporting, cash flow forecast and budgeting and listing
rules and compliance regulations.

Mr. Chau has also been directors of several Hong Kong listed companies.
He has been an independent non-executive director of E-Station Green
Technology Group Co., Limited (formerly known as K Group Holdings
Limited) (Stock Code: 8475) since 6 June 2022. He has been an
independent non-executive director of China Health Technology Group
Holding Company Limited (formerly known as China Bozza Development
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 1069) since 14 August 2023. He was an
independent non-executive director of Mobile Internet (China) Holdings
Company (Stock Code: 1439) from 10 February 2023 to 14 August 2024.

Mr. Chau obtained a bachelor degree in accounting & accounting
technologies from Curtin University of Technology in 2010. He was
admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accounts in 2017. He is also a member of The Association of Hong Kong
Accountants.
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Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason (#1832) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 49,
has over 21 years of experience in financial planning and investment
consulting. From July 2001 to December 2002, Mr. Yeung has served as
the vice president in Fuji Hong Kong Commodities Co. Ltd. From January
2003 to May 2005, Mr. Yeung has served as a financial planning manager
in WHTEER AR A A (Lexton Limited*). From July 2005 to June
2007, he has served as a sales director in Centaline Wealth Management
Limited. From June 2007 to September 2009, he has served as a
principal consultant in Cinda Investment Consultant Limited, Hong Kong.
From as well as a marketing director in Cinda Wealth Management
Advisor Limited, Hong Kong at the same time. Since September
2009, he has been working as a general manager in Centaline Wealth
Management Limited (Beijing). He is also one of the founders of Global K
Infuse Limited.

Mr. Yeung obtained double bachelor degrees in business administration
and information system management from University of Washington,
Seattle, WA in June 2001. He has also obtained a master's degree in
business administration from Royal Roads University Canada in 2017.

Ms. Chong Wai Shan (H#EH) (“Ms. Chong”), aged 39, holds a
bachelor’s degree in business administration with a focus on accountancy
from the City University of Hong Kong and is a member (Practising) of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Chong has a wealth of experience and knowledge in
financial markets, corporate and management accounting,
mergers and acquisitions, investments, internal control, corporate
governance, regulatory compliance, and auditing. Prior to joining
the Group, she worked in the audit and assurance department of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong and Ernst & Young, providing
professional accounting, auditing, advisory, and consulting services to
listed companies, multinational corporations, as well as international asset
management, securities firms, and investment banks. Ms. Chong also
held positions as an investment manager in a Hong Kong listed company
and as the managing director and chief executive officer of a Fintech
startup in Hong Kong. Most recently, she served as the representative
and license holder of a moneylending company in Hong Kong. She
was the chief financial officer, company secretary and authorised
representatives (under both the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) of Jiyi Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1495) from 29 December 2023 to 14 May 2024.
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Ms. Chan Siu Mat (FR/N%) (“Ms. Chan”), aged 42, has over 18 years
of experience in auditing, accounting and company secretarial fields. Ms.
Chan holds a bachelor’s degree of business administration in accounting
from City University of Hong Kong in 2006 and she is a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2009.

Ms. Chan has been worked as a manager of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from September 2006 to January 2012, a finance manager, a company
secretary and an authorized representative of Kong Sun Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 295) from April 2012 to April 2014, a finance manager
and a company secretary of Wen Wei (Hong Kong) Investment Group
Company Limited from April 2014 to March 2018, a financial controller
of Weiye Holdings Limited (“Weiye Holdings”, Stock Code: 1570) from
March 2018 to November 2022 and the chief financial officer of Weiye
Holdings.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Man Yun Wah (328 %) (“Mr. Man”), aged 43, was appointed as
the company secretary of the Company on 11 March 2024. He holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration and management and a
master's degree in corporate governance. He is currently an associate
member of both The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Man has extensive working
experience in the company secretarial profession.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of achieving the highest standard
of corporate governance consistent with the needs and requirements
of its businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders and is
fully committed to doing so. The board believes that high standards of
corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation for the
Group to manage business risks, enhance transparency, achieve high
standard of accountability and protect stakeholders’ interests. Therefore,
the Board has reviewed and will continue to review and improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices from time to time.

The Company has adopted the principles and the code provisions set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance. Save as disclosed below, the Company had complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended
31 December 2024.

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors
adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised eight Directors,
of which four are executive Directors and four are independent non-
executive Directors. The composition of the Board during the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report was:

Executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Yin (Chairman) (appointed on 21 February 2024)

Mr. Yang Zhangxin
(re-designated as Executive Director on 31 January 2023 and
resigned on 28 February 2024)

Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Cui Han

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 21 February 2024 and
resigned on 17 March 2025)

Mr. Tang Ho Lun Ronald (appointed on 18 March 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chau Wing Nam (appointed on 21 March 2024)

Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason (appointed on 21 March 2024)

Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun (gppointed on 21 March 2024 and
resigned on 12 November 2024)

Ms. Chong Wai Shan (appointed on 27 March 2024)

Ms. Chan Siu Mat (@appointed on 12 November 2024)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, save as disclosed under the
section headed “Corporate Governance Practices” above, the Board had
complied with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules to have at least
three independent non-executive Directors who represent more than one-
third of the Board and with at least one of whom possesses appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise pursuant to Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group by
providing leadership and managing control of the resource allocation
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on
formulating the Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating performance;
reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems; supervising and managing management’s performance of the
Group; and setting the Group’s values and standards.

The management team is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim and annual reports
and announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing; (2)
implementation of adequate systems of internal controls and risk
management procedures; and (3) compliance with relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements and rules and regulations.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to
the Board, on issues of strategic direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management. Through active participation in
Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, they scrutinise the
Company’s performance in achieving corporate goals and objectives and
monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they are able to contribute
positively to the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments at Board and committee meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for Directors’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against them for corporate activities.

BOARD/BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means
of communication to discuss amongst other matters, the direction and
strategy of the Group, financial and operating performance and to review
and approve the Group’s quarterly, interim and annual results.

EZENAGKBE
BRRERERENERNE EERAAAE
BHEEEE UEBEEREEARENER
ARREAREENKR - EFTSFINFIEARE
B EERE HEERRFELEE  EXZYH
REERR R R EIE R A BT S E RO
M EBREEAKEEEENRI  ARFIL
AEENEEERFE-

EREER A KRB R EERESTERREN
RBE B EMRTEMTIKZBEERTIE-
EFeRERERERECIEZMEREE B
BROREFTE PHRFERTEAGUHES
SRTIEATRLL : Q¥ITI R 2 NEBEIEHIE &
R ERREF RQETHEAZEREERE
AR IR

BYFRTEFTRRERE BR #R KB
FEBEREEAEETSHRMENLE R
BHEENZ KREBYHEG BBERS2ESE
FeER EEESRECENSEHREGHEE
EHES|EERAR2REZZR S REEEAR
ARERARBEMENTEMNRRIERRK
BER B FEUEBREFEREESS
FBLREBY AERKUERABER SEAQE
HSRBE R BOR{E BB AR -

ARBIEREETARRGEHMELEZRITEHN
BEEZHEERR-

Exe EXZETER

EXZe TR UEREMETRAT AR
G Uatim (RPEE) ARBER T [ KKK
B REERRARBH R EREENTE
THREERA-

20245FJE R 1R IR IR A A 33



Corporate Governance Report
R E TR

In respect of regular board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other
cases, an agenda and accompanying board papers are sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a board or board
committee meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.
The Board and each Director have separate and independent access to
the senior management whenever necessary. Upon reasonable request,
the Directors are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist the
Director to discharge his/her duties to the Company.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) takes
detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at the meetings, including any concerns raised
or dissenting views expressed by Directors, and the voting results of
Board meetings fairly reflect Board consensus. Both draft and final
versions of the minutes are sent to all Directors for their comments and
records respectively, within a reasonable time after each meeting, and
such minutes are open for inspection with reasonable advance notice by
any Director. Directors are entitled to have access to board papers and
related materials, and any queries will be responded to fully.

Directors must abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum
at meetings for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

Board
meeting
346
Executive Directors BITES
M. Poon Chun Yin (Chaiman) BERERE (2E)
(appointed on 21 February 2024) (Ro004F2 521 HEZHE) 18/18
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-clesignated as executive diector — BEBRA (K2023F1 5318
on 31 January 2023 and resigned on 28 February 2024)  FFE# 1T EERFI024%
2/28AFHE) 17
Mr. Cui Han ERAE 16/18
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairmer) FRRAE(FLE) 18/18
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (ppointed on 21 February 2024 and - BEBERS A (2024425217
resigned on 17 March 2025) BZERR025F377AFF) 18/18
Mr. Tang Ho Lun Ronald (appointsd on 18 March 2025)  EBEBiS%E 4 (2025434 18A
b £33 NATER
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Chau Wing Nam (aopointed on 21 March 2024) BfELE (Ro024%3/421A
b £33 14/15
Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason (gopointed on 21 March 2024) BB (2024435217
b £33 18115
Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun (opointadon 21 March 2024 and - i (R20243 218
resigned on 12 November 2024) BZARN024511 128 BHE) 712
Ms. Chong Wai Shan (aopointad on 27 March 2024) HEMLL (Ro024%3527A
b £33 14147
Ms. Chan Siu Mat (aopointed on 12 November 2024) RNBLL (Ro004511 F 128 %
Z4) 12
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction which includes provision of key guidelines, documents
and publications relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing
obligations; a briefing on the Company’s structure, businesses, risk
management and other governance practices and meeting with other
fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors familiarize
with the management, business and governance policies and practices of
the Company, and ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
operations and businesses of the Company.

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for an initial term of one year commencing from the date of
Listing and continuing thereafter until terminated by either party with a not
less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company. Each appointment is for the
term of one to three year(s) subject to subject to termination in certain
circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election.

The Company recognizes the importance of the Board independence
to corporate governance. In particular, in order to ensure the strong
independence of the Board and make ensure that the Board can obtain
independent views and opinions, the following mechanisms are required:
1) in assessing the qualification of potential candidates to become
independent Directors, the Nomination Committee and the Board will
consider, among others, whether the candidates are able to dedicate
sufficient time to fulfill their duties as independent Directors and the
candidates’ backgrounds and qualifications, in order to assess whether
such candidates are able to bring an independent view to the Board; and
2) the Nomination Committee is authorized to assess the independence
of all independent non-executive Directors on an annual basis with
reference to the independence criteria set out in the GEM Listing Rules
S0 as to ensure that they can continue to exercise independent judgment.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all information of the Company
and to the advice and services of the company secretary and senior
management of the Company. Directors are generally entitled to seek
independent professional advice on the discharge of their duties to
the Company in appropriate circumstances upon request and at our
Company’s expense.

At the same time, the Company has formulated internal policies (including
but not limited to the Articles, the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee) to
ensure that the Board is provided with independent views and opinions.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanism and is of
the view that the above mechanism is able to ensure that the Board is
provided with independent views and opinions.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are aware of code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code regarding
continuing professional development programme for Directors. The
Company would arrange and/or introduce suitable training and
information for the Directors to ensure they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing Rules
and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Company had arranged a seminar on
the GEM Listing Rules, the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the “Companies Ordinance”) and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for the Directors. All Directors attended the seminar.
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The training record of each Director as at 31 December 2024 is set out  2024F12A31H  §E ERIEEFHICEN T
as below.

Attending seminar or
briefings/perusal of
materials in relation

to business or

Directors’ duties

HEBBHEBR
ESRENHEER
ANeE 2HmE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Poon Chun Yin (Chairman) BEERE (FE) Yes =&
(appointed on 21 February 2024) (R2024F2 521 H #EZT)
Mr. Yang Zhangxin BEREY (R2024%2F28H BT ) Yes /&
(resigned on 28 February 2024)
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairman) EREEE (BEE) Yes 72
Mr. Cui Han BERELE Yes /&
Mr. Loke Wai Ming BE(RBA S (Ro0249F2 21 AEEZ (TR Yes &
(appointed on 21 February 2024 and R202543 17 H BEE)
resigned on 17 March 2025)
Independent non-executive Directors BYkHTES
Mr. Chau Wing Nam B SAE e (7202443521 H#EZEE) Yes &
(appointed on 21 March 2024)
Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason B E (Ro024F3 521 HEZ(E) Yes /&
(appointed on 21 March 2024)
Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun FATm et (Ro024F3H21 A#EZE (TR Yes =&
(appointed on 21 March 2024 and R2024F 11 512H B 1E)
resigned on 12 November 2024)
Ms. Chong Wai Shan SR+ (R20244E3 527 HEZE(F) VYes &

(appointed on 27 March 2024)

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The

EERERBENELE

ARFERBEE 2 RE RREFRBAME
AAREHMELHUESRERERE LA
A ARHF DR - RBARBERADTRFR

insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis by the Company. e
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The board is supported by three Board committees to oversee specific
aspects of the Company’s affairs. The audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), the Remuneration Committee and the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
each has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference. The Board
committees are provided sufficient resources and are empowered
to make decisions/recommendations within their respective terms of
reference to the Board.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group established the Audit Committee on 22 September 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules and code provision C.3 of the CG Code. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Wing Nam, Mr. Yeung Pok Man
Peason and Ms. Chan Siu Mat. Mr. Chau Wing Nam, an independent
non-executive Director with the appropriate professional qualifications,
serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to, among others,
review and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of the Company, make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and
review the Company’s financial information.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings and the attendance of meetings is set out under the section
headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on pages 33 to 34 in this
report.

The Audit Committee performed the following work during the year ended
31 December 2024:

a. reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024 and the unaudited condensed
consolidated interim financial results for the six months ended
30 June 2024 including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group;

b. reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their
potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

38 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

ExZEg
Exem-AEEZE el UEEARQA
EBRRESTE - ARAREREZEG ([EXEE
gl) FHZEERARRREZES (RS
ZEBE)EERENRBRERELBELE-
EXZEoRRARHER UAREERS AR
REEANMESSHELRE (REHERRS -

EREES

REBP2017FOA2A K I BEZEZES T A
BT AGEMLE TR B 52816 R ¥ E AT
ZFANECINEEBEEE -NAREB
EREZEHASEMLE BEXEERRNE
=B IFNTEFTER - BIIFNITES
ARt A BHREEEER EAE%ZEE8E
EREo

ERZEENIEZRER (Eh ) Re hE
RN BRI 15 R AR e AR B R IR - e BE
RE BEZERBRRIINEZBMOESTSHEL
HEER UBRHARBNHEER-

B E2024F12A31H L FE BZZE 2D 8
THAEH FHEEZNEELHEIANARES
BEME [EFT EFELEeTH] -

B E2024F12A31B L FE BEZLE SR #
fTATRIE:

a. EHAREEHZE2024F12A318 IEEFER
KEEIZIR G IS R R A 220246 A30
HIE/~ A B RSB IZ AR S P BRI 75
& BREAEEMRMNSSTBIRRER:

b. FHEMENEZYRIGHABEEDHAE
B BRRNEETE



Corporate Governance Report
(> F=#iFE: A

@ reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related matters;
and

d. considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment
of the independent auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Remuneration Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to, among others, make recommendation to the
Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
Directors and senior management of our Group; review performance
based remuneration; ensure none of our Directors determine their own
remuneration; and review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date of
this report, the Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason, Mr. Chau Wing Nam and Ms. Chan
Siu Mat. Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee convened 1 committee meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration of Directors
was determined by their experience, responsibility, workload and the
time devoted to the Group. Executive Directors and employees also
participate in bonus arrangements determined in accordance with the
performance of the Group and the individual’s performance. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. The attendance of
Remuneration Committee meeting is set out under the section headed
“Board/Board Committees Meetings” on page 33 to 34 of this report.

DIRECTORS REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a director remuneration policy (the “Director
Remuneration Policy”), it sets out the general principles which guide
the Group to deal with the remuneration matters. This remuneration
policy aims to provide a fair market level of remuneration to retain and
motivate high quality directors, senior management of the Group and
attract experienced people of high calibre to oversee the business and
development of the Group.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Our Company established a Nomination Committee on 22 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.3.1 of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
are to, among others, review the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board on regular
basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
access the independence of independent non-executive Directors; and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Director. As at the date of this report,
the Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Poon
Chun Yin, Mr. Chau Wing Nam and Ms. Chan Siu Mat. Mr. Poon Chun
Yin is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee convened 1 committee
meeting. It had assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, considered the re-appointment of retired Directors
and discussed matters relating to procedure of nomination of director
candidate by Shareholders, Directors’ evaluation and succession plan
etc. The attendance of Nomination Committee meeting is set out under
the section headed “Board/Board Committees Meetings” on pages 33 to
34 of this report.

The Company is aware of the benefits of having a diverse Board as
an essential element to improving governance and performance,
and to creating a competitive advantage. In structuring of the Board
composition, by taking into account the Group’s board diversity policy
board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. All Board appointments will ultimately be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board which
the Board as a whole requires to be effective.
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy, which establishes written
guidelines to the Nomination Committee to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with
reference to the formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible
for selection and appointment of new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination
Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to
the Board possess the relevant background, experience and knowledge
in business, finance and management skills critical to the Group’s
business to enable the Board to make sound and well considered
decisions. Collectively, they have competencies in areas which are
relevant and valuable to the Group.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on the
Board has been created or is expected on a regular basis or as required.

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for identifying
director candidates, including recommendations from Board members,
management, and professional search firms. All director candidates,
including incumbents and candidates nominated by Shareholders
are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the director
qualifications. While director candidates will be evaluated on the same
criteria through review of resume, personal interview and performance of
background checks. The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to
establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on
the composition, skill sets, age, gender and experiences of the collective
Board rather than on the individual candidate for the purpose of diversity
perspectives appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate
has the qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity that add
to and complement the range of skills, experience and background of
existing Directors by considering the highest personal and professional
ethics and integrity of the director candidates, proven achievement and
competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment, skills that are complementary to those of the existing
Board, the ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors as it may
deem are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the
Nomination Committee to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix
of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary
core competence for informed decision-making and effective functioning.
The Company adopted its own board diversity policy and recognises the
benefits of having diversity in the composition of the Board.

The Company noted that people from different background and with
different professional and life experience are likely to approach problems
in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with diverse
background will bring different concerns and questions to the table, and
allow the Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions when
deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the Group. In
determining the Board’s composition and selection of candidates to the
Board, the Nomination Committee will consider factors including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, industry knowledge and length of service.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against the selection criteria, having regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board, the business model and specific needs of the
Group. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Currently, the Board consists of eight members who have accounting or
financial expertise, professional qualifications, management and business
development experience, or experience related to the industry where the
Company operates, two of whom are female Directors. The Nomination
Committee has reviewed the policy concerning the diversity of Board
members and believes that the Board has already had a diverse mix of
gender, skills, knowledge and experience. The Company will strive to
achieve gender balance of the Board through the following measures
to be implemented by the Nomination Committee in accordance with
the Board Diversity Policy. The Company will actively identify female
individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members. To further
ensure gender diversity of the Board in the long run, the Group will
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members of the
Board, identify and select several female individuals with a diverse range
of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time to time,
and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess qualities to
become the Board members, which will be reviewed by the Nomination
Committee periodically in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of the Board.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of consolidated financial statements of the Group on an
on-going concern basis, with supporting assumptions or qualifications
as necessary, for each financial period with a view to ensure that such
financial statement gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group, and of the results and cash flows for the financial year.

The responsibility of the Company’s auditor, CL Partners CPA Limited,
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. We have
established an Audit Committee to review and supervise the effectiveness
of the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems, and overseeing the audit process.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures in operational
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Our Board will regularly review the administration and the adequacy
of our internal system and develop and revise our internal control system
to later for our expansion.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. However, the
Company engages an independent internal control consultant firm
(the “internal control consultant”) to review the internal control of key
governance and business processes of the Company. The internal
control consultant identified a number of material weaknesses in the risk
management and internal control systems of the Company.

The Board reviewed the report issued by the internal control consultant
and collaborated with other key facts and information, such as the
auditors’ opinion and overall performance of the Company. On that basis,
the Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control
systems were considered as effective and adequate.

UNCERTAINTIES OVER GOING CONCERN

Pursuant to code provision D.1.3 of the CG code, the Board draws the
attentions of shareholders and other stakeholders of the Company to a
situation where the directors are aware of certain material uncertainties
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company are advised to refer to
the Auditors’ report for the details of going concerns issues.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

CL Partners CPA Limited was appointed by the Board as the auditor of
the Company. The remuneration paid or payable to CL Partners CPA
Limited for services rendered for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
as follows:
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Audit services in relation to annual results

Saved as disclosed, there was no other non-audit service provided by
CL Partners CPA Limited to the Company during the year ended 31
December 2024.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group contained anti-corruption provisions, including but not limited
to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, into the Group’s Staff
Handbook. Bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other unlawful
offers are all prohibited. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
laws including but not limited to the Prevention of Corruption Act in
Singapore, the Laws of Hong Kong on Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the Criminal Law of the PRC.

Soliciting, accepting, or offering any benefits, including but not limited
to gifts, coupons, and tips, from or to our clients, suppliers, or anyone
with a business relationship with the Group is strictly banned, as stated
in the Staff Handbook. Staff are also barred from advising or dealing
in any transaction that could result in potential conflicts of interest,
and any potential conflicts of interest must be reported to the Group’s
Human Resources Department. Any breach of behavior will result in the
termination of the employment contract or consultancy agreement (as the
case may be), as well as legal implications for the subject.

In addition, the Group has provided training regularly to all levels of staff,
including directors, superiors and general staff, in order to equip them
with an understanding of the latest regulations and best practices relating
to anti-corruption, self-discipline, and integrity etc.
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The Group established own internal whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) to support the detection of fraud and corruption
risks. The Whistleblowing Policy is implemented by the Human Resources
Department, and monitored the funds paid and received by the Group by
the Finance Department. The Whistleblowing Policy is a critical tool for
uncovering corrupt, unlawful, or otherwise unacceptable behavior. The
policy is intended to allow employees to voice their concerns internally
and to reveal evidence that they believe demonstrates malpractice or
impropriety related to bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ho, Mr. Man Yun Wah (‘Mr. Man”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary since 11 March 2024.

Mr. Man has confirmed that he had received no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December 2024, in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Company Secretary include, but are not limited
to, the following: (a) to ensure the Board procedures are followed and
that the activities of the Board are carried out efficiently and effectively;
(b) to assist the chairman to prepare agendas and Board papers for
meetings and disseminate such documents to the Directors and Board
committees in a timely manner; (c) to timely disseminate announcements
and information relating to the Group; and (d) to maintain formal minutes
of the Board meetings and other Board committee meetings. He reports
to the Board and the chief financial officer of the Company directly.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with the Shareholders and potential
investors of the Company via the following:

(i) the timely public announcements and publications of quarterly, half
yearly and annual reports and/or circulars as required under the
GEM Listing rules and/or press releases of the Company providing
updated information on the Group; and

(i)  the holding of annual general meetings and general meetings of
the Company, if any, which may convened for specific purpose and
provide an avenue for the Shareholders to engage actively with the
Board.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”).
Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing the Shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised). However,
the Shareholders may follow the procedure set out in the section headed
“Rights to convene an EGM” above for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form, to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at Room 911,
9/F, Cosco Tower, 183 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. Shareholders
may also make enquiries to the Board at the general meeting of the
Company. In addition, shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services
Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, if
they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlements to
dividend.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. The
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These
include the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s
website at https://rmhholdings.com.sg. The Company has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder communication
policy during the year ended 31 December 2024 and concluded as
effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, in view of the changes to
Appendix A to the GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association were
amended, and the adoption of the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company was approved
by the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 23 May 2024 and 17 June 2024
and the circular of the Company dated 23 May 2024. The new Articles of
Association are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DETAILS OF THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION AND
ITS ACTUAL OR POTENTIAL IMPACT ON THE
GROUP’S FINANCIAL POSITION

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditor’s report contained on
pages 99 to 101 of this annual report, the auditor of the Company, CL
Partners CPA Limited (‘Auditor”), had disclaimed their opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “Disclaimer of Opinion”).

The Disclaimer of Opinion does not itself show any actual impact on the
Group’s financial position. As set out in note to the consolidated financial
statements, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis. Should the Group fail to achieve the plans
and measures as set out in the section headed “Plans to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Corporate Governance Report contained
on page 49 of this annual report, it might not be able to continue to
operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND BASIS ON MAJOR
JUDGEMENTAL AREAS

The management of the Company is of the view that the Group will
be able to continue to operate as a going concern. The Directors
have carefully considered the Group’s expected cash flow projections
for the next 12 months from 31 December 2024 and have given due
consideration to the matters that give rise to material doubt as to its
ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly, have proactively
come up with plans and measure as set out in the section headed “Plans
to address the Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Corporate Governance
Report contained on page 49 of this Annual Report.

In the Directors’ opinion, in view of such plans and measures, the Group
will have adequate working capital and meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due within the next 12 months from 31 December
2024. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2024 on a going
concern basis is appropriate.

Further, the Board has discussed the going concern issue with the
management of the Group and is satisfied with the orderly implementation
of the plans and measures as set out in the section headed “Plans to
address the Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Corporate Governance Report
contained on page 49 of this Annual Report. As such, the Directors are of
the view that the Disclaimer Opinion will be removed in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2025.

The Auditors have informed the audit Committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) their concerns. The Disclaimer of Opinion was mainly
due to the Auditors’ concern as to whether the Company will be able to
successfully implement its plans and measures as set out in the section
headed “Plans to address the Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Corporate
Governance Report contained on page 49 of this Annual Report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the plans and measures, and upon
discussion with the Auditors, agreed with the management’s position
concerning their judgment in major areas including the going concern
assumptions on the basis and assumptions that () the management is
actively implementing its plans and measures; and (i) upon successful
implementation of the plans and measures, the Company will be able to
provide its Auditors with documentation proof to address its concerns
and uncertainties as set out in the section headed “Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion” in the independent auditor’s report contained on pages 100
to 101 of this annual report.
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Accordingly, the Audit Committee agreed with the views of the
management of the Company that it was appropriate to use a going
concern basis to prepare the consolidated financial statements as at
31 December 2024. In view of the pans and measures and assuming
successful implementation of the action plan by the management of the
Group, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Disclaimer Opinion will
be removed in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2025.

PLANS TO ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF
OPINION

The action plan of the Company to address the Disclaimer of Opinion are
as follows:

(i) Mr. Poon Chun Yin (“Mr. Poon”), an executive director and
the chairman of the Board, has granted a loan facility of
HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately S$1,728,000) on
1 March 2025 to the Company for supporting and financing the
Company'’s daily operation purpose;

(ii) the financial guarantee liabilities in the amount of approximately
S$4,076,000 represent the corporate guarantees provided
by the Company for the Default Borrowings (as defined in the
Announcement), in addition to the corporate guarantees, the
Default Borrowings are also secured by personal guarantees
provided by Dr. Loh, the former Director, and Dr. Loh, the former
Director, has agreed to settle the Default Borrowings by his own
personal resources, and has further agreed not to claim or take any
action against the Group for recourse, subject to certain conditions.
The Company plans to actively engage in discussions with Dr.
Loh, the former Director, to negotiate the completion of necessary
conditions to discharge the Company’s obligations over the Default
Borrowings;

(i) the Group is under active negotiation with the Assignee (as defined
in the Announcement) for agreement of a feasible settlement plan
to settle the Assigned Debts (as defined in the Announcement) by
way of cash (for possible haircut amount), allotment and issue of
shares, bonds, convertible bonds, combination of above and other
settlement methods as may be acceptable by the parties;

(iv)  the Group will improve its operation through streamlining its existing
non-core business and assets and expansion of new segment, so
as to improve efficiency of assets utilisation and reducing operating
costs; and

(v)  the Group is actively pursuing alternative financing options,
including plans to bring in new investors, or to issue for debentures
and notes of the Company, or to issue for new shares of the
Company, in order to settle existing debts and for future operating
and capital expenditure.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the seventh Environmental, Social and Governance Report
(“ESG Report”) of RMH Holdings Limited (“RMH”, “the Company” or
“We”). We are committed to deliver the highest quality of Dermatological,
Medical and Aesthetic standards to take care of our customers’ skin.
This report intends to disclose the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively as “the Group”) in terms of environmental, social,
and governance issues in a transparent and open manner over the last
year, in response to all stakeholders’ concerns and expectations for the
Group’s long-term viability. In the long run, the Group will strengthen the
data collection and reporting system for environmental management,
social responsibility, and governance performance, gradually expanding
the disclosure scope and improving the quality and comprehensiveness
of the ESG Report. Additional information in relation to the Group’s
corporate governance and financial performance can be referred to our
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

REPORTING SCOPE

The Group’s directors are responsible for determining the reporting
scope. This report examines all data and activities for the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 December 2024 (“Reporting Period”), unless stated
otherwise. This report aims to provide an overview of environmental,
social and governance (‘ESG”) performance of RMH’s operations in the
Reporting Period. It highlights relevant strategies and business initiatives
and demonstrates how RMH is a sustainable and responsible business
with a positive impact on our stakeholders. Additional information in
relation to the Group’s corporate governance and financial performance
can be referred to our annual report for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing medical,
dermatological and aesthetic services and products as well as dental
clinic services in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
during the Reporting Period.

REPORTING STANDARDS

This ESG Report has been prepared with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set
out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has complied
with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide during the Reporting Period.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES HERA

This Report is prepared based on the following basic principles:

Materiality

EZt

Quantitative

21t

Balance

—

AHREDER TIIERRREE:

The Group has made an objective and systematic materiality assessment that prioritizes the issues
affecting the operation, and the policies, measures and performance of the Group in terms of
environmental and social aspects. Details and results are presented in the section headed “Materiality
Assessment” in this ESG Report.

REBEEEEBRESCHEEZEN G ELEREERERMETACERNESBLE - BX it
REBNEE -FBERERENARR HGRELIRE [EEMTME] —25]-

The Group has disclosed KPI with comparative data, mainly on the environmental and social aspects,
and has provided relevant standards, methodologies, assumptions, calculation tools and sources of
conversion factors when applicable.
FEFBERETIEHERT RSN BRERISRER & L REBUE - WA AR RERETE -
FEREFTETARERREA IR

The ESG Report provides an unbiased picture on the ESG performance to as to avoid selections,
omission, or presentation formats that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgement by the

Report readers.

i ARE HEREABRER TR IMTHERERE HERERRE UB R TIRE HREARR

SEERARKHENEE BRA2HBEA -

Consistency

The ESG Report incorporated consistent reporting techniques and calculation methodologies so that the

ESG Report readers can rely on the preciseness of data. Any changes to the reporting techniques and

calculation methodologies will be disclosed.

— % ARE HERERREES —BOBRERMEFETE UEARE HERERREHEE KA
BB EREE A AHERERM R ED EZNEBHSRE-

REVIEW AND APPROVAL

The ESG Report for the Reporting Period has been reviewed and
approved by the Board of the Company.

REPORT AVAILABILITY

The ESG Report contained in the annual report is published in
electronic version which is available on the Company’s website
(https://rmhholdings.com.sg) and the HKEXnews website
(http://www.hkexnews.hk).

CONTACT AND FEEDBACK

The ESG Report shall be published both in English and Chinese, should
there be any discrepancy between the English and the Chinese versions,
the English version shall prevail. The Group welcomes stakeholders to
provide their opinions and suggestions on our sustainability initiatives.
You can provide valuable advice in respect of this ESG Report or
the Group’s performances in sustainable development by email to
rmhhelpline@dermclinic.com.sg.

=it
ARG HEREARSCEAANEFRES
R

HwETAMRE

FHRAAHRE HEREAREAEFRTIZE-
Al AN A8 UG (https://rmhholdings.com.sg ) &
5% 5 Ak (http://www.hkexnews.hk ) &

BB 68
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SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

We established a top-down ESG organizational structure to apply the
Group’s sustainable development concept. The Board is responsible
for developing ESG strategies, assessing and identifying the Group’s
ESG risks, and guaranteeing risk management and internal control
effectiveness. ESG work and report evaluation are carried out by
employees from several areas within the Group.

The Group is dedicated to achieving several aspects of corporate social
responsibility, including energy conservation, greenhouse gas reduction,
employee training and development, environmental compliance, and
providing a safe and healthy work environment.

THE BOARD

The Board strives to integrate sustainable development into the Group’s
business development and has taken on the following responsibilities:

° Assessing and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks and
opportunities;

o Ensuring that the Group has an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system;

° Developing the Group’s management policies, plans, priorities, and
goals;

o Monitoring ESG’s work progress and performance on a regular
basis; and

o Approving the disclosed information in the Group’s ESG Report.

The Board assesses, identifies, and manages sustainable development
risks on a regular basis, and tries to create long-term value for
stakeholders by identifying possibilities while adhering to regulatory
standards and industry best practices. Furthermore, the Board examines
and adjusts the implementation of various ESG objectives on a regular
basis to ensure that the impact of business development on the
environment and society can be minimized.
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ESG WORKING COMMITTEE

The Group has established an ESG Working Committee, consisting
of four members, (currently as an Executive Directors, and serval
management from Human Resources, Finance and Operations Function/
Departments), to assist the Board in managing the Group’s ESG affairs.
The ESG Working Committee is a management-level group that is
responsible for driving our ESG initiatives, collecting and calculating ESG
KPls, overseeing and reporting ESG related matters across our major
businesses and operations.

The ESG Working Committee is empowered by the Board through a
ESG Working Committee Terms of Reference under which it shall directly
be instructed and reporting to the Board. It organizes meetings on a
regular basis to identify, assess, and monitor the Group’s ESG risk, as
well as to examine the Group’s internal control system’s implementation
and effectiveness. It also assesses and evaluates the Group’s ESG
performance in relation to ESG goals and targets.

ESG Working
Board of Directors Committee
gxe B d2REA
IHZEES

RE -#HBREARIKEZERS
AEEERIYRR HERERTIFEZEE A
MAKEEK (BRTA—BHAITES  UREA
KEANER B REERMEBPINERE
Z) 'J«XT;?%E)J§$@§EEZKElmiﬁiﬁ‘ﬁ@&
E/D%iﬁz Lﬁziﬁ 7iﬁ&E./qu}E;§/\7%
BRI B BHESHMIER R‘?i@&g
R WERFERE e RERBRBER
B EERBEHEMEIEXBREENRE .
HERERHEBER-

EERERERE HEREARATIERES:
B HEREERYRAEESRS - HEHE
ﬁiz?% AR SHERERAEENERE i
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ERBEENEENERE g hERERE -

An Executive Director

—EHTES

Management from HR, Finance and
Operational Function/Department
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We recognize that stakeholders play a strategic role in maintaining RMH’s
long-term growth, as well as responsible business development in ESG
aspects. Understanding and responding to stakeholder concerns and
expectations is critical to our long-term success. Our business activities
involve a diverse range of stakeholders, but we select our stakeholders
based on influence, representation, responsibility, dependency, and
proximity. We make sure that numerous communication channels are
in place so that key stakeholders’ views and input may be addressed
efficiently and promptly within RMH. We strive to improve our stakeholder
engagement by continuously improving our communication channels and
embedding valuable stakeholder input into our strategy.

Multiple engagement channels were established throughout the Reporting
Period to enable constant and dynamic interaction with the Group’s
internal and external stakeholders.

EmEAEAL3H

HMEREREBATEABRINREAL R
NEAERE HERERTENAEEEBER
THEEEBRIIE TR D EERERAL
MBI M IZHHMNRERNEREE - R
MEBEE YR Z EHBHERERAL HERX
MERFEN KRR BE KBERBEMT
mkEESEAEA L - RAIERRBEZRBBR
BOAETIERSERALHNBREMERTER
HTRRE A ROt S R ERIE - IR B B AR
ERMOBARELBRSHBEALNEREER
SMABMNRE RERMANESABEALS
BT o

REERSHE AREERYZE2ERE
IABARE B AN AR N ARE SR A ST
BRBENEER-

Stakeholders Communication Channels
RERMEBEALT BERE
Internal: ° General meeting
AEB RERE
° Directors ° Trainings
BF 55| R AZ
° Employees ° Meetings
BE o
External: ° Interviews
HNED - BIE
° Shareholders and investors Announcements and Circulars
Y E -y NE KRB K
° Customers Websites of the Group
Bp ARE B AL
o Suppliers Telephone, Emails, and Letters
fpEn Bt BHREX
° Business partners Suggestion box
EBRH =R}
° Regulatory bodies Seminars
EEER BERE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality assessment of ESG issues has become a corporate
imperative. The concept of materiality encompasses all those issues that
the Group needs to take into account, and it provides a blueprint for
our sustainable development strategy. The Group reviews the materiality
of ESG-related topics based on stakeholder engagement activities on
an annual basis that truly reflect the environmental and social issues to
stakeholders.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification
F1 BB

o Review ESG disclosure of peers for
an indication of potentially relevant

Step 2: Prioritization
®2% B E
¢ Consolidate the results from

step 1 and develop a
prioritized list of potential

Invite stakeholders to complete an
online survey to prioritize the
importance of ESG issues to them
and to the Group.

EEMFMG

RE HehBelEnNER2HTHERARE
MEKzZ EEUNHMSRETAEETE
B PTA MR WARFIR A58 % R B R M
TEE -AEESFRENZABEALZ2EEH
BERE HEMEARMBEIENERNE UE
ERBRFGABALTNRERE EMHE-

AEBBEBATERAGTRE LG RERT
ENEAERERME:

Step 3: Validation
HE3IL  BRFE

The Group's management
finalize the list of material
issues and their KPIs for
disclosure.

/HKE [EREE E AR K

ARIEE - DFR
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The result of the materiality assessment of ESG issues is displayed inthe B -#He@kEAHENEEUTHERERE
following materiality matrix. INTEZEMERES -

® 17
® 18

200 @ 19
® 11

®9

®©3 04
®2 05

e 1 ® 16
100 ®14 038
60 07 12
® 13
® 15

EEALH

HIMNBRI R
INFLUENCE ON EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS

e 21

v

INFLUENCE ON INTERNAL STAKEHOLDERS
HAMAZRABEA LR E
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1. Greenhouse gas emissions 12.
BE RSB

2. Waste management 13.
BEEYER

3. Energy consumption 14,
BEIRIEE

4. Water consumption 1Ifs);
K2

B Paper consumption 16.
=

6. Management risk related to environment & natural 17.
resources
HIIRIE I B A B IRAE B B0 B IR R B

7. Equal opportunities 18.
FERE

8. Employee’s benefits 19.
BTN

9. Occupational health and safety 20.
BEERARLZE

10. Employee development and training 21.
B IR RS

11. Prevention of child labor & forced labour
il =& EE )

The following five topics have been deemed as the most important ESG
issues:

o Protection of intellectual property rights and customer data;

° Anti-corruption and related trainings, and whistle-blowing policies;
° Concluded legal cases

° Prevention of child labor and forced labor; and

o Occupational health and safety

The Group has strictly complied with the statutory requirements in
respect of the identified material aspects. The Group aims to keep close

communication with its stakeholders and continue to improve its ESG
performance.

Supplier selection and assessment
1 JRE 7 52 42 B AT A

Green procurement

FERE

Product quality control

EmE S

Product recall

Emdm

Customer satisfaction

BEEmEE

Protection of intellectual property rights & customer
data

MBEERT P ERRE
Anti-corruption & whistle-blowing policies
RE S M B RIBR

Concluded legal cases
BERIEERRM

Anti-corruption trainings
k&5

Community engagement
ol i

NTHELTERASEREZNRE HEME

e R

C B ERE TP ERHRE

. R&ES KB E DI N B R
C RBERIRRRMN

. LETR®EEH: K

C BERREILE

AEBEHRCINNERZ T EBERETEER
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ENVIRONMENTAL

Due to the Group’s service-based business nature, we do not
cause significant impacts on the environment. In spite of this, the
Group is committed to upholding high environmental standards and
mitigating our environmental impacts.

We recognize the importance of sustainability in our business
operation. We put emphasis on complying with the relevant
environmental law and regulations in Singapore, Hong Kong
and the PRC, including but not limited to the followings:

° Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong Kong;
o Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Environmental Protection Law of the PRC; and

° Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Wastes Law of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating environmental protection.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, it does not involve in any
industrial production nor possess any manufacturing facilities
or motor vehicles during the Reporting Period. Therefore, the
Group did not generate a material amount of exhaust gas
emissions during its operation (2023: Nil).
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Human activities and economic development have
aggravated the emission of greenhouse gases (‘GHG”)
atmospheric concentration, leading to accelerating
temperatures around the globe and climate change. Since
no industrial production is involved nor vehicles are owned
by the Group, there was no reported direct emission of GHG
(Scope 1) during the Reporting Period. The Group’s main
sources of GHG emissions are the indirect emission from
electricity consumption (Scope 2) that is utilized to power
facilities and equipment. Compared with 2023, the electricity
consumption of the Group in 2024 decreased as a result
of the energy saving initiatives of the Group. The Group
considered there was no other material indirect emission of
GHG from sources not owned or controlled by the Group
(Scope 3) during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting
Period, reported GHG emissions are as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

i AR E TR

BEREHENR
ABERREEZERMNE TAER
B(HDREREDARREOHER
BERMRERFARRBE LM
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BREH WS HEALERE
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SEAREREHERNEEZREEA
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SERE REPEATFEIELRE
EHEAIEHNRR (BE=)HE
thEAEEEEREER - HEBH
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FY2023 FY2024
Intensity Intensity
GHG Emissions FY2023 (Per revenue) FY2024 (Per revenue)
20238 FHE 202481 F R E
BEREHER 202381 (FRWAET) 202481 (W AE)
Scope 1
#E—
Direct emission Kg of COe Nil Nil Nil Nil
BEEHR Fr-EtRkgEE = =z z =
Scope 2
WE=
Indirect emission
BN
— Purchased electricity Kg of COe 145,294.67 45,690.15 107,666.31 21,345.42
—HNEE Fr-EtREE
Scope 3
#WE=
Indirect emission
B HEM
— Others Kg of COe Nil Nil Nil Nil
—H At Fr-SRE= 3 =z =z =z
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Notes

* GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and are with reference to but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute
and the World Business Council for Sustainable Development,
and “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

For FY2024, Intensity is calculated by dividing the emission by
the Group’s revenue in 2024 (approximately S$5.04 million)

Hazardous Waste

We adopt a responsible management for our medical waste
and consider complying with all relevant regulations in the
countries that we operate. To dispose medical waste in
a safe and reliable manner, we have entered into service
agreements with local government-licensed toxic industrial
waste collector. The licensed service provider collects the
medical waste from our main clinic, and, to our knowledge,
they would dispose the waste in authorized incineration
plant approved under relevant laws where we operate.
As for our other clinic, the hazardous waste is handled
by an independent party engaged by the hospital. As any
hazardous waste has been collected and handled directly by
the specialized contractors, it is not feasible for us to provide
relevant usage data. Despite of it, in order to continuously
reduce the adverse impact associated with the production
of hazardous waste, the Group will continue to monitor the
amount of clinical waste generated during its operations.

Non-hazardous Waste

Our non-hazardous wastes are mainly referred to paper and
plastic waste during our daily operations. The overall amount
of non-hazardous wastes is considered minimal as we have
adopted a reasonable level of digitalization in our operation,
and the Group has not been accounting for domestic waste
generated by its facilities, which has been collected and
disposed of directly by local government services. However,
we understand the disposal of non-hazardous waste is also
an important task in consideration that certain types of non-
hazardous waste can be recycled.

To minimize the environmental impacts of both hazardous
and non-hazardous waste generated from the Group’s
business operations, we target to achieve 5% reduction in
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 2032, using
FY2021 as the base year.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

ot

* BERBEREEBU SR E
ERR WELRZEETRRERE
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬂﬂﬁgﬁéﬁiﬁ
BEeEHHDEERBHE
XETRBEZE J&%xﬁﬂﬁi“ﬁﬁ
B (MARERE HERE
ARSIk = IRIBRASEAE R
IZEFRIES]) ©

* 202481 F - HEWNGTE AR
15 BE BX 2 B DA AR 58 B120244F 89 I
A (#15.048 BEFNET)

BEBRREY

BMERMANEEEZEYRDNAE
ENER  IERETRAKLERE
BERNMBERBESR L2 5Ei
RRIZERRERY) - TR E 1 BT AT
MBS IXEEMEREARR
Bifak o B RS HEEmRRMINE

BYMBEBEERRERY BRMAM
- RE AR PIE & P ) FERE
ERAENRER ERE EREEY) -
ERBMNR—KZH EEEEY
HEREFNIE L RIE - BREM
EEBERMHBERABGHAERK
SREIE - AR H AR AR
BoBEWMMN ARERLEEERR
%?i%?ﬂ%; AEEKERE

LEHRELNEREERYE -

BEBEREY
BHMNEEERYIBRERTE
ERELMERIEHERY AR
BMEELHTHEATAEKFHNR
Fo A B ERZMNBERR
RREWFER - W AREEN EZE
HRMEEN BN BRNRE
HE BB RSEEE R K SE RE
BE-AM RFEFBEZTEEVNR
BihE-—HEEEH BERAETHEE
B 4 2 B 32 W) A) DA R AR

ABAEEXBELEEENEER
ﬁ%?%%éTiﬁtﬁdmix 2R :I:E%@E ’
HH B ZEER2032F 58 E M E
EREE YR 5% 2021 FE A E
AELF o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

b ~ A R

For the hazardous waste, we aim to achieve the target by
continuously adopting the waste management policy as
mentioned in the above section of “Hazardous Waste”. For
the non-hazardous waste, we have adopted the following
environmentally friendly initiatives:

o Place a single-sided paper collection box and a
wastepaper recycling box near the photocopiers;

° Paper and plastics waste are collected for delivery to
recycling companies;

° Encourage our employees to use both sides of paper,
set duplex printing as the default mode for our network
printers, use recycled paper to minimize the wastage of
paper, and bring their own mug instead of disposable
paper cups;

° Install hand dryers in our clinics’ toilets to reduce paper
towel consumption; and

o Encourage customers to bring reusable bags.

We aim to implement a tracking system in future so as
to better track the total amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in RMH. This will enable us to reflect a more
accurate figure of the non-hazardous waste generated in
RMH in future reporting.
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Our Targets and Initiatives

The principal GHG emissions of the Group are generated
from purchased electricity. We target to achieve 5% reduction
of emission by 2032, using FY2021 as the base year. The
Group actively adopts electricity conservation and energy
saving measures as well as other measures to achieve this
goal:

° Arranged all our electrical appliances and medical
equipment to be set in energy saving mode;

° Reduce excessive lighting and air-conditioning to
minimize usage of cooling towers during low loading
periods for air-conditioning;

° Clean dust filters and remove obstructions at air inlets
and outlets of the air-conditioners on a regular basis to
maintain optimum air-conditioning performance;

° All air-conditionings of our clinics and other premises
will be set at 25.5°C as indoor temperature;

° Adopt LED panel lights instead of traditional fluorescent
lamps for higher energy efficiency;

o Activate “sleep” mode in some of office equipment
during office hours, including photocopiers and
printers;

° Encourage our senior employees to schedule regular
meeting with conference calls or use of other electronic
media to reduce travelling for business meetings when
applicable; and

° Placing “Green Message” reminders on office
equipment and workplace to further enhance
employees’ environmental awareness.
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Use of resources

As our business nature is service focused, the main
resources used in our daily operation are electricity, water
and papers. In line with our Group’s policy, we encourage
our employees to manage the resources used in an effective
and efficient manner.

Energy Consumption

The Group’s main sources of energy consumption is
electricity which is used to support the equipment and
facilities. The summary of usage is as follow:

Energy Sources Unit

HEIR By

Purchased electricity kWh

HNEE T ERE

Consumption intensity kWh/revenue

HRTE FRE&, WA
Notes

*

For FY2024, Intensity is calculated by dividing the electricity
usage by the Group’s revenue in 2024 (approximately S$5.04
million)

Water Consumption

We recognize water as an important natural resource and
have constantly remind our employees the importance of
water conservation. The water consumption is mainly used in
office and clinics. In 2024, the total water consumption to be
reported accounted to 647.6m? (2023: 674.8m3).
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FY2023 FY2024
202387 & 20248} &
238,148.95 176,473.22
74,889.61 34,986.76
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Paper Consumption

The Group has taken the following measures in several
offices to ensure the efficient use of paper, including:

° Implemented a centralised paper ordering system to
facilitate paper usage monitoring.

° Using E-fax to reduce printing needs

° Implementation of digital communications and
operations for internal and external communications
and processes

° Handling documents electronically except for formal
documents.
° Using recyclable paper and double-sided printing,

excluding formal and confidential documents.

During the Reporting Period, the total consumption of paper
of the Group was about 0.5 tonnes.

Our Targets and Initiatives

The Group has initiated policies to raise awareness of
electricity conservation and has adopted energy saving
measures throughout our daily operation as elaborated in the
section of “Emissions”. Using FY2021 as the base year, we
target to reduce 5% electricity consumption by 2032.

Due to the geographical location of the Group’s operations,
there is no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.
Nevertheless, we are always conscious of water
conservation. We encourage our employees to monitor the
water usage in our clinics, back office and laboratory on a
monthly basis to identify sudden spikes in consumption as
well as water leaking in the piping system. Any dripping or
leakage of water mains and tap will be repaired promptly. We
also place water conservation posters in prominent places to
encourage our employees to save water. We are considering
to install flow controllers and automatic on or off sensor on
taps for efficiency of water use. By adopting these initiatives,
we target to reduce our water consumption by 5% by 2032,
using FY2021 as the base year.
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Paper and packaging Materials

We are primarily involved with the dermatological and surgical
practice, dental care and the prescription of medication and
skin-care products. These medication and skin-care products
are manufactured, packed, and distributed by our suppliers.
As our business nature is service-focused, there was no
significant amount of packaging material used in our daily
operation. As such, we do not track the packaging materials
used for the products. However, we always encourage our
suppliers to use less packaging material and require our
offices to control the total amount of paper used.

The importance of the environment and natural resources
is well understood by the Group. With the goal of
attaining environmental sustainability, we have integrated
the concept of environmental preservation and natural
resource conservation into its internal management and
daily operations. Based on our business nature, the natural
resources which contributed to our daily operations are
primarily from the usage of electricity, water and paper.
Therefore, the Group is not aware of any significant impacts
of activities on the environment and natural resources during
the Reporting Period. The Group continues to monitor any
possible adverse impacts brought by our business operation
on the natural environment.

In line with our Group’s policies, we strive to minimize the
impact to the environment by encouraging our employees to
monitor and manage the consumption of energy and natural
resources in a more efficient manner as mentioned in the
section of “Emissions” and “Use of resources” in response
to the potential impacts on the environment and natural
resources. The Group also identifies important operational
issues and offers employees with trainings to raise their
knowledge in order to assist all employees in understanding
key environmental variables and associated departments in
controlling potential impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

The Group remains conscious of the potential impact its
operations on the environment and adopts preventive
measures to reduce the relevant environmental damage while
ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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4. Climate change

The countries where we have operation, either Singapore,
Hong Kong or the PRC, is a low-lying, densely populated
tropical island city-state, it is vulnerable to the effects of
climate change and variability. The typical effects of climate
include:

Warmer weather

Heavy rainfall
ARk

® Top 10 warmest years on

B REERIA R EAE 10 F (0

gets warmer

PR RBER - A RMER

EHHBRERERHE S
L%

The Group understands that higher temperatures may
affect human health and healthcare operations. Vector
and pest populations could increase from a result of
higher temperatures and rainfall, increasing the incidence
of diseases such as dengue. However, as the Group is
principally engaged in dermatological and surgical practice
as well as dental care, the Board, as advised by the ESG
Working Committee, considers that those typical climate
change effects have relatively light impacts on the Group.

Considerations of TCFD Recommendations

Nevertheless, RMH takes reference to the recommendations
and approach set out by The Task Force of Climate
related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”) in assessing the
climate changes impacts on the Group. Thus, the Group
has assessed the climate-related impacts from risks and
opportunities aspects.
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Climate-change-related risks RIRE{LAEBEERR
The Group divides climate-change-related risks into two AEEBRIEZECHEBARR Y B
major categories: (1) risks related to the transition to a low BEZHER: ()ERERLEER
carbon economy and (2) risks related to the physical impacts FENERMQHEFKEFELLNELE
of climate change. TEGHRR-

/

* May entail extensive policy, legal, technology, and market changes to address
mitigation and adaptation requirements related to climate change in the course of
transitioning to a lower-carbon economy. There are four sub-risks, namely Policy
and Legal Risks, Technology Risk, Market Risk and Reputation Risk.

Transition risks < ‘ - : b A

LERie)N

May have financial implications for the Group, such as direct damage to assets and
indirect impacts from supply chain disruption, which can be driven by acute events
(“Acute Events”) or longer-term chronic shifts (“Chronic Shift”) in climate patterns.

Physical risks < ThHAEERRITSTE  MARNEE RER MR R
= 88 B TERREER SN ( [RMBLE] ) EDBUNE ( [erEE] )
BEERE FiaIE -
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Climate-change-related opportunities

The Group also takes into consideration of climate-change
related opportunities and divides them into five major
categories related to resource efficiency and cost savings, the
adoption of low-emission energy sources, the development
of new products and services, access to new markets, and
building resilience along the supply chain.

The overall-risk rating of climate-change-related risks and
opportunities of the Group is considered low as presented
below:

RERFEBERE

REBETEBRIFE(CEBENEE

YTHES D ASAEETEER BER
Mz MR AER K - SRAVEHEREIR -

BB Gn AR TS - M AT T 5 B
THERER A

AEBREZECAERRKEE
WEBER T RBRLSBIE  25m
T

~
e QOverall climate change risk at industry level
BEHRE %

= 44

e Climate-change opportunities 5815 &L #38
Low-to-medium

BEHE

e Transitionrisk ~ EEAIE R
e Physical risk EEEER
e Technology risk Tl EL
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Climate Change Impact Assessment RARE L BT

The Board has instructed the ESG Working Committee to EEEERTRE HERERTL
perform an assessment on the climate-change-related risks EZEgHASBEREZ(CHE
and opportunities of the Group. The following table presents BB R B TR e TR 25K
the summary of the Group’s assessment. SR EBE-

Climate-related risks Our measures or approach

and opportunities

Potential financial impacts
when risks are realized

RiRERERK KA RAWNERE T A

Transition Risk

=R E b Policy and legal The Group is of the view that there are
BB Jok no regulatory or market policies or
technology changes required or on the
Technology trend that would have significant impact
BHg on the Group.

AEERA BESEXMEHRAH
RAER EHRBEHAEEFE

%X
Market Customers may have higher expectations
bk of our image and services from an
environmentally friendly perspective.
Reputation RRERAEMS  BLUHERMAE
Ba SEBRBEESNDRE -

BB E R AR B

Remote

HE

The risks and impacts are
considered remote

ZERREFERGR/ER-

Possible

AAIEE

There is a possible impact on the
reputation of our Company.

HARANBEBEARERT
72,
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Climate-related risks Our measures or approach Potential financial impacts
and opportunities when risks are realized
RIZEBRRREE HMWEHESF % BRERRIEENEY
Physical risk Acute Events The Group is of the view that it is not Remote
L Z2EH subject to physical risks brought alone ~ H1{&
from climate change. However, the
Chronic Shifts Group will take a monitoring approach ~ The risks and impacts are
REER and will continuously monitor the considered remote.
change in physical risks. ZERREFERRAER-

AEERBETERIRB(CEET RN
ERREBRTE AW AEEKRRE
2% U RS RRRRNE

1o
Opportunities Resource efficiency The Group is of the view that there are Remote
e BR M no regulatory or market policies or B
technology changes required or on the
Energy source trend that would have significant impact
B3R R on the Group. The opportunities and benefits are
AEERR HEEEIMSEEIH considered remote
Products & services RFER 2B BPHAEmEE ARERNERERER
7= m R AR N7 &
Customers may have higher expectations Possible
Market of our image and services from an BAlEE
% environmentally friendly perspective.
RBRAEMS TEAEHM There is a possible market if we
Resilience HFERRREEERHBAE - can build an environmental
BEH supply chain.
aE MaE SR EIRIR AL G -
AEFRAEEMS -
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B. SOCIAL
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICE

1.

Employment

Employees are our most valued-assets and we are fully
committed to creating a respectful and collaborative work
environment. The Group strictly complies with all applicable
laws and regulations that have significant impact on the
Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, other benefits and
welfare, including but not limited to the following:

o The Employment Act (Cap. 91) of Singapore;

° The Employment of Foreign Manpower Act of
Singapore;

o The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Singapore;

° Central Provident Fund Act (Cap. 36) of Singapore;

o The Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

o The Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

o Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance of Hong Kong;
o Labor Law of the PRC;

o The Labor Contract Law of the PRC; and

° Law of the PRC on Employment Promotion

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported incident
of non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
employment practices.

B. #&

BREREIER

1.

20247F FE i #57
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Workforce and turnover BEORRKIE
As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has a total HERSBHHEAR AEBEXFET
number of 45 (2023: 32) employees, all of whom are full-time 45N (2023F : 32 N) ' BE R B
employees (2023: 32 full-time employees). The details are as T (2023F : 288 T32A) ° F18
follow: R
Number of Staff Percentage %
ETAH BA%
Gender 14 51
Male B 12 26.7%
Female pegis 33 73.3%
Age Group F R4 Bl
18-30 185% 2 305% 14 31.1%
31-40 315% £4075% 15 33.3%
41-50 413 E5075% 12 26.7%
51 or above 51553 A £ 4 8.9%
Geographical Region i3 @i
Hong Kong aBE 21 46.7%
The PRC i 24 53.3%
Singapore g - -
Employee Category BIEHR
Senior management BRERAE 11 24.4%
Middle management PEEEAES 5 11.1%
Supervisor *E 2 4.4%
General staff —BBE 27 60.0%

72 RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024



The analysis of staff turnover rate by different categories are
as follows:

Gender 4 7l
Male S
Female 2
Age Group F R4 Bl
18-30 185X 2305%
31-40 3158 £408%
41-50 AR ZE508%
51 or above 51553 A £
Geographical Region B E
Hong Kong BE
The PRC 2]
Singapore N
Notes
* The turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the

number of employees in the specified category leaving
employment by the total number of employees in that
specified category.

We emphasize the protection of labor rights, equal
opportunity and non-discrimination in the workplace.
We promote employee diversity and vehemently reject
discrimination, working to remove any discrimination against
candidates and employees based on variables such as
gender, age, color, religion beliefs, and gender orientations.
The Group’s working hour policies for our employees
have been in complete conformity with national laws and
regulations in order to preserve employees’ legitimate rights
and interests. Our employees work standardized hours and
have access to paid leave, maternity leave, sick leave, public
holidays, and specified rest intervals, ensuring that they get
enough rest and maintain a healthy work-life balance. If any
unfair treatment is discovered, the concerned employees
should report the incident to the head of Human Resources
Department directly. Much effort is also given by the Group
to safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of employees
and cater for the developmental needs of employees.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

b ~ A R

NERRIE TEERE M TAT

Number of Staff Percentage %
BT A AZ L%
33.3%
10 66.7%
6 40.0%
6 40.0%
2 13.3%
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Human Resources Policy and Staff Handbook are
established for regulating recruitment, promotion, discipline,
working hours and vacations. Our Human Resources
Department is responsible for such implementation confirms
that our employees have a full understanding of the contents
of both documents. Employees who fail to comply with the
company’s regulations are first given a warning notice and, in
serious cases, are dismissed. We have created a harmonious
working environment as well as a safe and comfortable
workplace to build a business platform for every employee
to grow with the Group. Our employment documents and
practices are formulated in compliance with relevant law and
regulations and reviewed on a regular basis.

We have developed a standardized recruitment process with
the goal of attracting and retaining talent for our teams that
is tailored to their specific job requirements. The Group’s
hiring process considers criteria including their experience,
skills, and expertise needed for our business operations.
Regardless of gender, age, ethnicity, religion, disability, or
gender orientation, applicants who match the requirements
for a position are given equal interview opportunities.
There is also a thorough description of the job, including
responsibilities, benefits, and compensation packages.
Applicants with relatives working in the Group must clarify
personal relationships and ensure that their relatives’ work in
the Group is unaffected.

We are committed to offering competitive remuneration as
well as complete benefits and protections to our employees.
In order to attract, motivate, and retain excellent people, we
assess our compensation and benefits programs on a regular
basis. The remuneration of our employees is determined
by aspects such as their qualifications, contributions, and
years of experience. Employee performance is evaluated
on a regular basis, and those who do well are provided
opportunities for advancement.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

AEBEEHEANERRERET
F ARERE B LR Ik
REBH -HMANANERBARHRH
it BREMNEEZE THEMND
XHHAR NETRARRENES
BEgRIESEN BRABREES
WRRE - BAMBIEFRE M TIEIRFE R
ZEREFENITIERE RE—LEE
BREAEEAERRNEETS-
B APT B0 8 1R XX R 1B B Th AR SR AR R
AR BOERBITE - W E HRET o

BRACHEZECNBRAR 5&
BERMOBEKRS RIEBHEHE
FEITIEERKMATL - REE KRR
FFERMNZSEDIELLR BERE
BEEMBENEENZ - TR
Fhe BiR R FEERIMR
A FABRUERNEFEABES
FENEREE - BMINE TIE#ETT
EBM BIERE &8 REFMF
BoRBANBRBEAEEIIE:
WEREBABGR WHERREEBE
REBHIETZZE -

BHBOREERHEAERF IO
B oA 2 52 & B9 48 K R AR PR - B IR E!
BB RBRBEESFAT  RAEHFE
I RmAETE - IR B E T
RERENER BERMEFESHE
B -BRMAEHFERERERR A/
RARFNEERHETHE -



Workplace safety and employees’ health are non-negotiable
and of the Group’s top priority. The Group reviews the
workplace and safety policies regularly to ensure compliance
with applicable laws, including but not limited to the
following:

o Workplace Safety and Health Act (Cap. 354A) of
Singapore;

o Guidelines on Aesthetic Practices for Doctors of
Singapore;

° Radiation Protection Act (Cap. 262) of Singapore;

° Workplace Safety and Health (Incident Reporting)
Regulations of Singapore;

o Private Healthcare Facilities Ordinance (Chapter 633 of
the Laws of Hong Kong;

° Laws of Hong Kong on Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance; and

° Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe
and comfortable work environment. To protect the health of
employees, we have established Business Process Manual
which emphasizes on safety procedures and awareness in
handling medical devices during daily operations. Our in-
house doctors are responsible for the provision of support
and resources required to maintain safe and ideal working
conditions within the clinics. Furthermore, they are also
responsible for the implementation and planning of proper
administrative procedures, including adhering to an agreed
reporting structure and investigation methodology in the
event of an incident occurring within the workplace.
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Occupational Safety Measures

Provide clear and comprehensive guidelines to all staff
on how to handle bad weathers, injuries and work
related injuries;

Encourage staff to maintain a good and correct
posture, while maintaining an appropriate eye level with
the computer screen to reduce stress and strain on
their bodies;

Keep passages clear and the working environment
clean and tidy;

Place first aid kits and fire extinguishers in workplace;

Ensure that all staff are familiar with the fire protection

equipment and fire escape routes; and

Proper disposal of clinical and domestic waste.

In each of the past three years, including the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any work-related
fatalities, lost days due to work injury and did not identify any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations relevant
to the health and safety of employees.
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Development and training

The Group deeply values the employees by investing in
their development. The Group believes that our employees
are critical to the operations and function of our business,
and we emphasize heavily on continual trainings so as to
enhance staff performance and upgrade their professional
skillsets.

Ethical and
code of
conduct

BERITA

ZEH|

T

Our doctors, dentists and staff are encouraged to attend
industry conferences, seminars and workshops as well as
sharing sessions organized by our suppliers to keep abreast
of evolving healthcare industry trends and standards. All
these activities were carried out to ensure that our employees
remain updated with relevant developments and are aware of
the laws and regulations that govern the healthcare industry.

We have also organized internal trainings which cover anti-
corruption, business ethics, ESG reporting, 2024 and
2025 market outlook on the healthcare and life sciences
sector, among others. All in-house training programs are
evaluated and reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that
they are relevant, high-quality, and effective. The following in-
house training programs are provided to further develop our
employees’ competencies:

o Training is provided by medical device suppliers or
senior clinic staff in relation to the use of a new product
or with regard to service-related knowledge and also
safety precautions of medical equipment;

o During on-boarding session for new hires, training
is provided by our in-house doctors and dentists to
familiarize these new hires on daily operations and
equipment handling procedures; and

° On-the-job assessments is also conducted by our in-
house doctors and dentists for all of our professional
staff to maintain the highest quality and standard of
services to be provided to our clients.
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During the Reporting Period, 73% (2023: 17%) of the S B A 73% (20234 : 17%)HY
employees took part in our trainings and the details of BT2I7THMOEI LB1ERWM

—

breakdown are as follows:

Percentage of Employees Trained Percentage %
ZREINEIBS L BA%
By Gender =R
Male B 36%
Female 4 64%
By Employee Category BETHEH
Senior management SHREEAE 33%
Middle management FEEEAE 12%
Supervisor FE 0%
General staff —REBE 55%
During the Reporting Period, the average training hour WEHRR BT AYEAFIIRE
completed per employee was 1.6 hours and the details of 1.6/N\E5 - BH4BRAT ¢

breakdown are as follow:

Average Training Hours Completed Per Employee Number of hour
FEBE I TN TI95E IR NS
By Gender =R

Male S 2.6
Female 4 1.2
By Employee Category BETHER

Senior management BREBEAE 2.5
Middle management FEEEAE 1.6
Supervisor FE -
General staff —REBE 1.3

Notes B 5

* The percentage of trained employees by category is calculated * BERESHZBEEIEING
by dividing the number of employees trained for a specific AR BBEGHEEEENZA
category by the total number of employees trained. FIME T ABBRUAZBIFINN

BTmHEB/E-

* The average training hours by category is calculated by i RERE S B FHEINEFHZ
dividing the number of training hours for a specific category BB EFEEERNE TSI
of employees by the number of employees for the specific FRUBTEHENEIASGTES
category. e
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Being fully aware that exploitation of a child and forced labor
violates human rights and international labor conventions,
the Group strictly prohibits the employment of any child
labor and forced labor in any form. Those under 16 years
of age must not be recruited by reviewing the identification
of personnel in the stringent screening process on qualified
candidates. Our Human Resources Department requires
shortlisted candidates to provide valid identity documents
before confirmation of employment so as to ensure they are
lawfully employable. Upon discovery of any child labor and
use of forced labor, the person will be dismissed immediately
and the management and responsible person will be
disciplined accordingly.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
relation to the prevention of child and forced labor, including
the Employment of Children and Young Persons Regulations
and the Employment Act of Singapore, the Employment of
Children Regulations of Hong Kong and the Provisions on
Prohibition of Child Labor of the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to preventing child and
forced labor had been identified.
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We place a high value on maintaining a strong and
professional relationship with our major suppliers, comprising
medical device manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies
for manufacturing our DS brand skincare products, and
distributors of treatment consumables, skincare products and
medications, to ensure a high quality and safety standards.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has 14 major
suppliers located in the PRC and 16 major suppliers located
in Hong Kong.

We developed a standardized supplier selection procedure.
Prior to establishing any long-term business relationship with
potential suppliers, due diligence is conducted to ensure
suppliers’ compliance to trade laws and regulations as well
as with the requirements within the RMH'’s Purchasing and
Procurement Policy. In the course, we consider important
factors such as history of the supplier’s quality, quantity,
delivery timing, product source, price, the supplier’s industry
reputation, and feedback from our medical specialists. Senior
management approval is required for accepting a supplier
as our recognized supplier. Our senior management reviews
our supplier regularly in light of their overall performance and
quality.

v All our major medicine suppliers are recognized
suppliers who are qualified to offer FDA approved
medicine;

4 We have centralized our medicine procurement
activities which optimism our purchase ordering and
medicine inventory transfer among our clinics, which
further enhance our effectiveness in cost control and
medicine utilization; and

4 Our procurement activities are carried out in a
transparent, open, and fair manner that all suppliers
are treated fairly and, for major purchase, given an
equal chance to submit a quotation or proposal.
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Our management team holds regularly meeting, usually
on weekly basis, for monitoring the Group’s procurement
activities. The management team usually include an Executive
Director, professional doctor, procurement manager, cost
center manager, and finance manager.

As of the issuance of this report, we have developed a
Supplier Code of Conduct which outlines the Group’s
expectations for our suppliers in terms of human rights,
labor, environmental protection, anti-corruption, ethics, and
management system compliance. We will circulate this
code of conduct to our suppliers on a rotation basis in the
future as one of the measures managing the social and
environmental risks in our supply chain.

Quality Control

Dermatological and surgical specialty services, dental service
and products provided by the Group make a substantial
contribution to people’s well-being. As a result, we are
acutely aware of our obligation to provide high-quality
services and products in order to improve and maintain the
health and well-being of our patients.

We strictly comply with all relevant applicable laws, including
but not limited to the Health Products Act of Singapore,
the Poisons Act of Singapore, the Pharmacy and Poisons
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Administrative Measures
for Aesthetic Medical Services of the PRC.

We are dedicated to improving and advancing the quality of
our dermatological and surgical specialty service as well as
dental service on a continuous basis. In our daily operations,
we strictly monitored our operations from patient registration,
diagnosis and treatment to efficiency management. This is
clearly communicated to our staff in the Business Process
Manual, the Group’s Staff Handbook and the internal control
manual, which are reviewed regularly to ensure the policies
are up to-date. Moreover, regular meetings with frontline
staff to discuss industry best practices are scheduled by the
operations managers. The meetings may cover aspects of
administrative practices, industry case studies, and clinical
learning.
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We have formulated quality standards and purchasing
guidelines in selecting and sourcing of skincare products. An
approval must be obtained from our in-house doctors prior
to the acceptance of any new over-the-counter skincare
products that our clinics will be distributing. In line with the
RMH'’s Purchasing and Procurement Policy, we have also
implemented the following quality control procedures to our
DS brand skincare products:

1. In-house doctors to perform review on the medical
journals, reports, commentaries as well as the list of
ingredients used for the new type of skincare products
to ensure the products are safe for user.

2. Management to request for few rounds of sample
testing on the new skincare products to observe the
quality consistency and to assess for potential defects.

3. Sales and operation staff to perform inspection upon
delivery of the new skincare products to ensure the
following:

° No physically damaged on the products;

° Products are not passed the expiry date;

o Private labels applied to containers are clear;
° Product specifications are tallied with agreed
format; and

° Quantity of products received are tallied with
purchase order.

4. Sales and operation staff will perform the following
inventory monitoring procedures:

° Record the delivery and manufacturing date of
products;

° Monitor and maintain the stock level for all the
products in the inventory management system to
ensure products do not exceed the expiry date;
and

o Perform regular check on the products to ensure
products are in good condition.
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During the Reporting Period, there were no reported cases
of medical supplies sold by the Group that had to be recalled
due to safety and health reasons.

Customer satisfaction

By actively engaging our clients through ratings and opinions
on Google Reviews, the Group aims to create and nurture
strong connections with them. During the Reporting Period,
we keep maintaining a satisfactory Google Reviews rating.
We have also given staff incentive to promote Google
Reviews. To obtain our clients’ opinions about our services
or skincare products, we have kept emails from Google My
Business showing Google Reviews ratings for our respective
clinics. Overall average ratings for our clinics are over 4 stars
which reflects that most of our clients are satisfied with our
services or skincare products.

We also developed Customer Complaint Policy to obtain
more comments from our clients. Our marketing manager
will be responsible for dealing with customer complaints.
The Marketing Department will investigate each complaint by
identifying potential causes. Detailed responses will be sent
to customers by our marketing manager. If necessary, we
will take corrective actions. All complaints are then properly
documented and filed for future reference and follow-up.
Complaints are examined and discussed for improvement
at the regular meetings in order to better understand how
we can improve the customer experience. Furthermore, we
decide to expand more communication channels with our
clients, including but not limited to emails, posts, suggestion
boxes placed at our clinics.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
significant complaints regarding product or service flaws.
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Data Privacy Protection

The Group recognizes the responsibility in protecting
personal information. The Group strictly complies relevant
laws and regulations regarding data privacy, including but
not limited to the Personal Data Protection (Amendment)
Act 2020 of Singapore, Laws of Hong Kong on Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Consumer Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China, to ensure that all data are
securely kept in our internal system with access control.

Data privacy protection measures are included in RMH’s
internal control manual. Our sales and operation staff are
responsible for safeguarding the privacy, confidentiality and
security of customer data entrusted to RMH. The Group’s
staff who will be handling personal data must adhere to
the data privacy protection measures. The Operations
Department of the Group will review the measures design
and the management team will monitor the implementation
of the measures on a regular basis. Some relevant measures
as follows:

4 Ensure that personal data is not read, copied,
modified, or removed without consent during electronic
transmission, transport, or storage on a data carrier;

v Ascertain that data acquired for various reasons will be
processed independently;

4 When not in use, physical records containing personal
data are securely stored and locked;

v Prevent unauthorized individuals from accessing data;

v Ascertain that personal data is secured from
unintended deletion or loss; and

v Ensure that all data-storage devices are appropriately
destroyed and reformatted after each use.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any confidential data or information breach.
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Intellectual Property Rights

We respect intellectual property rights, such as trademarks,
patents, and copyrights, among others. The Group primarily
relies on the applicable laws and regulations on trademarks,
trade secrets as well as confidentiality agreements to protect
its intellectual property rights, including but not limited to the
Patent Act of Singapore, the Trade Marks Act of Singapore,
Trade Marks Ordinance of Hong Kong.

The Group kept a complete record of its intellectual property
rights and will seek legal advice and take appropriate action if
any of its intellectual property rights are infringed upon. If our
staff is discovered to be in violation of applicable rules and
regulations, they may not only face disciplinary action, but
they may also be prosecuted and face criminal or civil liability,
as stated in the Group’s Staff Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, we believe that we have taken
all reasonable measures to protect our intellectual property
rights and deter any such infringement. We were unaware of
any infringement (i) by us of any intellectual property rights
owned by third parties; or (i) by any third parties of any
intellectual property rights owned by us.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group recognizes the gravity of misleading health
advertisements. Therefore, the Group takes careful
precautions to prevent its patients from receiving misleading
health-related information or advice via advertisements and
poor labelling, by relying on relevant law and regulations
including but not limited to:

° The Trade Description Ordinance of Hong Kong; and

o Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China.
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Within RMH, we contained anti-corruption provisions,
including but not limited to bribery, extortion, fraud, and
money laundering, into the Group’s Staff Handbook. Bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, or other unlawful offers
are all prohibited. The Group strictly complies with all
applicable laws including but not limited to the Prevention
of Corruption Act in Singapore, the Laws of Hong Kong on
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and the Criminal Law of the
PRC.

Soliciting, accepting, or offering any benefits, including but
not limited to gifts, coupons, and tips, from or to our clients,
suppliers, or anyone with a business relationship with the
Group is strictly banned, as stated in the Staff Handbook.
Staff are also barred from advising or dealing in any
transaction that could result in potential conflicts of interest,
and any potential conflicts of interest must be reported to
the Group’s Human Resources Department. Any breach
of behavior will result in the termination of the employment
contract or consultancy agreement (as the case may be), as
well as legal implications for the subject.

In addition, the Group has provided training regularly to all
levels of staff, including directors, superiors and general staff,
in order to equip them with an understanding of the latest
regulations and best practices relating to anti-corruption, self-
discipline, and integrity etc.

Whistle-blowing

We established our own internal Whistleblowing Policy
to support the detection of fraud and corruption risks.
The Whistleblowing Policy is implemented by the Human
Resources Department, and monitored the funds paid and
received by the Group by the Finance Department. The
Whistleblowing Policy is a critical tool for uncovering corrupt,
unlawful, or otherwise unacceptable behavior. The policy is
intended to allow employees to voice their concerns internally
and to reveal evidence that they believe demonstrates
malpractice or impropriety related to bribery, extortion, fraud,
or money laundering.
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To ensure the safety and secrecy of all whistle-blowers, the
policy specifies that if employees detect any suspicious
behavior, they should report it immediately in writing or
verbally to any of the Executive Directors. Following that,
the Executive Director and an investigating officer will handle
the situation quickly, professionally, and attentively. All of our
employees have undergone internal trainings to familiarize
themselves with the RMH'’s internal Whistleblowing Policy and
thus are required to comply. This is to prevent employees
from obtaining personal interest from related parties who
have connections with RMH through bribery, extortion, and
fraud.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has engaged an
independent professional party to assist with the investigation
of a suspected misappropriation of funds by a former
executive director of the Company (the “Investigation”). Up to
the date of this ESG Report, the Investigation was completed
and for details of the Investigation results, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 24 March 2023, 19
April 2023, 28 April 2023, 2 July 2023, 5 October 2023 and
5 January 2024, 9 April 2024 and 10 May 2024.

Other than those disclosed above, there were no legal cases
regarding fraudulent activities and corruption practices
brought against the Group or its employees during the
Reporting Period.
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COMMUNITY

8.

Community investment

RMH has consistently been committed towards corporate
social responsibility where it aims to promote and achieve a
positive impact toward the community. We actively participate
in medical conferences, seminars and workshops in Hong
Kong and the PRC. We encourage our in-house doctors and
staff to attend these events as guest speakers or participants,
thereby raising awareness of prevention and treatment of
dermatological conditions toward the community. In addition,
our Executive Directors have also contributed articles to
medical journals, which increases the industry awareness of
our RMH and also contributed invaluably to consumers and
professionals across the industry.

The Group will continue to look for new ways to contribute
to the environment and work to help develop a healthy and
sustainable society.
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE HBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT
HRENER ([RRENEE])

A. Environmental
A BE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT : HHK
General Disclosure Information on: Environmental - Emission
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
—MRRE ARRERREREHN HNEKRIHUAREAEEREEEEY RE-HHY
Hy:
@ HBER
) BETHRTAREAZENEBEERADNEH -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Environmental - Emission
B ERUE AT PR AR AR BE -5
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions  Environmental - Emission

(in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

BRERIEEALL Bk (BE1) RepRE% (8E2) REREHNE (UBHE) R (NE  RE-HRY
R)EE (WABESEN BEREHE) -

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Environmental - Emission
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facilty).
BREWIEEALS MESRERENLEE UBHE) R (MER)RE (MABESEN . RE-HHY

BRRIEHE) o
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS #HERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter

Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks

—REE(-REE],/ it HREGNEDT

BRENEE ((BRENER]

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, ~ Environmental — Emission
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

R EBIRIEALS FMELEEEENLEE UBHE) R (MER)RE (WASGESEN . RE-HEY

SRR E)

KPI' A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Environmental - Emission
BREBIRIZALS BT MM E B ERREREL B RARRN TR - BE B
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and - Environmental — Emission
a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BRERUERALG HREREERESEEMNTE BRI IORERRRAES RE-HHY
BB R SR

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 : ERfER
General Disclosure Information on: Environmental
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other - Use of Resource
raw materials.
—RRE RE: B3
BRERER (BRERR KREMRME) BN ER —&RER
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or ~ Environmental - Use of Resource
ofl) in total (KWh in "000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
BRERUERA21 RENAANBERER /SBZER (WE Rin) BFE UTETR BHE-ERER
Bt E) REE (MABESEN BERETE) -
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, Environmental - Use of Resource
per facility).
BREIERA22 BRKERERE (MABESEN SERMHE) - BE-ERER
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE HBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter

Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks

—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT

BRENEE ((BRENER]

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Environmental - Use of Resource
them.

BRERIRIEA2S BTV MERERANEEERAEIELAEMERNLSHE - BE-BRER

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for Environmental - Use of Resource
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

R A RUEIRA2 4 HKEGEAKR LA ERMARE  RATUMAKE B ERRE RE-BRER

HiEL A RMARRAO SR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if Environmental - Use of Resource
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
B R UEIRA2.5 BRmATABEMENER (NS R (NER)BEEEUKE. RE-BREA

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EEA3  RERXARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment  Environmental - The Environment
and natural resources. and Natural Resources

—MRBE RMEBTAHRERRAEREXERT BOBE - BE-BERRARER

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and  Environmental — The Environment
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. and Natural Resources

BRERUERA3A HREREDHRERARERNEAZERERRERFATENT RE-RERRAER
Bo
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS #HERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
HRENER ([MREEE])

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EEA4: RIRZL

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A1

B R EMIRIRA4

B. Social
Bitg

Employment and Labour Practices

EREREIER

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EfR

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B1.1

BRRENUEIRBIA

Description

i

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
B REHERR TR e HBRITAEEYENEARKABEENTE -

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted,
and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage
them.

HAEEL TR EHRITAELY ENEARRABEE REHTT

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BREGMRRE BEREA TERE-RE TE#e 2k RE

R AR H A 538 R A H 8 :

@ BER

b)) BEFHETARERZEMEWEERBINER.

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-time),
age group and geographical region.

IR ERED (W2RARE) FRANEHINEBLH-
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE HBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT
HRENER ([RRENEE])

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Social - Employment
BRBEYIRIER1.2 RIR FRER R EEI D HEERALE He—ER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EmB2  #EHZ2

General Disclosure Information on: Social - Health and Safety
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards
—REE BRR{Z2TERERREESBEBELREN: He-REERE
@B HER
b BETHRTAREAZENEBEERADINEH -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past Social - Health and Safety
three years including the reporting year

AR BBIRIZB2.1 BEZF (BREREE)BERITHMASRIL X He-REREZ:

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Social - Health and Safety

BiRERUEEB2.2 BIGBELTIERS - HE-REREZ2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how  Social - Health and Safety
they are implemented and monitored.

HREBIRIEB2.3 R RANRBERREZ2HE UEBRTRER A& HE-REERS
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX

(BE HEREREERE) Ral

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/

HRENER ([MREEE])

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEB3 : &R R

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B3.1

B E R IRB3A

KPI B3.2

BRENRIEB3.2

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[BEB4 : B TEH

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B4.1

B R A MUIEIRBA

Description

i

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRRIHEERETIERE NABARRRENEE - ML EIET-

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category
(e.g. senior management, middle management).
RERREESER (MEREEE +RERE)ANNZIEET S -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
RURIRESRRIE S BAEETKEIIN T RS-

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BREMIEETRSHSTH:
B HER
b ETHRTABEAYENEBEERAS

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and
forced labour

LR RN R e BT REHST -
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE HBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT
HRENER ([RRENEE])

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. Social - Labour Standards
R BEYIRIERA2 HAEERERBRRERE BB RIS e STk

Operating Practices

EERA

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEB5 : fEEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Social - Supply Chain Management
—fRE ERHERNRE R CRARBR- tE-fERER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Social - Supply Chain Management
B E RUEEBE.1 RiEE S HHREREE - tE-ftEREER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers ~ Social - Supply Chain Management

where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

R BBIRIZBS.2 HREEEARERNEN MEARTERENNRERSRE URE HE-fEEER
BRI RERN %

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Social - Supply Chain Management
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.

R BEBIRIZB5.3 HREHEBAHERGERTORERESERNED AREBNT HE-HERER
RERR -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Social - Supply Chain Management

products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored

MRERIEEB54 HEREREAR RS ARRERRRBOEN URERHTR He-HfEEER
EEF e
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS #HERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGNEDT
HRENER ([MREEE])

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEHR

General Disclosure Information on: Social - Product Responsibility
(@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

—REE HBER: He-Exsf
BRAREEMRBBNRRERS BS SHRRABEE A RER
FER:
@ HE R

) BETHRTABEAYENRBERRADINER-

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety ~ Social - Product Responsibility
and health reasons.

BSR4 B 12B6.1 EEREEREMAHTRL 2 REREAMERKNED L - He-Emaft

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they  Social - Product Responsibility
are dealt with.

MR ERUEEB6.2 REANEm I RBORFHE A REH S - tE-EREL

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual Social - Product Responsibility
property rights.

R BENIRIEB6.3 i E A E RREAEEREBOED - te-EmEE

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Social - Product Responsibility

R B NIRIZB6.4 WL ERTBIERERLKER - He-Emaft

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they Social - Product Responsibility
are implemented and monitored.

BRERIEEB6.5 HHEEERRERILEBEE ARBERITRERR % te-EREE
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RE HBRERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key Description Relevant Chapter
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) or Remarks
—REE(-REE],/ it HREGSEDT
HRENER ([RRENEE])

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7 :RES
General Disclosure Information on: Social - Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
—RRE BELEEE DR BEFREREN: te-REF
@ HBERR
b ETHETAREAZENEBEZRADNEH-
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Social - Anti-corruption
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
B ERUEEBT 1 RERBNHETASEREREVEELANASFARMNEARSF HE8-RAS
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and  Social - Anti-corruption
how they are implemented and monitored.
BRERUEEBT .2 SRR EBREF  URBAERTRER %o te-REF
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Social - Anti-corruption
BRENIERBT.3 HRmMESRE TREMNRETE- te-RE"
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ESG REPORTING GUIDE INDEX
(RS #HERERRERS) RS

General Disclosures (“GD”)/Key
Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)
—REE(-REE],/
HRENER ([MREEE])

Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : #ERE

General Disclosure

—BERE

KPI B8.1

R A NUEIRBS.

KPIBB.2
BRENIEEBS2

Description Relevant Chapter
or Remarks
it HBEESRET
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Social - Community Investment

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into

consideration the communities’ interests.

BB EB2ARTREEMEHBRRERERALKIHEERME HE-HERE
Tl ABER o

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour - Social - Community Investment
needs, health, culture, sport).
EIEREE (MA4E RREEE 415K BR b 8F) - HE-HERE

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Social - Community Investment
EEIERRMBMAAR (e kM) - HE-—HERRE
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@L Partners

TO THE MEMBERS OF RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of RMH
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 203, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BEFERERDARE
(REJEHBAMATHHRA )
TEXRER

B LR RZ F103E2038 &l 2 EHTiE i A
RAR([BRARDEREMNELAR (KBIES
B ) zixe MRk BiER2024F12A31H
ZHAUBRAER URBEZALFEZHRE
BakHEME2ERER GEERZHRIEA
HERERARBREERSHBEER ZEE
BRI A o

EEU T BEEEZGARUBRRBERER -
HRNESZREPTERER AW
BERZERZN BERERBEMNAEE 2%
ZRERBRXEFAMBRRERERER-
EFREEMITH BEERR/EAMBRRERIE
BERAGPI 2 RERELERS
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately S$3,371,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024, and as at 31 December 2024, the Group
had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately S$21,555,000
and S$24,412,000 respectively, which included financial guarantee
liabilities provided for the default borrowings of certain former subsidiaries
in Singapore which were under liquidation (the “Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries”) of approximately S$4,076,000 (the “Default Borrowings”)
and amounts due to them of approximately S$6,800,000 which have
been assigned to an independent external party (the “Assignee”) (the
“Assigned Debts”) during the year ended 31 December 2024, while the
Group’s bank balances and cash was approximately S$566,000 and it
indicated that the Group did not have sufficient bank balances and cash
to settle the financial guarantee liabilities and the Assigned Debts when
they call for immediate repayment.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

As detailed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in view of
the above circumstances, the directors of the Company have prepared
a cash flow forecast of the Group which takes into account certain plans
and measures covering a period of not less than twelve months from
31 December 2024. The validity of the going concern assumption is
dependent on the successful and favourable outcomes of these plans
and measures, as mentioned in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, being undertaken by the management of the Group.
The directors of the Company are in the opinion that, considering the
plans and measures described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which improve the liquidity and financial position of the Group,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve
months from 31 December 2024 and would be able to continue as a
going concern. Accordingly, the directors of the Company prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OPINION (Continued)

The appropriateness of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on the going concern basis depends on whether the plans
and measures, as mentioned in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, taken into account by the directors of the Company in
the going concern assessment are achievable. However, in respect of
the assumptions regarding the successful and favourable outcomes of
the plans and measures being undertaken by the management of the
Company as detailed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
we were unable to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence of
(i) the validity of the facility provided by Mr. Poon, an executive director
and chairman of the Company, (i) whether the Group can successfully
negotiate with Dr. Loh (a former executive director of the Company) for
fullfilments of the conditions so as to discharge the Company’s obligation
over the Default Borrowings; (i) whether the Group can successfully
reaching an agreement with the Assignee for the settlement plans of the
Assigned Debts; (iv) whether the Group can improve its operation through
streamlining its existing non-core business and assets and expansion
of new segment, so as to improve efficiency of assets utilisation and
reducing operating costs; and (v) whether the Group can successfully
pursuing alternative financing options, including plans to bring in new
investors, or to issue for debentures and notes of the Company, or to
issue for new shares of the Company, in order to settle existing debts and
for future operating and capital expenditure, in particular, the uncertainty
of outcome of those plans and measures and how variability in outcome
would affect the future cash flows of the Group.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures that we could adopt to
conclude whether it is appropriate to use the going concern assumption
to prepare these consolidated financial statements.

Should the Group fail to achieve the plans and measures, as mentioned
in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to
be made to write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities. The effect of these adjustments has
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% B R R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards (‘IFRSs”) issued by
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and to issue an auditor’s report. We report
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility forwards or accept liability to any other person for the
content of this report. However, because of the matters described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not
able to form an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements
due to the significant of the matters. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

CL PARTNERS CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wong Cho Yi

Practising Certificate Number: PO7897
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statervent of Profit or Loss and Other Conprehiensive ncome
o 3 45 o B2 L Ath 4 1 YL i R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024412431 H - F /&

2024 2023
20245 20234
S$°000 S$’000
F %7 hn 3 7T T3 T
Revenue U = 6 5,044 3,180
Other operating income Hfib g A 9 184 361
Laboratory fee EhaE (28) -
Registered practitioner expenses A E AR (466) -
Consumables and medical supplies used EREEREEEAR (1,399) (1,637)
Employee benefits expenses EERFMXZ (2,060) (2,363)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 17 (192) (184)
Depreciation of plant and equipment BERZETE 16 92) (134)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEENE 18 (258) (1,485)
Other operating expenses HgeEm (2,533) (1,869)
Finance costs B FS B AR 10 (234) (55)
Other gains and losses, net H ek & B 18 F 5E 11 (220) (338)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss B 5 & E b UL FRIE A K
model on trade and other receivables, RENBEHEERE
and deposits, net of reversal R THUREERE -
MBR#EEEl 20 (1,117) (2,329
Loss before tax BB AER 12 (3,371) (6,853)
Income tax expense TSR 13 = -
Loss for the year FAEE (3,371) (6,853)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hib2m (%), Wz
Item that will not be reclassified to BrEEHIBEREN
profit or loss HE
Exchange differences on translation from M EBHRERZIEEH
functional currency to presentation currency PE N =% (25) -
Item that may be reclassified HeEwEHsEZREN
subsequently to profit or loss HA
Exchange differences on translation on BMEIGINETSHE X Z R
foreign operations (260) 294
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FERHEMAEE (X)) kK
for the year (285) 294
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRAZEFRZAHE (3,656) (6,559)
2024 FJEHTE  EATFEIR AR A 7] 103



Consolidated Staternentt of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehiensive Income
o 3 45 o B2 L Ath 4 1 WYL i R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412431 H - F /&

2024 2023
20244 20234

Notes S$°000 S$’000
gz T 03 T T3 T

Loss for the year attributable to: EhRFEREER:
— Owners of the Company S VNEIE TN (3,506) (6,749)
- Non-controlling interests —IEIE AR 135 (104)
(3,371) (6,853)
Total comprehensive expense EBiEFEAZHEEZEAE:
for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company: B VNGIE Z=UN (3,744) (6,455)
— Non-controlling interests — IR A 2 88 (104)
(3,656) (6,559)
Restated
K E5
Basic and diluted loss per share KATEEAER
attributable to Owners of the Company BEREAR#BESE
(Singapore cents) (35 ) 15 (5.26) (10.25)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
o o W B5IR DL 2

As at 31 December 2024 2024 12/431H

2024 2023
20244 20234

S$’000 S$'000
T # hn3K T TR I T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Plant and equipment B & 16 229 336
Intangible assets mREE 17 48 420
Right-of-use assets CREEE 18 61 252
Deposit b 20 7 =
Investment in a joint venture EENRIKRE 22 - =
345 1,008
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 19 654 993
Trade and other receivables, deposits and B 5 Kk H fth FEULFRIAE -
prepayment e RIENRIE 20 2,402 1,841
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIAS 21 566 306
3,622 3,140
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMENRIEA 23 15,924 10,908
Amount due to a related party JE 1 — & BE S 5 IR 32 1,395 =
Amounts due to directors JENEEFHTE 32 1,105 =
Contract liabilities EHEE 24 1,587 -
Financial guarantee liabilities MEEREE 25 4,076 4,076
Lease liabilities HEARE 26 970 258
Tax payables FERTRETR 8 =
Borrowings [EEA 27 112 =
25,177 15,242
Net current liabilities REEEFEE (21,555) (12,102
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERS (21,210) (11,094)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

o BN DL 2R

As at 31 December 2024 20244 12/431H

2024 2023
20244 20234

S$’000 S$'000

T # hn3 T TR I T

Non-current liabilities *kRBEME
Lease liabilities HERRE 26 3,202 =
Amount due to a related party JE 1< A e 5 BIE 32 - 1,425
3,202 1,425

Net liabilities EEFHE (24,412) (12,519)
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BEXRf#EE
Share capital [N 28 2,303 2,303
Reserves G (21,799) (14,710)
Deficit attributable to owners RAREEAEGEM

of the Company (19,496) (12,407)
Non-controlling interests EERER (4,916) (112
Total deficit 48 B 4 (24,412) (12,519)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 203 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Poon Chun Yin
BREXE
Director

EFE

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Mr. Lee Chung Shun
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Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

Reserves
wE
Foreign
currency Other Share Non-
Share Share translation reserve option Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve (Note) reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
SHEBRE Hiv@E BRE
S R & E 1] (M=) Wt Rt BA Nt FERER CH
S$'000 S$'000 $$'000 5$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 5$'000 S$'000
THMET  FEHIERT  FART O FEMRT  TEMRT O FEMERT FEER TR FEIER
At 1 January 2023 #2023151A 2273 23849 14 2,165 12 (34,701) (6,288) ® (6,296)
Loss for the year FRER = = = = - (6,749) (6,749) (104) (6,853)
Other comprehensive income &R E {12 Mizs

for the year - - 294 - - - 294 - 294
Total comprehensive income A2 AN (AX)

(expense) for the year it - - 294 - - (6,749) (6,455) (104) (6,559)
Exercise of share options e RE 30 372 = = (66) = 336 = 336
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12831A 2,303 24,221 308 2,165 4 (41,450) (12,407) 12 (12,519)
At 31 December 2023and  R2023F12831H &

1 January 2024 2024F1A1A 2,303 24,221 308 2,165 46 (41,450) (12,407) (112) (12,519
(Loss) profit for the year FR(ER) T = - - - - (3,506) (3,506) 135 (3,371)
Other comprehensive expense  ERE M2 AR X

for the year - - (238) - - - (238) (47 (285)
Total comprehensive (expense) FR2 (FI%) 2

income for the year ot - - (238) - - (3,506) (3,744) 88 (3,656)
Deemed acquisition of REREBEHEAR

subsidiaries (Note 31) (FtzE31) - - - (3,345) - - (3,345) (4,892) (8,237)
At 31 December 2024 2024128318 2,303 24,221 70 (1,180) 46 (44,956) (19,496) 4,916) (24,412)

Note: Other reserve represents the proceeds from issue of shares of Unified Front
Limited to a pre-IPO investor and the difference between the share capital of
the Company issued pursuant to the reorganisation and the share capital of
Unified Front Limited acquired by the Company.

On 21 March 2024, the Group completed the deemed disposal of
investment in the joint venture and thereby obtained control of Queen’s Road
Medical Limited (“QR Medical”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “QR Group”), which were previously accounted for as a joint venture
under equity method of accounting. The transaction was part of a group
restructuring with no change in the ultimate equity interest held by the Group
in QR Medical. The total impact of the relevant transactions was adjusted
directly to equity under “Other Reserve”.

MEE:

20245FFEHiET  TEAT IR IR 2 AT

H Aty % #8548 Unified Front Limitedf% {7 317 T &%
ARBEMREENMERE URBREEHA
31T B A2 B AR AN B 2K A 7 U Unified  Front
LimitedP& 2% 2 ] & 22 58

R2024F3 218 AEEBETHRIELEREE
ARAMEE TREBECEBEERAR (2
BER|)REMNBAR (SBAI2CEZRELE])
RS AR g Em SR AGE R
Al R PAEBEEALT S AEERECER
BANERESTEZS BEAXINBTE
BHEARE [HMEH] B TAER-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HOHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

2024 2023
20244 20234

$$°000 S$'000
T 3 b3 T TR BT

Operating activities BETEE
Loss before tax Fx %1 Bl BT 18 (3,371) (6,853)
Adjustments for: B
Finance costs B IS B AR 234 55
Depreciation of plant and equipment BERZETE 92 134
Amortisation of intangible assets EmEEEE 192 184
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEFRE 258 1,485
Impairment losses under expected credit loss B 5 M E b EUKTEIA R IZE R
model on trade and other receivables, BRI EEEEEAB T ZRE
and deposits, net of reversal B8 Mk EE 1,117 2,329
Write-off of other receivables L fth i LS R TE B 8 191 -
Write-off of plant and equipment 5 K % s e 11 =
Write-off of intangible assets WiEEREE 179 =
Write-off of inventories MHEEE 84 =
Write back of other payables L FE A SR IE [B] 8 (51) =
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE &EE W - 43)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets RELIEHEZHREEE AR
upon early termination of lease arrangement BEWE - (58)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE KB AR EE 2 -
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary EEH—EM B A R s (17) =
Fair value changes on financial assets at BAVEFABRZNEREERN
fair value through profit or loss N EEE - 63
Operating cash flows before working LERETEPINKERERE
capital changes (1,079) (2,704)
Movements in working capital: HEE L
Decrease in inventories FERD 356 109
Decrease in trade and other B REMERIE R Rk
receivables, deposits and prepayment TR RIBR 413 1,689
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables & 5 K& H b e~ 3018 Rl ) /80 (340) 1,699
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHBEEEM CRL) 764 (12)
Cash from operations BEERE 114 781
Income tax paid BB - =
Net cash generated from RETEFTBESBE
operating activities 114 781
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HOHERAR
For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

2024 2023
20244 20234

$$°000 S$'000
T 3 b3 T TR BT

Investing activities REEE
Purchase of plant and equipment BERE LR (1) (397)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERQAFEFT ABZEDN
at fair value through profit or loss RS EFTBRIA - 1,544
Net cash outflow from disposal of HE—RHBARZIRE
a subsidiary iR 2 -
Net cash inflows from acquisition of WEEH B A RIIRES RAFEE
subsidiaries (Note 31) (HMI5E31) 145 =
Purchase of intangible assets BEEVEE - (16)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and HERE &R EBATEKIE
equipment - 391
Net cash generated from investing RETEMBREFE
activities 142 1,622
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid BEARFE 4) @)
Repayment of borrowings EEERK = (180)
Repayment of lease liabilities EERHEAE = (1,550)
Repayment to a related party EiE T — R - (1,068)
Proceeds from issuance of shares by TTER AR MBI TR (D FT 1S RUR
exercise of share options - 336
Net cash used in financing activities RETEFTARSEE 4) (2,464)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash RERFSZEMEM OBL) F5E
equivalents 252 (161)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FYREMREEEY
the year 306 512
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREHMTE 8 (45)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRESRBESEEY
the year
represented by bank balances UBRITEBKRBELSRTE
and cash 566 306
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 A e B e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

110

GENERAL

RMH Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability.
Its registered office is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
headquarters and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is at Room 911, 9/F, Cosco Tower, 183 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong. It is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “HKEX?).

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore
Dollar (“S$”), which is different from the functional currency of the
Company, i.e. Hong Kong Dollar (‘HK$”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 were authorised on 28 March 2025 for issue by
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”).

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the applicable IFRS Accounting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB”). For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the GEM Listing Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the HKEX and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 A B e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 22024412531 H 1F F/Z

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

On 28 November 2022 (the “Liquidation Date”), certain former
subsidiaries in Singapore (“Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries”)
were unable to repay the outstanding borrowings to the financial
institutions with principals and accrued interests in an aggregate
amount of approximately S$4,076,000 when due (the “Default
Borrowings”) of which the Default Borrowings were guaranteed by
the Company and were secured by Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (“Dr. Loh”),
a former executive director of the Company. Upon failure to settle
the Default Borrowings when due by the Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries, these Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries were either
ordered to be wound up by the High Court of Singapore or through
voluntary liquidation. The control over the Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries has transferred to the liquidator or judicial manager
in Singapore since the Liquidation Date. As at the Liquidation
Date, except for the financial guarantee provided to the Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries for the Default Borrowings of approximately
S%$4,076,000, the Group has net amounts due to those Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries (including amounts due to them of
approximately $$6,800,000 netting off with amount due from them
of approximately S$2,233,000). Up to the date of this report, the
liquidation is still in progress.

On 24 June 2024, the amounts due to the Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries of approximately $$6,800,000 have been assigned
to an independent external party (the “Assignee”) (the “Assigned
Debts”).

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately S$3,371,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024, and as at 31 December
2024, the Company had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
approximately S$21,555,000 and approximately S$24,412,000
respectively, which included financial guarantee liabilities provided
for the Default Borrowings to the Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries
of approximately S$4,076,000 and the Assigned Debts of
approximately S$6,800,000, while the Group’s bank balances
and cash was approximately S$566,000, and it indicated that the
Group did not have sufficient bank balances and cash to settle the
financial guarantee liabilities and the Assigned Debts when they call
for immediate repayment.

REGEMBERERZEE (®)

2022911 3288 ([ER& B ) - 5T
MFRTHB AR ([ M ELRHBAR])
EAN P HRERV BB AR ER
HRAA S R E T E 25 R 14,076,000
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1B R B NS E BT B A R N
BEER TSBRSEREE 558 A
HAHE - FT N RHT B A R M H D
BYHMNBEEBARFEERA -BER
SEE ERMNEETR -RNERAH B
BLIE A8 B IA FT I3 AR B A AR A
4,076,000 N3 T 2 B S &R HN - N B
FERZEFMEZ BB AR 2 IR FHE
(B ¥EE T 3% & A |) 2 3UIH £96,800,000%7
DN oo 2 Uk 5% S5 /8 5] #92,233,000%7 I3k
THREBZFE) - BHEAREBH BR
AEHEITH
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&R 5 9 Bl %) /&21,5655,000F A1 3 7T K2 49
24,412,000%7 M1 7T+ H o B IE A 5 N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 W 5 A e B e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

2

112

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

These events and conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, and therefore, it may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance
of the Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company has
prepared the cash flow forecast for not less than twelve months
after the end of the reporting period and incorporated certain plans
and measures as stated below. Certain measures have been taken
to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position
which include, but are not limited to, the following:

(i) Mr. Poon Chun Yin (“Mr. Poon”), an executive director and
the chairman of the Board, has granted a loan facility of
HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately S$1,728,000)
on 1 March 2025 to the Company for supporting and
financing the Company’s daily operation purpose;

(ii) The financial guarantee liabilities in the amount of
approximately S$4,076,000 represent the corporate
guarantees provided by the Company for the Default
Borrowings as disclosed in the above, in addition to the
corporate guarantees, the Default Borrowings are also
secured by personal guarantees provided by Dr. Loh and Dr.
Loh has agreed to settle the Default Borrowings by his own
personal resources, and has further agreed not to claim or
take any action against the Group for recourse, subject to
certain conditions.

The Company plans to actively engage in discussions
with Dr. Loh to negotiate the completion of the necessary
conditions to discharge the Company’s obligations over the
Default Borrowings;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

@iy ~ The Group will actively communicate with the Assignee
for agreement of a feasible settlement plan to settle the
Assigned Debts by way of cash (for possible haircut amount),
allotment and issue of shares, bonds, convertible bonds,
combination of above and other settlement methods as may
be acceptable by the parties;

(iv)  The Group will improve its operation through streamlining its
existing non-core business and assets and expansion of new
segment, so as to improve efficiency of assets utilisation and
reducing operating costs;

(vy  The Group is actively pursuing alternative financing options,
including plans to bring in new investors, or to issue for
debentures and notes of the Company, or to issue for new
shares of the Company, in order to settle existing debts and
for future operating and capital expenditure.

The directors of the Company taking into account the above-
mentioned plans and measures are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the
next twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the directors of the Company are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
value of the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to classify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to IFRSs that are effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning
on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7 and
IFRS 7

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7
Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvement to IFRS
Accounting Standards —
Volume 11°

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to IFRS 9 and
IFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature —
dependent Electricities®

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

IFRS 18

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many
of the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement
of profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the financial statements
and improve aggregation and disaggregation of information to
be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some IAS
1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor
amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33
Earnings per Shares are also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early
application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in future financial statements. The Group is in
process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measures at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the material accounting information set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within
the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value adjustments
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value adjustments are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate shares of net
assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
carrying amount of the assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners to the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified or permitted by applicable IFRSSs).

Business Combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are critical to the
ability to continue producing outputs, including an organised
workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are considered unique
or scarce or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or
delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed must
meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC —
Int 21 Levies, in which the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC — Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS12 Income Taxes and
IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

- Lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favorable or unfavorable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, if any, over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at the
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and labilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree, if any, the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interest that are present ownership interest
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or
fair values.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Business Combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtained
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and remeasured under IFRS would be accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed
directly of the previously held equity interest.

Restructuring Transactions

The Group accounts for restructuring transactions by recognising
the difference between fair value of the net assets or liabilities
acquired, non-controlling interests of the acquiree, if any, and fair
value of any previously interest of the acquiree held by the Group
with the consideration transferred directly in equity. This treatment
is applied to transactions undertaken primarily for compliance and
restructuring purposes, where the transaction does not result in
expected future economic benefits (e.g., synergies or goodwill).

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets that meet both of the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

And all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IFRS
9 Financial Instruments (including trade and other receivables,
deposits and cash and cash equivalents) are subsequently
measured at amortised costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired.
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other operating income” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment under
IFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
IFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, deposits and bank
balances). The amount of ECLs is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.

Lifetime expected credit loss (‘ECL”) represents the expected
credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment under
IFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other
hand, the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12m ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence
of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an
actual default occurring.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that related to
the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating performance or results of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory or economic environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are generally more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if the debt instrument has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers information developed internally or from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group) constituting as an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due based on factors considered such as past payment history,
ongoing business dealings, settlement arrangements and financial
status of the debtor, being reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; or

b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; or

C) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The measurement of ECLs is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECLs (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract or invoice and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee, the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL
is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that incur less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor, or any other party.

Where lifetime ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence of significant increases in credit risk at the
individual instrument level may not yet be available, the financial
instruments are grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade
receivables are each assessed as a separate group or
individual basis.);

° Past-due status;
o Nature or industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is reviewed periodically by the management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12m ECL at
the current reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, exchange
differences on the amortised cost of the debt instrument and
receivables that are denominated at foreign currency that are
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period are
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the

substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due
to a related party and directors and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

- the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in foreign currency
and are measured at amortised cost at the end of each reporting
period, the foreign exchange gains and losses are determined
based on the amortised costs of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset and the estimated cost of asset retirement.
The cost of replacing part of an item of plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that
the future economic benefits embodies within the part will flow to
the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the
repair and maintenance of plant and equipment are recognised as
expense in the profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
plant and equipment, less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average basis.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories in the ordinary course of business less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and less any
impairment loss. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (‘CGU") to
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units (“CGUSs”) or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

4

20245FSE G (EITEEIG

2 ER (@)

ﬁ%ﬁ?%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%iﬁ%xéﬁ
R AR 2R 5 48 L WERR - AR L HE R
Ré??iZ%m&%%&ﬁE%ﬁﬁ
FEABEREEIERE YNRIE
EREERAERBTAER -

RERERR  NEBRH EBE &R
ﬁ%%ﬁ?&ﬁ@Tﬁ%ﬁ%mﬂ%éﬁ

E%xﬁﬁ%EWﬁrﬁﬁﬁ%%%%'
SRETTKRENEREES R AEER
EEE (B )WRE - & T A sefhat &5
BEMAKESHEE NEBMGFTEEMN
BREELBEM ([(REELBEMOT
WEEE - HABESER —HNDEE
E PEEEANSREM@MNRSELEM

Uﬁ%@i Efi]) BRI AIREREE
REREESER BN D EEENRK

F@%ﬁﬁéiﬁ&o

ARE B ARFERE L ERARER
EBEMERZREE - NHEEHEERR
T RIRIR SR E To LA R BT 35 IR A AT AT
reEREREE (HKBREELEMN)
BrERBRHRATEIR XN ERE 5
T EREMGARKASRE -

MEEE (KRS ELEM) OMHFTK
CeREREREE NEE(XREE
ABA)WEEERBHEEER KB EE-
V(B 18 T BB N 48 25 BB

H IR 2 ] 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

a»fflil d‘?% i.émjnf

For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

4

132

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives (Continued)

For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a CGU,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of CGUs,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion
of corporate assets allocated to that group of CGUs, with the
In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated to the assets on

recoverable amount of the group of CGUs.

a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) or a group of CGUs is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or CGU) or a group of CGUs in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of
the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past events
but is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
wit sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation, the
part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other parties
is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits will
be required for an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial statements
in the reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of a joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
recognised initially in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture
exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint
venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes a joint venture.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment
in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the Group ceases to have joint control over a joint
venture. It is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within IFRS 9,
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
The difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture at
the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of relevant
interest in the joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture on the
same basis as would be required if that joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or
loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the joint venture is disposed of.

When a Group entity transacts with a joint venture of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the joint
venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the joint venture that
are not related to the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at
inception of the contract based on the definition under IFRS 16.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date of lease
arrangement and do not contain a purchase option). For short-term
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease Liabilities

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

° Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o The amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; and

° Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost
using effective interest method by increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability and netting off with lease
payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

° The lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° The lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using
an initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a
revised discount rate is used).

° When a lease contract is modified, and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case,
the related lease liability is remeasured based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise (i) the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability; (i) lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received; and
(iiiy any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a
right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and estimated useful life of the underlying asset on a straight-
line method from the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss
as described in the Impairment of plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives policy.

RMH HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024

4

EXEER (@)

HE (80

rEEEREEA (B)
EARBEAEEXNRFGERBGREESR
E ERAHEEMEHHASHEBEE
[18 =M E R AP AR E AR ESE
BB AN B - RI AR IR B B & AT 2R RSB 37 R
ERRFAERB-EXNAE-REREER
ERBNERT  KASE AR ERE
BET-

ENTREMERESIZERE KRS L
AIESFE AR fIFRAFEFE - R
MR B A FEM AR AR FRINEEN
R WA AERBEEERA

K& AEAEEERBBEEERN
MR AIEAFS (AREERE)
BABEREFTERE-

EREEENGZAMBINRARIERE LA
B25-

AEEEABR S ERIEICRETE R
EREEERSHIRRE  ARERE &
wil EAEEEARABRAEHRFH
BT B ERE R T AR S E A 2 2R
HEEEARK-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5 B 05 i 2 B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #; 22024%F 12431 H 1 F/E

4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

The Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying
assets to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease in profit or loss. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are
measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

In preparing the financial statements of the individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Foreign currency transactions and translation
(Continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group at exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operations, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the Group’s presentation currency (“S$”) is different from the
Company’s functional currency (“HK$”), exchange differences
relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net (liabilities) assets
to the Group’s presentation currency are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign currency
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control of a promised goods or
service is transferred to a customer.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Trading sales, sales of dental implant and oral healthcare-
related products

Revenue from trading sales, the sales of dental implant and oral
healthcare-related products (“Sales of Healthcare Products”) is
recognised at the point in time when the control of the goods
has transferred, being at the point the goods are delivered to the
customer. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to
the customer’s specific location or customers take the possession
and accepts the products.

Rendering orthodontics and implantology services

Revenue from orthodontics and implantology services (“Dental
Services”) is recognised over time, using an output method to
measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the services.
The progress is measured based on the Group’s stage of each
services provided. Payment is received upfront from patient and
recognised as contract liabilities at consolidated statement of
financial position as at the date payment received.

Income from franchised oral and dental clinics

Revenue from franchisee is recognised over time, using an output
method to measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the
services. The progress is measured based on the franchisee’s stage
of each services provided. The Group receives the entire sales
proceeds from ultimate customers on behalf of the franchisee and
reimburse the sales proceeds back to franchisee after deducting
certain percentage of sales proceeds.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Provision of dermatological service

The Group dermatological services which comprise multiple
number of treatments are sold on a prepaid package basis. The
service period of a prepaid package is generally within one year.
Generally, there are multiple components within the package, the
deferred revenue of each component is an appropriate proportion
of the total transaction price under the contract, allocated between
all the goods and services promised under the contract on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Deferred revenue is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue,
such deferred revenue is regarded as a contract liability in
accordance with IFRS 15.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when the
services have been rendered to customers.

Prepaid package sold are non-refundable and the Group’s
customers may not utilise all of their contracted rights within the
contractual service period. Such unutilised services are referred
to as breakage. An expected breakage amount is determined by
historical experience and is recognised as revenue in proportion
to the pattern of services utilised by the customers. Any residual
deferred revenue at the end of the service period is fully recognised
in profit or loss.

Services which are not sold on a prepaid basis is recognised in full
when the services have been rendered to customers.

Provision of clinical healthcare service

Revenue from clinical healthcare service is recognised at the point
in time when the respective services are rendered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with IFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer.

Contract labilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit/(loss) differs from “loss before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s current tax liability is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries
where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the
reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and investment
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 requirements to the
lease liabilities, and related assets separately. The Group recognises
a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Payments to defined contribution plan are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

For long services payment (“‘LSP”) obligation, the Group accounts
for the employers Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) contributions
expected to be offset as a deemed employee contributions towards
the LSP obligation in terms of IAS 19.93(a) and it is measured on
a net basis. The estimated amount of LSP obligation is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits (being projected and attributed to periods of service)
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested
with employees and would be used to offset the employees’ LSP
benefits, which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period that related services is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING INFORMATION
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimation of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of
the shares options granted is expensed immediately to profit or
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium account. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium account.

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
cash flows comprise cash on hand and at bank that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of
judgements are not expected to have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart
from those involving estimates, which are dealt with below).

Deemed acquisition of subsidiaries and
Deemed disposal of a joint venture

The Group completed a restructuring transaction on 21 March
2024 (the “Transaction Date”) which involving the deemed disposal
of its joint venture, QR Medical, and the deemed acquisition of
QR Medical and its subsidiaries, QR Group, as subsidiaries of the
Group without any consideration received or paid. The transactions
resulted in no change in the ultimate equity interest in QR Medical
held by the Group.

Management determined that the transaction represented a group
restructuring, and no gain or loss or goodwill was recognised.
Details of the transaction are disclosed in note 31.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next twelve
months.

i)

Impairment of trade and other receivables, and deposits

The Group records any ECLs on its trade and other
receivables, and deposits based on the likelihood of default.
During the year, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables, and deposits
taking into consideration the profile of debtors, period
that the amounts were past due, as well as results of any
collection efforts to determine if any credit loss allowance
is required. This led to the recognition of provision of
expected credit loss of trade and other receivables, and
deposits of approximately S$1,117,000 (2023: approximately
S$$2,329,000) in profit or loss.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, and deposits at the end of the reporting period
are disclosed in Note 20.

Impairment of carrying amount of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets with finite
useful lives

Given that continuing losses incurred for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively, the Group
considered the impairment indicator exists for trading sales,
and clinical healthcare and dermatological services business
segments. The Group performed the impairment assessment
of the CGUs where the plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives belong
to by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGUs which
is the higher of the value-in-use (“VIU”) and fair value less
cost of disposal. The Group estimated the VIU by making an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from CGUs and
also applying a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. There is no recognition of
impairment losses for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.
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Weste() [EZHE | DRFATEBEFRRER
BEEMESER: (i) [ TRER] 5 5E
TAEERHTHRE RN —REKBRR
MANREF HERE T & D RRREEEE
o A R R R O B R OF 422 Pl as + e (i) [ e
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KEETEXBEBNREST:

Revenue analysis

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable
for goods sold arising from (i) trading of healthcare and medical
products under “Trading Sales” segment; (i) dental services
rendered by the Group and sales of dental implant and oral
healthcare-related products in normal course of business to outside
customers and income from franchised oral and dental clinics under
“Dental Business” segment; and (i) provision of dermatological
services and clinical healthcare services under “Clinical Healthcare
and Dermatological Services” segment. The following is an analysis
of the Group’s revenue from its major business activities:

REBEKZSHFAOT :

A disaggregation of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
S$’°000 S$’000
F ¥ i 7T F 3T
Types of services and goods: R R iR
Dental services FRIRTE 2,081 1,632
Sales of dental implant and oral SHEEE T KO BRRE
healthcare-related products MHEER 31 246
Income from franchised oral and dental clinics ~ #&F O & & 7T &l 2 Ak 25 25 161
Trading sales B oHE 767 1,141
Provision of clinical healthcare services IR G IR B8 AR (R AR 7% 501 =
Provision of dermatological services TR B RBAR S 1,639 =
Total et 5,044 3,180
Timing of revenue recognition: T RR MK 2 A B ] -
At a point in time AR 2h 1,299 1,387
Over time R — BRI 3,745 1,793
Total #Et 5,044 3,180
20245 EHE;  1EHF IR G IR A A 149
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

On 21 March 2024, the Transaction Date, RMH (Hong Kong)
Holdings Limited ("RMH HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Ms. Tse, being the existing shareholder of QR
Medical entered into the shareholders’ agreement (“Shareholders’
Agreement”). Upon appointment of Mr. Poon and Mr. Loke Wai
Ming ("Mr. Loke"), executive directors of the Company, as board of
directors of QR Medical, the Company has obtained control over
QR Medical, and QR Medical has become the subsidiary of the
Group. Since then, the Group has expanded its clinical healthcare
and dermatological business in Hong Kong as a new business
segment. Details of the transaction are disclosed in Note 31.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services, and has three (2023: two) reportable
segments for continuing operations as follows:

Dental business;

i. Trading sales; and

ii. Clinical Healthcare and Dermatological Services business.

Dental business relates to revenue from orthodontics and
implantology services, sales of related products and income from
franchised oral and dental clinics.

Trading sales relates to supplies of health supplement products and
medical products including hand sanitiser, disposal medical mask
and other medical products.

Clinical Healthcare and Dermatological Services business relates
to revenue from provision of clinical healthcare and dermatological
services.

Management monitors the operating results of the business
segments separately for the purposes of making decisions
about resources to be allocated and of assessing performance.
Information is reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) of the
Group, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment. The CODM reviews the segment performance based
on operating profit or loss which is similar to the accounting profit
or loss.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment
as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Unallocated expense and income comprise of expense and
other sources of income which are not directly attributable to the
identified segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are on terms’ agreement in
a manner similar to transactions with third parties at the then
prevailing market prices. Segment revenue, expenses and results
include transfers between business segments. These transfers are
eliminated on consolidation.

Segment results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

& M aN
n =

2 EB (&)
DHEECRERRER D MAERE AU
RAIGEHRMIER - Ao A< RIKA
BREYIFEXRBRE R DR R
H U AR ©

"*BF'?%%&@;%&MEM&% R 5K
FRERERB® RE mﬁf_ﬁon
B A REEREEB S B ZEAD
B 2 EEB N A ARSI -

7 ERR AR
AT RERA SR/ B A EEMRSRER
B 53T -

B F20244F 12431 5 1F F/Z

Clinical

Healthcare and

Dermatological

Trading Services

Dental business sales business

R

BRRER

REN RS
FRER ESHE % st
$$'000 $$'000 $$'000 $$'000
THME T TH MK T FH M T

Revenue g

External customers PREP 2,137 767 2,140 5,044
Segment revenue DEkE 2,137 767 2,140 5,044
Consumables and medical supplies used ERERGREERR (758) (313) (328) (1,399)
Laboratory fee ERZER - - (28) (28)
Registered practitioner expenses HREERS - - (466) (466)
Segment profit AE A 1,379 454 1,318 3,151

20245 XA EHF PR IR 2 AT
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

R& 5 (&)

nT E ]J
o %B%m nﬁ
B 72023512531 H1FFIZ

Dental Trading

business sales Total

UREES B HHE st

S$°000 S$°000 S$°000

TR FERMET  FERNET

Revenue E

External customers INREF 2,039 1,141 3,180

Segment revenue 7 SR 2,039 1,141 3,180

Consumables and medical supplies used  © FAH #E 50 M 28 & 5 (824) (813) (1,637)

Segment profit PaR=i el 1,215 328 1,543
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same AHRED BB BORERER 2 5K

as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit represents
the profit earned by each segment without allocation of central
administration costs and employee benefits expenses, other
operating income, other gains and losses, net, depreciation and
amortisation, impairment losses and finance costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as the
CODM does not regularly review such information for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers was mainly derived
from its operation in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”), and the non-current assets of the Group were
located in Hong Kong and the PRC as at 31 December 2024 and
2023.

R (#)

i 38 &
AEBERBINRBEFNREEZRAER
EXNREARLFE ([HE])HEE:
MR 20244F K 2023F12 A31H » AN & E #Y)
ERBEETIUREE M HE-

2024 2023
20244 20234
S$’000 S$’000
T 57 hn% 7T T30 T

Revenue from external customers: REMPREFH W :
Hong Kong BE 2,907 1,141
The PRC H 2,137 2,039
5,044 3,180

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

A EWBERUE P ERKE -

Non current assets* kRBEE

Hong Kong B 76 645

The PRC A 262 363
338 1,008

2 Non-current assets exclude financial instruments. * IEnBEETRSERIA-

Information about major customers

Revenue from external customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as
follows:

Customer A — trading sales segment

BEPA-—HEFHE DA

FREEEFHNEHR
AR B BB B AN % B4R I 2510%K9 51
HE S Yz M T -

2024 2023
20244 20234

S$°000 S$°000

T # h03 T THT AT

Note Fff &£ 936

Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group.

MizE: HEKSTESBASEEAKZEZ
#10% °

20245 XA EHF PR IR 2 AT 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Zon o IV 5 fl 2 B e

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 22024412431 H I-F/E

8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8 EEREEMS
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments BEERFETHAEMS

AEEETERBENKENARREER
ARBEBTHAENME (BERKA
AAREEMEEAEEETERESY
RGN E) AT

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company
and chief executive of the Company (including emoluments for
services as directors of the entities comprising the Group prior to
becoming the directors of the Company) by the entities comprising
the Group are as follows:

Contributions
Salaries and to retirement

allowances benefit scheme Total

BRI
B At
$$'000 $§$'000 $$'000 $§'000

g FaRRE

TH MK T MR THME T T BT

154

For the year ended 31 December 2024 B22024512B31ALFE
Executive Directors (Note d) HTES (Md)
Mr. Poon Chun Yin (appointed on 21 February 2024) &R E 4 (20245221 RERT)

(Chairmer) () - 35 - 35
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated from an HE&LA (R2023F1A318

independent non-executive director on RBUERATESREY

31 January 2023 and resigned on 1202452 A28 A BHT) (Miztb)

28 February 2024) (note b) 52 16 2 70
Mr. Lee Chung Shun (Deputy Chairman) FRBRALE (FLE) - 123 4 127
Mr. Cui Han (appointed on 21 February 2023) EREE (R2023F2R21 HEER) - 103 - 103
Mr. Loke Wai Ming (appointed on 21 February 2024)  FEfZBA %4 (R2024E2 A21 HEZRAT)

(Note a) (Mfsta) - 35 - 35
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Note ¢) BYEHTES (fize)

Mr. Chau Wing Nam (appointed on 21 March 2024) % 4 (20246321 REZ ) 13 - - 13
Mr. Yeung Pok Man Peason B4 (R202453R21 HEER )

(appointed on 21 March 2024) 13 - - 13
Mr. Cheung Tsu Lun (@ppointed on 21 March 2024 RiT A s (R2024F3A21 AEER T

and resigned on 12 November 2024) W 2024411 B 12 B BHE) 11 - - 2
Ms. Chong Wai Shan (appointed on 27 March 2024) &M+ (R2024E3 827 R EZ(T) 13 - - 13
Ms. Chan Siu Mat (appointed on 12 November 2024)  B/N\&i& £ (2024511 A12BEZ ) 2 - - 1

104 312 6 422
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202412531 H IFF/E

8

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Executive Directors (Note d)
Dr. Loh Teck Hiong (ceased on 11 May 2023) (Note c)

HZ2023F 12 AILEE

HITES (fititd)
Loh Teck Hiong 4 (202354118

Fee

e

S$'000
TH MK

EEREENS (&)

EERTETHAENE ()

Contributions
to retirement
benefit scheme

Salaries and
allowances

R ER)

FeREM
$§'000

THMET TH IR

*
S$'000
THMET

#E8) (Bitc) 448 - - 448
Mr. Yang Zhangxin (re-designated from an HESLA (R2023F1A31A

indlependent non-exective director on HBUIFRTEZARL

31 January 2023 and resigned on 120242 A28 A EHE) (Miztb)

28 February 2024) (Note b) 96 - &) 99
Mr. Lee Chung Shun FREEE 119 - 3 122
Mr. He Weiging (resigned on 21 February 2023) & %4 (R2023F2 A21 RBHT) %] = 2 9%
Mr. Cui Han (appointed on 21 February 2023) EREE (R028F2R21 BEZR ) 88 - - 88
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Note ¢) BUHTEES (Mite)

Mr. Loke Wai Ming (Disqualify on 9 November 2023) (&8R4 4 (742023411 A9R

(Note a) WEUHER) (FiiEa) 18 = = 18
Mr. Luo Honghui (resigned on 9 October 2023) BS54 (R2023F10A9REHT) 16 = = 16
Ms. Li Yin Fai (resigned on 17 November 2023) THELT (R20235F11 A17EBHE) 18 - - 18
Mr. Liu Fei (appointed on 31 January 2023 and IR AL (R2023E1 B31AER TR

resigned on 4 December 2023) 12023F12 A4 R BHE) 17 - - 17

913 - 8 921

20245 EHE;  1EHF IR G IR A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments
(Continued)
Notes:

a) On 9 November 2023, the Group passed a board resolution to
disqualify Mr. Loke Wai Ming as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 9 November 2023 due to
the absence of Mr. Loke Wai Ming from the board meetings for six
consecutive months, i.e. since 16 February 2023, without special
leave of absence from the board.

And Mr. Loke Wai Ming was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 21 February 2024.

b) Mr. Yang Zhangxin was re-designated from an independent non-
executive director of the Company to an executive director of the
Company on 31 January 2023 and resigned on 28 February 2024.

c) Dr. Loh Teck Hiong was vacated by resolutions of the Annual General
Meeting and ceased to be an executive director of the Company with
the effect from 11 May 2023.

d) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company.

e) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments were for their

services as directors of the Company.

None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during both reporting periods. No emolument
were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included the three (2023: three)
executive directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures above. The emoluments of the two
(20283: two) individuals were as follows:

EEREENE (&)

BEERFETHAEMES (@)

B & -

a) M2023FE11AR - KAEBRBEES
RERCIHEEBEENAARE
Y IEMITE EE IS B2023F 11 A9H
RB AR TR 2 B {2 A 5T 4 B 202342
AleBRBENEAREESS S
BXRmEZBRESHERIR-

FEZ B ER2024F2 A21 B ER T A
RARMITES -

b) 1BEHZLEN20235F1 A31ARADQT
BYIRATEEATALRARRITE
FIWR2024F2 28 H BHT -

c) Loh Teck Hiong®E £ RIER KB F K S
B R SRR - I B2023F58 118
RABELADRARTES-

d LEXATRHNATEEME IREEE
BARFEERMERB XA -

e BIUFNTEEMIRBFELSAR
REERRMRIRB XA -

RAEHREHE BERNARESTHESL
REREZETANe AEEHRERNEEX
NME ERMARKESIRNMAREE
By ) 75 DX Sl BB AR 1 o

EBEEME
AEEERFALTEREARNR =4 (20234F :
—R)RTES EMEER A L HE-
MG (20234 : WA ) A THIE € 5 540
—F:

2024 2023

20245 20234

S$°000 S$’000

T 57 N3 T T ¥k T

Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e EAREMBR 204 225
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme ROREFIFT B 6 6
210 231
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 8 EEkEEME @)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Employees’ emoluments (Continued) EEME (@)
The five highest paid individuals including the directors of the IEERFAT(BERRRES) N
Company whose remuneration were within the following bands: BT LA T 4R B -
2024 2023
20244 20234
Nil to S$174,000 (equivalent to Nil to T 174,000%1 h13k T
HK$1,000,000) (A& M Z =1,000,000/87T) 5 4
S$174,001 to S$261,000 (equivalent to  174,001%7 A% 7T Z=261,0005 HlK 7T
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000) (FBE 71,000,001 T E
1,500,000/ 7¢.) - =
S$261,001 to S$348,000 (equivalent to 261,001 3% 7T Z=348,000% Hl 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000) (& 71,500,001 L=
2,000,0007 7T ) - -
S$348,001 to S$435,000 (equivalent to 348,001 ET S35 7T E435,000% h13k 7T
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000) (FBE 72,000,001 TTE
2,500,000/ 7T ) - =
S$435,001 to $$522,000 (equivalent to 435,001 3% 7T E522,000% HlK 7T
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000) (& 72,500,001 L E
3,000,000/ 7T ) - 1
5 5

AEBYEATAZRHTAL (BREAR
AESR)XNERMMEERMARSEEX
AR 7 B2 B8 B 1) 55 R ol B B 1S o

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals, including directors of the Company, as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office.
9 OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9 HigEWA

2024 2023
20244 20234
S$°000 S$’000
T hn 3 o T3 T
Other rental income H L WA 52 203
Write back of other payables 188 (5] B {th FE A< 3R 0H 51 -
Rental income of leasing of medical equipment & BERENHE LU A 33 =
Others Eh 48 158
184 361
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 22024412431 H I-F/E

10 FINANCE COSTS

10 BAFRA

2024 2023

2024 20234

S$°000 S$'000

F 7 hn 3 7o T3 AN T

Interest expense on borrowings BRFERAEZ 22 2
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEAEMNEMEZ 212 53
234 55

11 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

11 HttlEREEFE

2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
S$°000 S$°000
F 3 b0 T T 37 N T
Net exchange gains/(losses) &5 Uz (E518) 38 146 (376)
Write-off of other receivable (Note (a)) 31 55 E At PR UK IE (ME Rk (a) ) (191) =
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 31(b)) HE—RHERBARZ
fEa (MEE31()) () -
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets REKRIEHASZHELE
upon early termination of lease arrangement EAEEER (H:E18)
(Note 18) - 58
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary BUB i — R B A R 2 s
(Note 31(c)) (M3EB1(0) 17 =
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment HERE & Was - 43
Write-off of intangible assets (Note 17) WeEEREE (H:E17) (179) =
Write-off of plant and equipment (Note 16) WSH R B R A% (FizE16) (11) =
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair BEATEFABENEREE
value through profit or loss A EEES = (63)
(220) (338)
Note (a): The amount of approximately S$191,000 (2023: approximately Mi5E(a) - & 58 £9191,000%T M4 T (20234 :

S$$196,000) represents the advance payment to an independent
third party for a co-operative arrangement which have been
terminated during the year ended 31 December 2024, since the
respective amount is non-refundable in nature, therefore, the
amount has been fully written off.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202412531 H IFF/E

12 KRB AIE B
BRBAIEED R TSE:

12 LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:

13

2024 2023
20244 20234
S$°000 S$'000
F 57 fn 7T T3 T
Audit fees EZER 278 228
Employee benefits expenses: EERFFAX:
Directors’ remunerations (Note 8) EEEHM (MFE8) 422 921
Other staff costs Efh 8 TR
— salaries, bonus and other benefits —He e REMEF 1,581 1,420
— contributions to retirement benefit scheme — R AIET B R 57 22
Write-off of inventories (included as WMiEEE (PIEEEA
consumables and medical supplies used) HEGKREERM) 84 =
Consultancy fee BRE 467 3
Legal and professional fee FRREEER 858 389

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision of income tax arising in Hong Kong and the PRC in
the current and prior years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable taxable profits for the year.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT”) is calculated at the
applicable rates in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC. Under the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is
25%.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

13 FEHAxX
R ERBEFEL RFHEREERFE
BB B -

BB TG T A FE E (5T FE R R A%
16.5% (20234 : 16.5% ) T K&t & o

PECEMSER ([REMER]) HRE
FEEEERERIRERKRRAE - RIE
CREAREMBDEMBRE) (T2
Fr88A]D) REEEMBBIAEHIEH -
B Fff 8 2 R A B R B25% o

RER IERAX A EEAEREREM
EEW SRR AT RS RRN T

other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
S$°000 S$’000
T % hn i o T3 T
Loss before tax W 35 BB 18 (3,371) (6,853)
Tax at applicable tax rate ERABENTIE (556) (1,119)
Expenses not deductible under tax AR 161 651
Income not subject to tax BARBUBA (169) 69)
Tax effect of temporary difference not RERGRHEZR I METE
recognised 140 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously not RIERFLAEAHEEIE 2
recognised wa (122) -
Effect of unutilised tax losses not recognised RERRDABBEIE R 546 537
Income tax expense Fr8 X = =
20245FJE TG EITHEIR B IR 2 A 159
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 22024412431 H I-F/E

13 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13 FiBHEAX (#)
Subject to the agreement by the tax authority at the end of IRIR A R BA R B A5 M B BT <7 A9 1 -
the reporting period, the Group has unutilised tax losses of ZNE2 875 #917,986,000% i3 7T (20234 :
approximately S$17,986,000 (2023: approximately S$6,207,000) #16,207,000%7 N4 7T ) &) R B) A Bl 1B &5 18
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has AT AR 4 85 R 2R 5 1 o B R A BB TE ORISR 2R
been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. EAR M EEREERIBEE -

14 DIVIDENDS 14 K2
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for EESTEEREZT2024F12A31H ILF
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). FE R R EPAR B (20234 : &) -

15 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE 15 ARREEAELBRERK#
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE HER

160

COMPANY

2023
2023%F
Restated
KB
Loss attributable to owners of the Company NAREE ANEHEE
(S$'000) (FHrn%T) (3,506) (6,749)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 2 217 & @A N F 15 1
in issue ('000) (Note) (F&) (H3E) 66,600 65,816
Basic and diluted loss per share EREARKEEER
(Singapore cents) (¥ ) (5.26) (10.25)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options since their assumed
exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share.

Note:
The weighted average number of shares for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2024 has been adjusted for the share consolidation with effect on
26 November 2024 (Note 28).
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

16 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16 MERRHE

Computer and

Medical office Leasehold
equipment equipment  improvement Total
BRER HE
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000

FHMET FHME T FHMET FHME T
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H 1,292 23 310 1,625
Additions nE 390 7 - 397
Disposals HE (387) @ - (391)
Exchange alignments ik (20) (1) @ (29)
At 31 December 2023 H2023%F12A318 1,275 25 306 1,606
Additions RE - 1 - 1
Write-off HsH - (19) (18) @7)
Exchange alignments [ 5 A% 1 - - 1
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 1,276 7 288 1,571
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: 3T ERFE:
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 518 1,165 = 34 1,199
Provided for the year FREE 67 18 49 134
Eliminated on disposals HE R (42) (1) - (43)
Exchange alignments i 5 A% (18) ) ) (20)
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 1,172 16 82 1,270
Provided for the year FREE 24 11 57 92
Write-off HsH - (14) (12) (26)
Exchange alignments [& 5 A& 4 - 2 6
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 1,200 7 129 1,342
Carrying value: IREE:
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31H 77 - 152 229
At 31 December 2023 7M2023F12A31R 103 9 224 336

Btz KR B &R A RIS EEER
BUATFERELRUEREENE:

The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis after taking into account of their residual values
at the following rates per annum:

Medical equipment 20% to 33% bl 20%%E33%
Computer and office equipment 20% to 33% ESN NG N 20%%E33%
Leasehold improvement Shorter of 5 years or HEMERE AT E iR

over the lease term
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

16 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 16 BERRE (@)
REE2024F12831B Lt FE -HELH
BIMi% B RBARBUARE SR
& i B R (B 5 B /5 #95,000%T 11 3% 7T &%
496,000 135 7T 1 84 2 [ H 4t Uk o5 Jo s 48
SEEE | Thyigas (a1 -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the net carrying
amounts of computer and office equipment and leasehold
improvement of approximately S$5,000 and approximately S$6,000
respectively are written-off to profit or loss in “other gains and
losses, net” (Note 11) upon maturity of a lease arrangement.

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BRLEE
Software
B4
S$’000
T3N3 T
Cost: RS :
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1H 956
Additions NE 16
Exchange alignments P H A (14)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023% 12 A31H K&2024%F1A1H 958
Write-off W sH (855)
Exchange alignments PE B 2
At 31 December 2024 MR2024F12/831H 105
Accumulated amortisation: REtEe
At 1 January 2023 H2023%F1A1H 348
Provided for the year FARE 184
Exchange alignments ME 5, 8 B 6
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023412 A31H K&2024%1A1H 538
Provided for the year FARME 192
Write-off i sH 676)
Exchange alignments PE B 3
At 31 December 2024 H2024%12H31H 57
Carrying value: BREME
At 31 December 2024 MR2024F12/831H 48
At 31 December 2023 R2023F 12 H31H 420

ZEBEVEERBEBEORMS A&
A fE R 65

REE2024F12A31B It F B REEL

The intangible assets represents software purchased from vendors
with an estimated useful lives of 5 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the software used
in Hong Kong office has been written off to profit or loss in BRI - BA M EE T E B R
“other gains and losses, net” (Note 11) upon maturity of a lease Z[HEmli=mkEEFE] PrEms (M
arrangement. 11) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202412531 H IFF/E

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18 EAKEE
The movements of right-of-use assets during the year are as FRERAEEESISNT
follows:
Leased
properties
HEYE
S$°000
T IT
Net carrying amounts at 1 January 2023 #2023F1 A1 8 2 BREFE 2,586
Disposals (Note a) & (FisEa) (825)
Depreciation for the year FAIE (1,489
Exchange alignments M 5 SR B (24)
Net carrying amounts at 31 December 2023 M2023F 12431 H &
and 1 January 2024 20241 A1A 2 BREF A 252
Addition NE 66
Depreciation for the year FAIE (258)
Exchange alignments (RS 1
Net carrying amounts at 31 December 2024 2024F12 A31H 2 REFE 61
Notes: B 5 -
(@  During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has early (@ E E2023F12A31BItFE - KE

terminated lease arrangement, and therefore, the carrying amounts of
respective right-of-use assets of approximately S$825,000 and lease
liabilities of approximately S$883,000 are derecognised resulting in
a gain in early terminating of a lease arrangement of approximately
S$$58,000 recognised under “other gains and losses, net”.

BIRERIEAERH B IETERE
8 { FA & 1& 7E A9 BR 1 1E.£9825,000%T 1N
% T R & & (& #9883,000%T M3 7T
EEHilz REIEFEI B TIER
ZIRFRIETE R HE 2 W e 4958,000
T e

()  During the year ended 31 December 2024, addition to right-of-use (o) BIZE2024%F12A31HILFE - £766,000

assets of approximately S$66,000 (2023: Nil) represents lease of a
office premise in Hong Kong for a lease period of 2 years.

The Group leases several leasehold properties for office and clinics
purpose at fixed rentals. The average lease term is 2 to 5 years

(2023: 2 to 5 years).

The total cash outflows for leases are under financing activities
are Nil (2023: approximately S$1,550,000) and under operating
activities as short term leases as approximately S$62,000 (2023:
approximately S$43,000) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

¥ 03 7T (20234 - ) ML AR A E
%%E%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ2¢1ﬁﬁé§%ﬂ’ﬂ%¥@
E

NEBRETHSHEAREBRSYEUE
WARZE AR - FHHEEB2E5F (2023
FFBE) o

H E2024F12A31B I FE - @& E T
BTIHENBBESRE AT (2023F : 4
1,550,000% A0 3% 7T ) - M 4& = E B IE T 52
HIF & /43R € 7 I 4 A62,000%7 h3 7T
(20234 : #743,000%7 03 T ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

19 INVENTORIES 19 FE&

2024 2023
2024 20234

S$'000 S$'000
T # o0 3K 5T TR AN T

Consumables and medical supplies SHIER R BB A M 654 993
During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain inventories have HZE2024F12AC1IALEE ETHER
been expired and therefore, approximately S$84,000 (2023: nil) of B HE - A 1t - 17 5 4984,000% hn 7T (2023
inventories are write-off and include as cost of consumables. F\E)EMBEIIERBRERKAALR-

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 ESZRKHMEWNKE -REKHE
AND PREPAYMENT f+ |

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

S$$’000 S$°000
&0 T T AN T

Trade receivables =) A& 2,721 2,338
Less: Loss allowances on trade receivables B SR GRIER B R (2,016) (2,018)
705 320
Deposits (Note (a)) Ze (Mis@) 2,106 2,522
Prepayment TET IR 301 627
Other receivables (Notes (b) and (c)) H fth fE WK IE (M EE(0) R (c)) 3,052 1,050
Other tax receivables H AR IE 68 -
Less: Loss allowances on other receivables W B E W SRIE IR S B
and deposits B (3,823) (2,678)

Amount due from a joint venture — non-current  JEUA & A B1FIE — IERED

(Note 32) (MI5E32) - 1,730
Less: Loss allowances on amount due B ERA & R RIFIER
from a joint venture (Note 31) i8R E (5E31) - (1,730)
2,409 1,841
Less: non-current deposit A JERN iR € (7) -
2,402 1,841
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 # 2202412431 H 1 F/&

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(@

Included in deposits are mainly for deposits for purchase of
inventories in previous years of approximately S$1,964,000 (2023:
approximately S$1,946,000) and in view of long outstanding, such
amount has considered as credit-impaired and full provision of loss
allowance has provided as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Included in other receivables are mainly refunded for deposits for
purchase of medical equipment and inventories in previous years of
approximately S$718,000 (2023: approximately S$712,000), and in
view of long outstanding and financial difficulty of counterparty, such
amount has been fully impaired as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Included in other receivables mainly included amounts due from
Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries of approximately S$2,233,000
(2023: Nil). In regard of the amounts due to Singapore Liquidated
Subsidiaries of approximately S$6,800,000 are transferred to the
Assignee during the year ended 31 December 2024, the amounts
due from Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries could not be offset with
the Assigned Debts thus, amounted to approximately S$2,233,000
are transferred to “other receivables” at 31 December 2024
(2023: the amount nets off against other payables) and in view
of long outstanding, provision of loss allowance of approximately
S$1,112,000 up to estimated recoverable amount based on the
estimated financial position as at 31 December 2024 has provided at
31 December 2024.

20 EFREMEBERFTIE REKA
A ()

GEX

(@)

20247F FE i #57

e T ERENRBEEEABERSE
R)4Z & 491,964,000 103 7T (20234 :

#91,946,00057 103 7T ) » M ER R EIR
BE ZRECERAEERELE
20244 2023912 A31H B &t it
E 1B -

HthBEURREZTEZBEREERERT
FTEREEBERBREENKSYD
718,000%T N3 7T (20234 : #J712,000
g EREFARBABRK
o 3R B R 0 3% BE B R2024F K
2023F 12831 B EEURE

H b fE U ZRTE = BB I R UK ET N3 E
22 B B R 7] 89 3% 78 492,233,000 A1 3
7 (20234F : £ o & {5 37 hn 3 % 25 BT
JB /A ] FXIA 496,800,000 i3 TR &
FE2024F12A3 AL EFEEEREA
JE MR T AN 485 AR BT B R R) SR IB N A
AR E R - It - BIA4Y2,233,000
AN T R2024F12 A1 HERHE [H
T FE UL ZRIE | (20234 : H i fE 5 k1B
R MERKRERERE AQRF
B R2024F12 A31 BT IR B B B B 4
1,112,000%71 M3 T - H £ R #52024F
128318 BT SRR E /Al B
W58 o
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166

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables of the Group
presented based on invoice dates, net of expected credit loss
allowances for the trade receivables from the customers at the end
of each reporting period:

20

ESRHEHMEWRNRE RERE
IR (40

AT REREHRZKAESNE S B
HEHRA ML AEEE S REUHIE (0
RIS ER ARG WERE D -

2024 2023

20244 20234

S$°000 S$’000

F %7 in3% 7T T3 N T

0-30 days 0£30H - 320
30-60 days 30£60H - -
60-90 days 60290H - -
Over 90 days FB3E90H 705 =
705 320

Loss allowances for trade receivables has been measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the
debtor’s operate.

The Group granted credit terms ranging from 30 days to 90 days
(2023: 30 days to 90 days) to customers after the delivery of goods
for trading segment.
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 ZEZNHMEWRFE RERKTE

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

For dental business and clinical healthcare and dermatological
services business segments, the Group's trading terms with
its customers are mainly on credit card settlements and other
institutional customers. The credit period is generally O to 120
days for the credit card settlements from the respective financial
institutions and other institutional customers. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control are its outstanding receivables and overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by the management. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements are
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

As at 31 December 2024, amounting of approximately
$%$2,005,000 (2023: approximately S$1,951,000) trade receivables
are past due of over 90 days, and by considering the repayment
history, the balances are considered as default and full expected
credit loss allowance has recognised.

The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables that are
neither individually significant nor credit-impaired by collective basis
based on past due status of customers as follows:

Trading sales
As at 31 December 2024:

A (80)

T 5 o 2675 I R PR B8 R R A B I AR TS 3
Boims AEEEEFPHRZIERE
ERERATEEREMEBEEF -S2/
BEMHEOEETPRRHENEATREED
EEH—RBOE120K « N & B B B A%
ZHIEREERYGIE BEEESE R
B NEE Y EE B R
RESHFEEERRREMEERTT-
B 5 WA B -

R2024F128318 B 5 EWRFIBLY
2,005,000%F 1N 7T (20234 : #J1,951,000
N IT) B @A B Bo0K - £ E B E K
B ZERERBED WEBEREH
EEBERE-

REE D HIRIE AT R 8 AR R IR E
RBEERREZHRUFENEHEHREE
B ZEEZEUREARFEENEX

FARMBEERE:

R20244 125318 :

Weighted
average Gross
expected Carrying Life time
loss rate Amount ECLs
ey 2HIFEH
FEHEIEE BERMEE FEEEE
S$’000 S$°000
FHMET FHMOET
Current (not past due) BVER (R HEA) 1.5% 716 (11)
Less than 1 month past due A A1 A 18 Ef 6.13% - -
More than 3 months past due % FA31E A s HR 100% 2,005 (2,005)
2,721 (2,016)
20245F X EHF PR IR 2 AT 167



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 0 05 ol A B i

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 22024412431 H I-F/E

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 ZEZRHMEWFE - -ZEKE

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Trading sales (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023:

T FRIE ()
BEZHEE @)

202312314 -

Weighted
average Gross

expected loss Carrying Life time

rate Amount ECLs

I 13 EHAH
FEHEER AAREE EREE
S$'000 S$'000

THIMEIT  TETANSET

Current (not past due) BIVHA (AR HER) 1.5% 1 1)
Less than 1 month past due D A1{E A 8 Hf 17.4% 386 (66)
More than 3 months past due % FA31E A s HR 100% 1,951 (1,951)

2,338 (2,018)

There are no trade receivables arisen from dental business and
clinical healthcare and dermatological services business segments
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: no trade receivables arisen from
dental business).

In respect of other receivables and deposits at 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group estimated the loss allowances on an
individual basis. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
loss allowance are measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL of
approximately S$3,823,000 (2023: approximately S$2,678,000),
taking into account the probability of default and loss given default
of respective balances.
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20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20 ZEZNHMEWRFE RERKTE

AND PREPAYMENT (Continued) 3 7IE (@)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and B 5 R E M EWGRIE A Rz e 0 B IE R E
other receivables, and deposits are as follow: BREBMT :

Other receivables and Amount due from

Trade receivables deposits a joint venture Total

BaEYFHA HtERRERESE ER-BaERRRE -

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 2024%F  2023F 2024  2023F 20245  2023F
$$'000 S$'000 $$'000 S$'000 $$'000 S$'000 $$'000 S$'000

FHMERT FHMET FHORT THMET FTHEMET FTHMET FHRMET FHngr

As at 1 January M1A18 2,018 1,654 2,678 762 1,730 1,757 6,426 4173
Impairment losses recognised £ RHERAFE

during the year B8 331 383 1,120 1,946 - - 1,451 2,329
Release upon deemed disposal A fEHE—H

of a joint venture (Note 31) BENABEE

(M3E31) - - - - (1,732) - (1,732 =

Reversal of provision of trade BEE SENTE

receivables B (334) - - = = = (334) -
Exchange alignments [ 5 AR 1 (19) 25 (30) 2 27) 28 (76)
As at 31 December M12A31H 2,016 2,018 3,823 2,678 - 1,730 5,839 6,426

21 BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21 RITHEBRES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, bank balances and cash 20244 K2023%F12 A31H  IR1T6E % K&
comprise cash on hand and at banks which are not restricted as REBBEAREEANFER S RRITR
to use. Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily ®oRITHESBEE HRITERFELE
bank deposit rates. Eh 7 R BREVF B o
Included in bank balances and cash are amounted to $R1T 45 84 ) IR & B 5 £9314,000%F 3% 7T
approximately S$314,000 (2023: approximately $S$211,000) which (20234 : 9211,0008T I L) * ZF KB
are denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and subject to foreign UARB(TARKE D EFERZINEE &
exchange control regulations or not freely transferable. 1B R il sk AT B AR -
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalent is limited because ReMBEEEMNEERKRAEER
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by BREFHAEBERERATAKER TS
international credit-rating agencies. As such, no loss allowance is =BT ERTT o A Il - 720244 %2023
recognised at 31 December 2024 and 2023. F12A31 A MRS R -
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22 |INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 22 SEATRE

2023
20234

S$'000 S$'000
T # o0 3K 5T TR AN T

Cost of investment B2 8 =YD - 2,651
Share of loss EIEEE - (1,093)
Less: Loss allowance on investment WA ERRREEBIERE
in a joint venture - (1,558)
A review of the recoverable amount of the joint venture led to the B ZE2020F12AG1A L FE HAZE AT
recognition of an impairment loss allowance of S$1,558,000 for the Al E SRR E S SRR EE B R E
year ended 31 December 2020. No reversal of investment in a joint #31,558,000%T 11 3# 7T © & 22023412 A 31
venture is considered necessary for the year ended 31 December BIEFE BEAGEQAKREWR AL &
2023. PE o
Details of joint venture: BERNAIMNFIE:
Place of Proportion of
incorporation and ownership interest
principal place and voting rights held
Name of joint venture Principal activity of business by the Group
S8 R 3 i B R REBRGRERERE
EERTRE FEEH FESEMY mRBRERELH
Queen’s Road Medical Provision of clinical healthcare and Hong Kong, Central 51%
Company Limited dermatological services
(“QR Medical”)
ELCBEARAF RERKRERREREERRE &BBPR
(T2CEE])
As at 31 December 2023, the above investment was accounted R2023F 12 A31H » i 7 A% 58 1% B8 % 51 1%
as a joint venture as the shareholders exercise joint control EITHE LRSI M ERIEEEREE
pursuant to the shareholders agreement. The above joint venture RAIARR LMl E R AIRNZEHRE W5
was accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated WMERPUAEREAR (WNAFAN AR EEE
financial statements as set out in the Group’s accounting policies in FTECRFETE) ©
Note 4.
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22

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

The joint venture was not material to the Group. And no summary
of financial information is disclosed as at 31 December 2023.

As disclosed in Note 31, on 21 March 2024, the Group completed
a restructuring transaction involving the deemed disposal of its joint
venture and the deemed acquisition of subsidiaries. At the deemed
disposal date, the carrying amount of the investment in a joint
venture was Nil.

No consideration was received for the deemed disposal, and the
transaction resulted in no change to the ultimate equity interest in
QR Medical held by the Group. No gain or loss was recognised at
the deemed disposal date.

Details of the transaction as disclosed in Note 31.

22

SEQTRE (®)
ZEEANREAEEmMELAEKR R
2023%F 12 A31 8 - I & # 55 91 15 & B i

o

pall3

N ES1FT 4K 55 - 1202443 A21 8 » A&
Bk —BEARS HPREBIEHERS
ERBARGEREIH B AR - A8 1EE
ER AERNRRENEEABAS -

SRR R B R B EBUERKE KB TR
EYARKEABACECBRREBREE
AEBML o PR IE & B I AR I8 -

RS IENMES TR E -
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23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

172

23 BEZRHEMEMNRE

2024 2023

20244 20234

S$°000 S$’000

F F7 03 T TN T

Trade payables =) ANE 104 39
Accrued expenses BRI 2,176 781
Accrued directors’ remuneration FEETE S 418 1,700
Other payables (Notes (a) and (b)) H e kI8 (FiaE(e) R (b)) 13,226 8,388
15,924 10,908

Notes:

At 31 December 2023. other payables included amounts due to
Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries of approximately S$4,567,000
(of which netting off of amounts due from them of approximately
5$2,233,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024. upon entering into
the debts assignment agreement, the amounts due to Singapore
Liquidated Subsidiaries of approximately S$6,800,000 are assigned
to an independent external party, the Assignee, and therefore,
the amounts due from Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries of
approximately S$2,233,000 are no longer eligible for offsetting and
have been transferred to other receivables (Note 20).

In addition, upon deemed acquisition of subsidiaries, there is an
addition of amounts due to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries
of approximately S$150,000 recognized for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Included in other payables consist of payables of approximately
S$4,716,000 for unpaid lease payments for (i) approximately
S$%$3,464,000 (2023: Nil) relating to existing lease arrangement and
(i) approximately S$1,252,000 (2023: approximately S$1,252,000)
relating to lease arrangement which have been terminated.
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2023128318 - B fER RIE R IERE
1< 37 DN 3% 75 25 M 8 R B 3K I8 94,567,000
Fngor (KR EHNBRERZSHE AR
FRIE#2,233,000%7 f3 T ) ©

REE2024F12 8318 IEFE - REFIE
B EBZEE BN MEEEKBAR
3K T8 476,800,000%7 114 T B 78 T B L
SNERA T (ZREA) » Flitt - R N3 E
% Y /B A 7] 3 IE 492,233,000% A1 3 7T T
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AN RRIERBEHEBARE CSRERE
202412 831 Ik F [Z FERE T 37 03
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23

24

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days (2023:
30 days). The following is an aging analysis of trade payables of
the Group presented based on the invoice date at the end of each
reporting period:

23

B 5 KEAMENSFIE (#®)
BEEMMNFEHEEBHA308 (20234F :
30B) A TARNEBRSHE B RIZE
ZEAHETNE ZEMNFKIBRE DT

2024 2023
20245 2023%F

S$’000 S$'000

¥ # hn3g T TR I T

0-30 days 0E30H 35 39
31-60 days 31260H - -
61-90 days 61290H - -
Over 90 days 90H M E 69 -

104 39

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represents upfront receipt from customers.

24

BREE
AKAMETEEE P WRME -

2024 2023
20244 20234

S$’000 S$'000

1 h03% T 7T IR T T

Dental business FRIZER 469 =
Clinical healthcare and dermatological services [k 88 B (R (2 & 57 B R AR % 1,118 =
1,587 -

Contract liabilities are mainly represent the unused prepaid package
related to provision of aesthetic dermatology and treatment
services, and medical services, and dental services. The services
period is generally within one year and all customers are required to
prepay the packages in full prior to utilisation of those services.

The Group applies the practical expedient under IFRS 15 of not
disclosing the transaction price allocated to remaining performance
obligations that is part of a contract that has original expected
duration of one year or less.

EHAETIERERHKEXT ARR
BAR BB IRT & 7T BR TS B B R R 2 A3
BNEZE -REBPE-—RBIFA MEE
FUBERERZERFENEBERNEER
o

AEERABERYBHREENFIGRIEAT
ZEUTREDE TRESEEZEH TEL
BEE(FREHN—MY HE—FXIR
—ENRAFAHAOR) N5 ER-
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24 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 24 EXEME W@
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TR EEEHEENEEFHNEER
relates to carried forward contract liabilites and how much relates ARKEBEHEEBITNRERNESEH
to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods: K&

2024
20245
Clinical

healthcare and
Dental dermatological

business services Total
RABRRER

FREK 2 8 B AR A% #Et

S$°000 S$°000 S$°000

R T T FIEFRT  HIRT R

At 1 January - - -
M1A1R

Deemed acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) - 819 819
B RYENE A (PFE31)

Consideration received net of performance obligation satisfied in current year 467 297 764
BEREAE (MRAFEERITNBRARY)

Exchange alignments 2 2 4
B 35 B

At 31 December 469 1,118 1,587
®12A31H

All of the contract liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is 20245 K2023F 12 ASIBATEA KA
expected to be recognised as revenue within one year from the BEIRAER B REHRE —FARRRK
end of the reporting period. o
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25

26

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company provided
corporate guarantee in favor of banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to Singapore Liquidated Subsidiaries of an aggregate
amounts of approximately S$6,000,000 of which approximately
S%$4,076,000 has been utilised. In regard of liquidation of those
subsidiaries, they were unable to settle the outstanding amount,
and therefore, under the financial guarantee contracts, the
Company would be liable to pay the banks and full provision on
the outstanding principal and accrued interest under Defaulted
Borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents of Singapore
Liguidated Subsidiaries has been made.

The respective borrowings carried interest at a fixed rate of 3% to
4.5% per annum.

LEASE LIABILITIES

25

26

AEEREE

20244 K 2023%F12 A31H » AR A g%
FENHEERMB AR MRITR AR
BITAXm ANTERER RITBELS
#956,000,000%T N3 7T - £ & 434,076,000
FMETEESA - RZWERRMNEH
EEHME HEREBEENREERE"
Hit AR R BEERBEVBEERES M
IBITEEMA T WERELOBR T HAE
BAS RIERTF B (R N5 R H B
RAMBRE KA EEY) (EH 2B E -

B BB KIREE F H E3%ZE4.5%xT B

HERE

2024 2023
20244 20234
S$’000 S$'000
T %7 hn 3 7T T T

Maturity analysis: EIHAD AT -
Within 1 year —FR 1,193 265
1-2 years 1524 3,503 -
4,696 265
Less: Unearned interest L R BRI B (524) @)
4,172 258

Analysed as: DA
Current B EA 970 258
Non-current JEBNER 3,202 —
4,172 258
20245F X EHF PR IR 2 AT 175
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27 BORROWINGS 27 B

2024 2023
2024 20234

S$'000 S$'000
T # o0 3K 5T TR AN T

Other borrowings H M ER 112 =

The Group’s borrowings are scheduled to repay as follows. AEBHERRETYREREEZ:

2024 2023
20244 20234

S$’000 S$'000
T &0 3R 7T T AN T

Current: BNER:

Within 1 year or on demand —FLARHIEEK 112 =

Note: Included in the borrowings balances, amounting approximately MizE: & AfE ZA £ 4952,000%7 M1 T
S$52,000 is carried a fixed interest rate of 18% per annum, when FIZEEF E18%:T B (BT &%
remaining balance of approximately S$60,000 is carried at a fixed #960,000%7 1 3% 7T & F 12 [E 7 7 &
interest rate of 24% per annum. The borrowings are unsecured and 24%5H B) ~fE R EIE IR - B E B H
matured on 31 March 2025 from an independent third party. HA2025F3A31H KRB —&BL

B=He
28 SHARE CAPITAL 28 B
Details of the share capital are disclosed as follows: RAFBERENT

Number
of shares Par value Share capital

Ain 88 &N
HK$'000
THETT

Authorised share capital A B BYETE IR

of the Company:
At 1 January 2023, 202341818 -

31 December 2023 and 2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 20241 A1R 10,000,000,000 0.01 100,000
Share consolidation (Note (ii)) Betn& 0F (B 3 Gi) ) (9,500,000,000) 0.19 =
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12H31H 500,000,000 0.20 100,000
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28 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s share capital is as follows:

B (40
ARFMBRARBIOT

Number of
shares  Share capital
gny- 4= [N
S$°000
TN T
At 1 January 2023 120231 H1H 1,314,000,000 2,273
Share options exercised on 12 January 2023 2023%1 B128 B171E 2 B i
(Note (i) (B EG® ) 18,000,000 30
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 12023512 A31H &20244F
1H1H 1,332,000,000 2,303
Share consolidation (Note (ii)) A4 & OF (PR EEGi) ) (1,265,400,000) -
At 31 December 2024 MR2024F12831H 66,600,000 2,303
Notes: B 5

0

During the year ended 31 December 2023, share options in regard
of the share options granted on 29 September 2022 (see Note
30) were exercised to subscribe for 18,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company at a consideration of approximately HK$1,962,000
(equivalent to approximately S$336,000), of which approximately
HK$180,000 (equivalent to approximately S$30,000) was credited
to share capital, and the balances of HK$1,782,000 (equivalent
to approximately S$306,000) was included in the share premium
account. As a result of the exercise of share options, amounting of
approximately HK$382,000 (equivalent to approximately S$66,000)
has been released from the share option reserve to the share
premium account.

Reference was made to the announcements of the Company dated
18 October 2024 and 22 November 2024 and the circular of the
Company dated 1 November 2024 respectively, on 26 November
2024, the Company has passed the extra ordinary resolution for
share consolidation (“Share Consolidation”) transactions of every
twenty (20) issued and unissued existing shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each into one (1) consolidated share of par value of
HK$0.20 each.

RE Z2023F12A31B IEFEE - 1T
5 R2022F9 A29H R H 2 B IR
(R K ES0) 2 AR ERELD
1,962,000 7t (48 & 7 49336,000%T
hnik or) 7R #818,000,0000% A& A & &
R E & 49180,000% 7T (A E R
#930,000%7 M3 7T ) T A B A - B2 58
1,782,0007 7t (48 & 7 #9306,000%T A
W)t AP E B - AR ITE R
7 - B A B R A R 4 R 98 ) 49382,000
7 7T (488 1 4966,000% f13% 7T ) = A%
D EER -

it AN R R B B9 Bl £2024510 A
18H K2024F 11 A22H 2 A& M AR
A H H A2024F11B1B 2@ & - R
2024F11A26H ARG EHEHD A
B OEH] R BBEINEEIR
FER-BHEHBFRE=FTOKE
REE0.OIB L2 BT RAEITE
BERBAME—(1)KRSREE.20E
TLZA GRS ©
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29

178

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong. From 1 January 2017 onwards,
the Group’s contribution rates of the eligible employees’ salaries
remain the same, with each employee’s qualifying salary capped at
HK$1,500 per month. No forfeited contributions have been used by
the Group to reduce its exiting level of contributions for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively.

The employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated by
the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligations of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to make the
required contributions under the schemes.

The total cost of approximately S$63,000 for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: approximately S$30,000) charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income represents contributions paid or payable for retirement
benefit scheme by the Group.
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30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30 BBRRAESTE

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”),
was adopted by a resolution of all the shareholders of the Company
passed on 22 September 2017 for the primary purpose of attract
and retain the best available personnel and to promote the success
of the business of the Group, and will expire in 10 years from the
date of grant.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to each eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme of the Company, in any 12-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant
of options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his close
associates abstaining from voting.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten
year commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
was adopted and shall expire at the close of business on the
business day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary thereof
unless terminated earlier by Shareholders in general meeting.

On 29 September 2022, the board of directors announces a
total of 60,000,000 share options were granted to certain eligible
participants (“Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for shares of
HK$0.1 each of the Company, representing 4.63% of the total
1,296,000,000 shares issue under the Share Option Scheme of the
Company adopted on 22 September 2017. On 7 December 2022,
The Company announces that, with the mutual agreement between
the Company and the two independent non-executive directors of
the Company and as approved by the Board, 12,000,000 share
options have been cancelled with effect from 7 December 2022
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme of the
Company.

20249F LR 7%

AARIKERERT S ([ERERTS])E
ARAF2ERRMN2017FE9A22H BB
RERERN HXTEEMNEWR| KRS
REFAS  WIREREBEFISHI -
BT S B B R0 FERER -

REARR T IRE B LA BIRERAER
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AIMEATRHRE ZTRDAI10% °
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R2022F9F20H EE@EMMAE T A&
EwsuE ([6EK2EE])RLAH
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30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

A summary of the movements of the number of share options

under the Share Option Scheme for the year is as follows:

Balance at
31 December

30 MEARAERTE (a0
FN-BREEA T RRERE 2EE
RGBT :

Balance at Exercised 2023 and Exercised Balance at
1 January during 1 January during 31 December
Date of grant 2023 the year 2024 the year 2024
#2023
12A318 R
1420235 20245 120245
1A1A 1A1A 124318
ko] k33 o33
Granted to directors 1202249 A29A 12,000,000 - 12,000,000 - 12,000,000
on 29 September 2022 RTES
Granted to employees 1202249A29A 18,000,000  (18,000,000) - - -
on 29 September 2022 RTEE
Total Bt 30,000,000 (18,000,000) 12,000,000 - 12,000,000
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Exercise

price

HK$0.109
010978 T

HK$0.109
010978

Exercisable
period

29.00.2022 to
28.09.2032

202059R0RE
203259 28R

20.09.2022 to
28.09.2032

202059R0R %
203259 28H
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30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The estimated fair values of the options granted on that date were
approximately S$225,000.

These fair values were calculated based on the income approach
technique by using common option pricing models, including but
not limited to Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, Binomial Option
Pricing model, Trinomial Option Pricing Model or Monte Carlo
Simulation etc. The inputs into the model were as follows:

30

AR REST & (@)
RZBBENBRENETRAEELD
225,000%7 hnsg 7t

ZEAFETDRBRESEZMERE S
HigEBRAFE  eRETRRENR -
HRAMEEEEN —AANEEER
B —RAPEEERESARE RERE
FoHAMBAERNT

2022
20224

Weighted average share price InkEFEHRE
Exercise price TEE
Expected volatility T8 HA K &
Expected life TEHFR
Risk-free rate 2 3 fi R =
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B &

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

31 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL TRANSACTIONS

a. Change of control over QR Medical

On 21 March 2024, RMH HK and Ms. Tse, being the existing
shareholders of QR Medical, entered into Shareholders’
Agreement to regulate the arrangement and the respective
rights and obligations of RMH HK and Ms. Tse with respect
to the management and operations of the QR Group.

31.

HK$0.0251 and HK$0.027
0.02517% 7T %0.0277% 7T
HK$0.109

0.1097%% 7T

61.37%

10 years 104

3.65%

0%

BARERANERFREREBEEENR
A E TSR TERSMNMTS
ZERRNTEETHE-

KERHERS

a. ECBREFESE
MR2024F3A218 BT H B R# &
T (AECEBENBITRR)ILR
Ehm UREBHECEEMNE
I B T BE A R iR T & S B A
ZHEEAMENRER-
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31 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL TRANSACTIONS

182

(Continued)

Prior to the entering into of the Shareholder’s Agreement, QR
Medical’s directors comprised Ms. Tse and Dr. Loh. Pursuant
to the Shareholder’s Agreement, unless otherwise agreed in
writing by the shareholders of QR Medical, the number of
directors of QR Medical shall consist of three directors, two
of which shall be appointed and removed at the request of
RMH HK and the remaining one director shall be appointed
and removed at the request of Ms. Tse. RMH HK has
nominated Mr. Poon and Mr. Loke, whereas Ms. Tse has
nominated herself as the director of QR Medical.

Prior to the entering into of the Shareholder’s Agreement and
change of composition of board of directors of QR Medical,
the Group’s 51% equity interest over QR Medical was
accounted for as investment in a joint venture and its financial
results, assets and liabilities have been accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group under equity
method of accounting.

Upon the completion of the change of composition of
the board of directors of QR Medical in accordance with
Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group have obtained control
over QR Medical and the QR Group has became the non-
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group and its financial
results, assets and liabilities are consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group since the
Transaction Date.

The transaction did not involve any consideration being paid
by the Group and did not result in a change in the Group’s
ultimate underlying equity interest in QR Medical. Thus, the
above transaction is considered as deemed disposal of a
joint venture and deemed acquisition of subsidiaries at Nil
consideration at the Transaction Date.
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31 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

No gain or loss upon deemed disposal of a joint venture and
no goodwill has been recognised upon deemed acquisition
of subsidiaries at the Transaction Date, as the transaction
does not result in future economic benefits and is primarily
for restructuring and compliance purposes.

()] Deemed disposal of investment in a joint venture

At the Transaction Date, the net carrying amounts
of investment in a joint venture as Nil with the
consideration as Nil and therefore, no gain or loss are
recognised in regard of deemed disposal of investment
in a joint venture.

(i) Deemed acquisition of investment in subsidiaries

On the Transaction Date, the Group completed the
deemed acquisition of the subsidiaries. In accordance
with IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the Group
remeasured the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of QR Group at the acquisition date.

At the Transaction Date, the fair value of the net
liabilities acquired as approximately S$8,237,000,
the differences between the fair value of net liabilities
acquired and consideration, i.e. Nil. No goodwill or
bargain purchase gain is being recognised.

The transaction has been accounted for as a
restructuring of the business.

QR Medical and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of medical and aesthetic services as well as sale of
skin and hair care products and wellness products through
Queen’s Road Specialist Centre (the “Medical Centre”) and
QR Skin and Laser Centre (the “Laser Centre”) in Hong
Kong.

31. WERHERS (#)

R 5 T & W R AR R LB e
RETEREREARGRABN &
BERBNSEHBERNRIELES
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HFEEAT REAT Fit
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31 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL TRANSACTIONS 31. WiERHER S (&)

(Continued)

a. Change of control over QR Medical a EBECBEREIZESESE (@
(Continued)
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date RBERHRIATKBNEERE
of acquisition &

21 March 2024
20243 A21H

S$°000
T3 03 T
Inventories FE 106
Trade and other receivables, and deposits B 5 REAMEYHRIERIZS 70
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRIAS 145
Trade payables B S 5RIE (4)
Other payables and accruals HthErfREMETER (2,845)
Contract liabilities BREE (819)
Lease liabilities HEAE (4,770)
Tax payables FEBLIR ®)
Borrowings [EEA (112
Net liabilities acquired Fri e & JEIF 8 (8,237)
Less: Non-controlling interests W IR (4,892)
Other reserve H M (3,345)
Deemed consideration: RIERE -
Fair value of previously held 51% equity interest ERFACE2CEES1%REZ
in QR Medical as investment in joint venture AEE (RBEGHEREIER
under equity method of accounting AERNFEE) -

Net cash inflow arising from deemed acquisition: RIEWBEE 2B RAFR:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriiErIR & MIRe EEY 145
All acquisition-related costs are recognised as expense in the B W AR AEE [HAh
current year within “other operating expenses” line item. KERY | HEARERARRAS
Non-controlling interests of 49% in QR Medical recognised RUEE B B RN 218 HE49%
at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the FERER IR ERLENEGECE
proportionate share of recognised amount of net liabilities of CEFEEFECERSENE I
QR Medical and amounted to approximately S$4,892,000 2 RER 494,892,000 AN TT

have been recognised.
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31 ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

a.

Change of control over QR Medical
(Continued)

Included in the loss for the year is approximately S$185,000
attributable to the additional business generated by QR
Medical. Revenue for the year includes approximately
S$2,140,000 generated from QR Medical.

Had the acquisition of QR Medical been completed on 1
January 2024, revenue for the year of the Group would
have been approximately S$5,522,000, and loss for the
year would have been approximately S$3,777,000. The pro-
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and results of operations
of the Group that actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2024 nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

Disposal of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
has disposed the entire equity interest in DS Velites
Limited with bank balance of approximately S$2,000 to an
independent third party at Nil consideration, resulting in net
loss on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately S$2,000
recognised in “Other gains and losses, net”.

Deregistration of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 December 2024, DS Skin &
Aesthetics Clinic Pte Ltd has deregistered with other
payables and accruals of approximately S$17,000, the
Company recognises net gain on deregistration of a
subsidiary of approximately S$17,000 in “Other gains and
losses, net”.

WEREHERS (#)

ECEERZEHRESE (#)

F N E 18 B 35 49185,000%7 H3E T -
TEERECEREENEINER -

FARZREEEB2LCEEND

2,140,000% hN3 7T

2024 F1 A1B e M IE 218
B ANEEF AR 4 55,522,000
oo - FAREBER L A3,777,000
FnE T EEAREMTR A
R AR B R R EEN20244F1 A
1HEERZER TERERER Y
Woas Q& EE 21812 I EHE
BARRER Z BB

HE—EHNEBATR
RE E2024F12A31B L FE - &
ENRRERERABIE=H
HEDS Velites Limited# 2 2B A% # -
SR1T 45 8 40 52,0005 I T » EEL
HE—HENBARMNEERFEOA
2,00057 M3 T B R [ H e 25 & &S
BIREE RRER -

BUEE M — R E AR
HZE2024F12A318 Lt FE ' DS
Skin & Aesthetics Clinic Pte LtdEUH
FE S B H A FE A BB R ERT B A
#917,000%7 AN TT - AR 2 &) R [ EAth
s & B5 18 0% 58 | i REUH 5 it
— [ Bt B A B 79 % Y 2 £917,000%7
T e
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32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 EBLERS
The remuneration of executive directors of the Company and other AATRRITESERHEMFEETEAERA
members of key management personnel during the year was as FEMHFHAOT
follows:
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEABFHM

2024 2023
20244 20234

S$°000 S$’000
T %7 i3 T T H: N T

Salaries, performance bonus and other benefits & R IREAL K E 48 F 416 913
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme ERIRTEAET B K 6 8

422 921
The Group has the following balances with related party: INE B VR DA T B T A AR

2024 2023
20244 20234

Name of related party Relationship Nature of business S$’000 S$’'000
B 28 2R EBME F F7 hng T TN T

ERRXHEABREFXERAA A related party Amount due to a related

party (Note a) 1,395 1,425
BRAHRNEREEZEERAT @S JE A< B EE 5 3B (BfsEa)
Poon Chun Yin Executive Director  Amount due to a director
(Note b) 1,098 -
EBEE BITES JEN—RBEEZFIA
(MsEDb)
Lee Chung Shun Executive Director  Amount due to a director
(Note b) 7 -
FR3E WITES N —BESZHIA
(MizED)

Notes: Mf3E -

a.  The amount due to a related party is unsecured, interest-free and a. ENBEBIRBEAEER 28 KA
repayable on 9 March 2025. The related party is under the common M2025F3A9R EiE - s B 75 Jh A
control of a director of the Company. ARal—BEEHEES -

b.  The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and b. ENESFFEAEERM RERER
repayable on demand. ZREE-
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33 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33 AQRREFEMBLATFE

OF THE COMPANY

Attributable equity
interests of the Group and
the respective voting right held

Place of incorporation/
operation and date of

Issued and fully paid
share capital as at date

Name of Company incorporation by the Group as at of this report Principal activities

EMRYL EERER AEEEEREREEE REREAHHERTR

AEER AL L A 5 FisHRREE BRRA TEEH
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
20245 20235
12 A31H 12 A318
Directly held
ERKE
Unified Front Limited BVI/Singapore 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of US$1,542,506 Investment holding.
8 December 2016 (equivalent to approximately
$$2,164,000)
Unified Front Limited RERLES,/ MM 1,542,506 70 (18 R4 REER-
2016512 A8H 2,164,000%7 1% 7T ) ) & B
RMH (Hong Kong) Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$10,000,000 Provision of medical aesthetic
Holdings Limited 2 October 2018 (equivalent to approximately services and sale of skin
$$1,752,000) care products and was
remained dormant during
the year.
B (BB ERERDR  AB/BE 10,000,000 7T (H& R4 REBBERRBRHE
2018%10A2A 1,752,000%7 N3 e ) ) AR HEERERERNLE
REXHK.
Desimei Medical (Hangzhou) ~ Hangzhou/China 100% 100% - Inactive
Co., Ltd (Note a) 9 December 2021
BHEERE (MM)BRAR MM/ HE Exh
(Fizta) 2021412 A9A
Indirectly held
BEEFE
DS Skin & Aesthetics Singapore/Singapore - 100%  Ordinary shares of S$300 Specialised Medical Services
Clinic Pte Ltd 16 July 2020 (Including Day Surgical
(Deregistered on Centers).
5 August 2024)
DS Skin & Aesthetics HSR /#IK 300 MR TTEY E AR ERBERY (BEER
Clinic Pte Ltd 202067 A 16H FlipL)
(#202458 A5H
BUHEA)
RMH Imaging Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$1,000 Provision of diagnostic &

5 August 2020 (equivalent to approximately S$180) screening service offered
through imaging machines,
including but not limited to
Computed Tomography
Scanner (CT), Magnetic
Resonance Imaging (MRI),
Ultrasounds (US) and
Mammography (MG)

RMH Imaging Limited &8/ BB 1,000 7T (FHERA180F M) B BRYERREIERFE

202068758 ERR R BIEETHRREN
BT ERHCT) iR
(MRI) - B R (US)RILE
EFMG)

20245FFEHiET  TEAT IR IR 2 AT
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 22024412431 H I-F/E

33 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33 ARTEEMWEQTFE (@)

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Attributable equity
interests of the Group and
the respective voting right held
by the Group as at
AEEEERERTEE

Place of incorporation/
operation and date of
incorporation

SR, EELER

Issued and fully paid
share capital as at date
of this report
RAFZERBNERTR

Name of Company Principal activities

188

DEAER

Indiirectly held (Continued)

A A
31 December

2024

20245

12 A31H

FsRRRRE

31 December
2023

2023F

12 A31H

BEBRA

TRER

BEEE (&)
DS Regenerative Hong Kong/Hong Kong 100% 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$1,000 Trading of health supplement
Medicine Limited 8 June 2020 (equivalent to approximately S$175) and skin care products
BRBERBERAF BE/BR 100087 (BHERMITBHNET) REREREEERES
2020F6A8H MEER
DES (Shenzhen) Enterprise Shenzhen/China 100% 100% - Trading of health supplement
Development Co., Ltd 22 October 2020 and skin care products
(Note a)
i ORI ERR i VAE RERRERERES
BB R (fiita) 2020%F10A228
DS Enterprise Management ~ Zhongshan/China 70% 70% - Inactive
Co., Ltd (formerly known as 3 December 2021
Zhongshan Des Enterprise
Management Co., Ltd)
(Note b)
EHAMERER (BR) L/ hE EEEK
RHGBERAR (AT 2021%12A3A
R tEER
BRAR) (Mio)
DS Velites Limited" Hong Kong/Hong Kong - 70%  Ordinary shares of HK$10 Inactive
(Disposed on 30 December 2021 (equivalent to approximately S$2)
25 September 2024)
ENEYEERAA" BB/ ER 1078 7T (A& R #1237 T ) BEER
(202459 A26AHME)  2021412430H ML BR
Zhongshan Des Oral Zhongshan/China 70% 70% - Dental Clinic
Clinic Ltd. 20 May 2022
FILTEE O RR2 Hl,/HRE AErM2
BRAF 2022%5A20A
Queen’s Road Medical Hong Kong/ 51% N/A  Ordinary shares of HK$30,000,000 Investing holdings
Company Limited (Note 31) 30 December 2019
SCBEERAA (MF31) AE,/2019512[308 @A 30,000,000/ 70 L AR REER
QR Day Surgery Limited Hong Kong/20 May 2020 51% N/A  Ordinary shares of HK$10,000 Inactive
(Note 31)
QR Day Surgery Limited & ,/202065 208 TEA 10000 LB EEX
(FizE31)
QR Skin Medicine Limited Hong Kong/20 May 2020 51% N/A Ordinary shares of HK$10,000 Provision of dermatological
(Note 31) services by Laser Centre
QR Skin Medicine Limited &% /2020655208 TEA 100008 T EBER AL RER ER RS
(BizE31)
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33 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33 ARTEFEMEQTFE (@)

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Attributable equity
interests of the Group and
the respective voting right held
by the Group as at
AEEEEREREAEE
PR EE
31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024 2023F
12 A31H 12 318

Place of incorporation/
operation and date of
incorporation

TR EERR

Name of Company

DAEH BB 5

QR Skin Limited Hong Kong/3 July 2020 51% N/A
(Formerly name: Queen’s
Road Oncology Centre
Limited) (Note 31)
QR Skin Limited ( 377 : & /202047 A3H TR
ECEEERFOERRA)
(PBizE31)
Queen’s Road Medical Hong Kong/3 July 2020 51% N/A
Diagnostic Limited (Note 31)
SLBRALEBRARA & /202047 A3H TR
(PBEE31)
Queen’s Road Clinic Limited ~ Hong Kong/ 51% N/A
(Note 31) 20 January 2020
Queen’s Road Clinic Limited ~~ &7%,/202041 A208 NER
(PizE31)
QRC Clinic Management Hong Kong/ 51% N/A

Limited (Note 31) 21 January 2020

QRC Clinic Management &5 ,/202061 218 TiER
Limited (F#31)
Queen’s Road Skin Limited Hong Kong/ 51% N/A
(Note 31) 25 September 2020
Queen's Road Skin Limited &7 /202059 H258 TEm
(BizE31)

Unified Front Limited, RMH (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited and
Desimei Medical (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd are directly held by the
Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.
All entities comprising the Group are limited liability companies and
have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end

of the year.

Notes:

(@) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (Hong
Kong and Macau legal person sole proprietorship) in the PRC.

(b) The company was incorporated as limited liability company (wholly
owned foreign enterprise) in the PRC.

Issued and fully paid
share capital as at date
of this report
REAFZERBNERTR
BERA

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,000/ 7T & # R

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,000/ 7T & # R

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,0007 7T & AR

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,0007 7T & AR

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,0007 7T & AR

Principal activities

TRER

Inactive

BTEEB

Inactive

YEEK

Provision of clinical healthcare
services by Medical Centre

BEROREERER
RERB

Trading of medicine

EmES

Inactive

TEEB

20245FFEHiET  TEAT IR IR 2 AT
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34 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 34 FERER
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s REBEBEAEERER 2WB AT Z
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out W AR ZEH 0T o AT B 758 BHEE
below. The summarised financial information below represents ERTEBENEIHEA 228 :

amount before intragroup eliminations:

QR Medical and its subsidiaries ECEERERHENB AT

From 21 March
2024 to

31 December 2024
2024F3[218 =

2024F12H31H

S$°000
F AT
Revenue for the period AP & 2,140
Profit for the period HA 1A )4 ) 185
Other comprehensive expense for the period HAEHM 2 ERX (67)
Total comprehensive income for the period HREER=EE 128
Profit for the period attributable to the non-controlling I 12 5 A 25 FE A B N )
interests 91
Current assets mENEE 211
Non-current assets FEREEE 11
Current liabilities B EE (6,946)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (3,173)
Net liabilities BEFEE (9,897)
Portion of share DIEER D 49%
Non-controlling interests e R (4,849)
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35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35 AN E KA K AR R
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BRAARRARRERRAEAR RN E R
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: N

2024 2023
2024 20234

$$°000 S$'000
T 3 b3 T TR BT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB RARMEE 3,353 3,353
Plant and equipment M E K& - 1
3,353 3,354
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ NG BN 5,669 3,869
Other receivable H fth fE U FRIE 1,121 =
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 1 23
6,791 3,892
Current liabilities REBERE
Amount due to a director BN —ZEERHE 1,098 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE AT B B8 1 R K38 2,845 =
Other payables and accruals H e RIE R ERTE B 3,756 2,102
Financial guarantee liabilities BB EREE 4,076 4,076
11,775 6,178
Net current liabilities REBEEFERE (4,984) (2,286)
Net (liabilities)/assets F(AE) BE (1,631) 1,068
EQUITY e
Capital and reserves EXRRHE
Share capital A& 75 2,303 2,303
Reserves 1 (3,934) (1,235)
(Deficit)/equity attributable to owners RDBBEEAEML
of the Company (B4l R (1,631) 1,068
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35

36

192

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

The movement of the Company’s capital and reserves is as follows:

35

N2 B HY I B AR B R AR L R
(80
ARTERRABEDOT

Foreign
Share currency
Share Share option Other translation Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BRE HERE
BE  ROEE RE  HtRE & 2t ER @t
S§'000 S$000 S§'000 S§'000 S§000 S$000 S§'000
THMET FHMET THNET FHMgT Tz TEmgz TR
At 1 January 2023 #2023F141H 2,273 23,849 112 81853 15 (27,324) 2,278
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (1541) (1,541)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ FRE M2 ERH X - = = = () = ()
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREERZLE - - - - () (1,541) (1546)
Exercise of share options e RE 30 372 (66) - - - 336
At 31 December 2023 #2023E12831R 2,308 24,221 46 3,353 10 (28,865) 1,068
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 14202312831 &
2024F1B1A 2,303 24,221 46 3,353 10 (28,865) 1,068
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - 2,799) (2,793)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZENE = S = = 94 = 94
Total comprehensive income/(expense) EnzEbE/ (AX)88
for the year = = = = 94 (2,793) (2,899)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12531A 2,303 24,221 46 3,353 104 (31,658) (1,631)
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36 EXEKRER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to the owners of the Company through the optimisation of
the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged in 2024 and 2023.

The capital structure of the Group represents borrowings, amounts
due to directors and a related party and equity attributable to the
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of
the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through issue of shares, payment of dividends and return of capital
to shareholders.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37 €T H
Categories of financial instruments SRMIADE

2024 2023
20244 20234
S$°000 S$’000
F ¥ fn 3 7o T3 T
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEAARAARNEREE 2,606 1,505
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKEAARN SR AR 16,360 11,552
Financial guarantee liabilities HBEREE 4,076 4,076
Lease liabilities HERRE 4,172 258

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management of the Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest risk in relation to
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The Group does not have any exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the management
considers the Group’s exposure to cash-flow interest rate risk
arising from variable rate bank balances as minimal.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group closely monitors
its exposure to interest rate risk as a result of change on market
interest rate and will consider hedging changes in market interest
rates should the need arise.

THEBEEEERBE

ZEDBT AR FIERAAR MM EREE- &
ZEoR T ARENRREET SRR (7
X kE®RR) FEARERDE
TR T XEIBEZFRRNBE-
AEBEREEERERZFRBAARE:
MR MBS A MREUE & 1556

™ i5 E ke

FEmEB
AEEmEEEERREEAGEN A FE
=R -

AEBYERREIARSRENETRR-
20244 K2023F12H31H EERERR
AEBERFHNERITERELNR TR
EfNREREMN-

74 48 [ I 313 4% P 8 R B - AT - A
S EERERYEREKATEEED
BRI B A5 B 5
HEHED -
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, which expose the Group to foreign currency risk. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy,
but the management will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure as necessary. The Group manages the foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency exchange rates.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, except for the followings,
the Group does not have significant financial assets or financial
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group companies. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary
assets at the end of each reporting period are as follows.

S$ AN T

37

R T E (#H)
tREREERZEREEK (#®)

misaE (%)

Exmp
AEBETETIINEFENRZSAE
BASEYER AEEB AL ENES
B AT E IR E R L B S
BERIMNERR AREEBEINERINEG
fERE B ERINERR -

R2024%F K2023F12A31H B TR AT
T AREHENESEEATMNMAEEN G
BEININEFETEC ER SR EED
ERMEBE - RNEREHR AEB U
FHMEMEYEEZREBENT

Liabilities
=K
2024 2023
20234
S$’'000

TR IR T

20244
S$°000
F 7 N3 T

(8,781) (8,636)

The Group is mainly exposed to the foreign currency risk of S$
(2023: S$) against the functional currencies of each group entity.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s loss for the year in response to 5% (2023: 5%) increase or
decrease in S$ (2023: S$) against the functional currencies of each
group entity to which the Group has significant exposure at the
end of reporting period. A sensitivity rate of 5% (2023: 5%) on S$
(2023: S$) represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in S$ (2023: S$) exchange rate.
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 €I A #)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Increase in foreign exchange rate HNEE B =R 35 )
Decrease in foreign exchange rate HNEE [ 3R )

tREREEEEREE (&)

miEEE (&)
EEk ()

2024 2023

20244 20234

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (CEIEERR)

in loss in loss

BREMm, BEEm,

O 2) (R4

S$°000 S$’000

T F b0 T FE N T

439 432

(439) (432)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure at
the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. At
the end of reporting period, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has delegated its finance
team to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default.
The finance team uses publicly available financial information and
the Group’s own historical repayment records to rate its major
customers and debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

20245FFEHiET  TEAT IR IR 2 AT
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 €ET A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and tREREEBZRBR (8)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERR (&)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the AEEEKRNEERRTRIERBEUT
following categories: Pa N
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
=Yl Bt BREHCEBFENEE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12m ECL
have any past-due amounts.
B4 HFEINENRRE BV EaHEHE- TEAEREEEE
Doubtful Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
] &R SHEEBHS30R HEERBREFTARRBUREREB LA SaBHEREEEE-
EE VMR E
In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
indicating the asset is credit-impaired.
EH SHEEBHS0H HEFRBEBRREECELREERE- B RRREEERE -
EEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

s BEBBTEBARRBEVRRE BAREER SREME
L3 A BB 5RO o
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37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37 $RIT A @)
Financial risk management objectives and cHEREEBERBK (&)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) FERE (&)
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s financial TRFNAEBEEREENEEEEUR
assets as well as maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk REERRBILAIISNEREERR :

rating grades:

Internal credit Gross carrying Loss  Net carrying
rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
ABEEFR T-EARLHBEHASEERR BEEE EERE REZE
$'000 $000 $'000
FH MK T FHmME T FH MK T
2024
2024F
Trade receivables 20 O Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 716 (11) 705
B S EIGE AnBREHEEER (BERE)
Trade receivables 20 0 Lifetime ECL (in default) 2,005 (2,005) -
B 5 EMGE EnBHEREEER (EX)
Other receivables 20 @ 12m ECL 2,334 (1,141) 1,193
HivEIKRIE +-EABHEERE
Other receivables 20 @ 12m ECL (in default) 718 (718) -
HinEIKRIE +-EABSEEESE (EY)
Deposits 20 12m ECL 142 - 142
i TZERAEREEEE
Deposits 20 12m ECL (in default) 1,964 (1,964) -
s TZEAESREEER (EH)
Bank balances 21 12m ECL 566 - 566
BTG +-EABHEEEE
2023
20235
Trade receivables 20 O Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 387 67) 320
B 5 e EnBEREHEEER (BERE)
Trade receivables 20 O Lifetime ECL (in default 1,951 (1,951) -
BHENHE EhBEREHEEEE (D)
Other receivables 20 @ 12m ECL 338 (20) 318
H i WA TZEAEREEEE
Other receivables 20 @ 12m ECL (in default) 712 (712) -
HivEIKRIE TZEAESHEEER (EH)
Amount due from a joint venture 20 @ Lifetime ECL (in default) 1,730 (1,730) -
—HaERRERNE EnBHEREEER (EH)
Deposits 20 12m ECL 576 - 576
e ToEAEHEEEE
Deposits 20 12m ECL (in default) 1,946 (1,946) -
e TEABSEEER (EH)
Bank balances 21 12m ECL 291 - 291
RITHER +-EABGEEEE
U The Group determines the expected credit losses on trade M AEBEBFRBREEMEETE S ERK
receivables by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical EHWTEHEEERE  HREEWEIE
credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, REER R ABE EEEBERETT
adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of 1?5 AW EREE Eﬂ B AR MR B A
future economic conditions. B 5 R At T ) AR SRAE AR,
@ The Group determines that these receivables are not past due and @ AEERE BEFTCEERRE Y
have low risk of default, apart from those receivables which credit risk IRFERLARE K& A8 AR IE S -
is assessed to have increased significantly since initial recognition. RNEBE R B ZE W HRIE R K8 H
BEHRBRTK -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has adopted procedures in extending credit terms to
customers and in monitoring its credit risk. The Group only grants
credit to creditworthy counterparties. Cash is held with creditworthy
institutions.

Top 3 corporate customers of the Group accounts for
approximately 26% of the trade receivables for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: 72%). Management assesses and
monitors credit risk and debt collection efforts on a regular basis.
Allowance for potential credit losses is adjusted when necessary.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s approach in managing liquidity is to ensure, as far
as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions,
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the
Group’s reputation. The Group monitors its liquidity risk and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Typically,
the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on hand to meet
expected operational expenses; this excludes the potential impact
of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted,
such as natural disaster.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the
contractual repayment dates. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate at the end of each reporting period.
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37 £RMIA @

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

tREREEEERBEK (&)

Liquidity tables REBESR
Carrying
Weighted amount at
average Total the end of
effective Within 2to5 undiscounted the reporting
interest rate 1 year years cash flows date
miEFH AERRE REEAH
BIRR= 1ER 2Z5% REBAE SRNREE
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
Tk FEHET  FEHIRT FHgT  FEIRT
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31H
Non-derivative financial ETESHEE

liabilities

Trade and other payables BHREMENFIE  NATER 13,748 = 13,748 13,748
Amounts due to directors [ENESHA N/ATN L R 1,105 = 1,105 1,105
Amount due to a related party  JEff — & Bi#E 5 FUB

(Note 32) (Ht7E£32) N/ATNE R 1,398 = 1,395 1,395
Borrowings RS 18-24 118 - 118 112
Lease liabilities (Note 26) HEAE (Miz6) 3.00-6.00 1,193 3,503 4,696 4,172
Financial guarantee liabilities UBERAE

(Note 25) (HtzE25) 3.00-4.50 4,076 - 4,076 4,076
Total st 21,638 3,503 25,138 24,608
At 31 December 2023 20234124318
Non-derivative financial ETESRER

liabilities
Trade and other payables BHRAMENFE  NATER 10,127 = 10,127 10,127
Lease liabiliies (Note 26) HEAE (MizE26) 2.66-3.00 265 = 265 258
Amount due to a related party  JEff — & BAHE 7 5B

(Note 32) (M7E32) N/ATNE R - 1,425 1,425 1,425
Financial guarantee liabilities BERAE

(Note 25) (HtzE25) 3.00-4.50 4,076 - 4,076 4,076
Total st 14,468 1,425 15,893 15,886
Fair value N¥EE

Management of the Group considers that the carrying amounts of REEETEERA REBHEKATENS
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost MEERERABGCREBEREQTEMR
approximate their fair values. ae
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38 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF CASH FLOWS

200

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into the new lease arrangement for office
premise of 2 years leading to addition to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of S$66,000 respectively.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2024, amounting
of approximately S$1,105,000 of other payables and
accruals have been settled on behalf by the directors
of the Company.

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, amounting
of approximately S$1,091,000 representing principal
and interest portion of lease liabilities have been
transferred to other payables.

(iv)  During the year ended 31 December 2023, in regard
of early termination of lease arrangement, amounting
of S$883,000 arisen from respective lease liability have
been waived and netting off with respective right-of-
use assets of $$825,000 with net gain of S$58,000
recognised in profit or loss.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.
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38 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 38 HSLEBEERERHT @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) METBHEENEEBNHIER
financing activities (Continued) (#8)
Interest
payables
included
in other Amount
payables Lease duetoa Amounts due
Borrowings (note 23) liabilities related party  to directors
AR
EfFE
FEF S Eff—% JEf
R (HtzEes) HEEE HBEAINE EZNE o
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
FHMET T THMET  FEMET  TEMET TR
Balance at 1 January 2024 R2024E1R1A K% - - 258 1,425 - 1,683
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ BERLHELH:

- Interest paid —BRME - @ - - - @
Total changes from financing cash flows  BER L HELHAE - @) - - - @
Non-cash changes: FRe2Y:

- Interest expense (Note 10) —-FER% (H#10) - 2 212 - - 234

- New lease g - - 66 - - 66

- Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31)  —JREEHBA )

(WizE31) 112 - 4,770 - - 4,382

~ Transfer to other payables ~EEHMERNTE - - (1,091) - - (1,001)

— Other payables settlement on behalf ~ —E ftt B {578

RRgE - - - - 1,105 1,105

- Exchange alignments -ERHZ - - (43) (30) = (73)

112 2 3914 (30) 1,115 5123
Balance at 31 December 2024 R2024F 1231 B84 112 18 4,172 1,395 1,105 6,802
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38 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS 38 HSLEBEERERHZT @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

b) MEEFDHELENEB/NHEIK

202

financing activities (Continued)

(%)

Amount
Lease duetoa
Borrowings liabilities related party
EN—%
& HERE B A
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000
T M T T mE T T M T
Balance at 1 January 2023 20231 A1 R &8 182 2,678 2,493 5,353
Changes from financing cash flows: BERSNERD:
~ Interest paid —ERHE @ - - @)
- Repayment to a related party —BART 2B - - (1,068) (1,068)
— Repayment of borrowings —BEER (180) = = (180)
- Repayment of lease liabilities —-ERHERE - (1,550) - (1,550)
Total changes from financing cash flows ~ BBBERELHEE (182) (1,550) (1,068) (2,800)
Non-cash changes: IR EE:
- Interest expense (Note 10) —FBFZ (FFE10) 2 53 = 55
- Release upon early termination of —REEIAERER
lease (Note 18) (BzE18) - (8893) - (883)
- Exchange alignments —ERAE @) (40) = 42)
- 870) - 870)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31 B &% - 258 1,425 1,683
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 &, 22024412531 H 1F F/Z

39 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Details of the capital reorganisation are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated on 1 November 2024. 22 November 2024
and 28 February 2025.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting by the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
taken the following events:

(i) on 26 November 2024. the Share Consolidation became
effective by which will involve a consolidation of every twenty
(20) Issued and unissued Existing Shares of par value of
HK$0.01 each into one (1) Consolidated Share of par value
of HK$0.20 each:

(ii) Immediately upon the Share Consolidation becoming
effective, the capital reduction will involve a reduction of
the par value of each issued Consolidated Share from
HK$0.20 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid-up capital of
the Company to the extent of HK$0.19 on each of the then
issued Consolidated Shares such that the par value of each
issued Consolidated Share will be reduced from HK$0.02
to HK$0.01 each (“Capital Reduction”). In addition, any
fractional Consolidated Shares in the issued share capital of
the Company arising from the Share Consolidation will be
cancelled:

@iy Immediately following the Share Consolidation and the
Capital Reduction becoming effective, each of the authorised
but unissued Consolidated Share (including those authorised
unissued Consolidated Shares arising from the Capital
Reduction) will be sub-divided into twenty (20) of par value of
HK$0.01 each (“Share Sub-division”);

(iv)  the credit arising from the Capital Reduction will be
transferred to the contributed surplus account of the
Company.

The Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-division are still subject
to fulfilment of certain conditions as set out in the section headed
“Conditions of the Capital Reorganisation” in the circular published
on 28 February 2025: and the revised effective date of the Capital
Reduction and the Share Sub-division is expected to be on or
about 30 April 2025.

39

REEE
BEABHEFBHNA LR E BB R2024F 11
A1R - 2024%11 A22H %2025%2 A28H
EOPN=E

HRARBBRRRBERERAE LBBH
FrRDRZBR  ARRETUATEIA:

) FR2024F11 A26H IR A HAER
BB FRERE =+ 0)KR TR EE
QOB ZEBEITRAREITRAR
D& PR —(1)IREIREE0.20% 7T
AR

(i) BREERMD A GHEBIE - BRANBIRE S
REBEEARRBERA (UEF
f% 2 By B 2176 HEAR 5 0.198 T B
R) BEREFETEMBRMNZEE
F0.20/8 T Bl R E20.0178 7T stk &
BREETAEHFRNDNEESB SR
E{E0.0275 TR 2 £0.01%8 7T ([ %
ANEIR ) o o DA HFELEZ A
REIBBHITRAR 2 ERTHE G
B3 45 F DA RESH

(i) RBERD A OF R BRAHIR AR
BRAEERBETAHEN (B
R RS B ORh T E A 2 iR S 0E B R B
TEMFRMD)BHFALS = TROKE
AR E{E0.0178 7T 2 ¥ B fn (TB 2 4
Al

v) BAEREENERSEREARR
AN BEHBHRER-

A& AN B R B B 1 v 48 43 78 £F 10202542 A
28H FIZE B KA [ A EME Z IG1HF] —
EipTE 2B TIRTERE  FAlEE: &k
AR S BI R R B A R AR B A S 5T AE 20 B HRTE
HA ¥ A202544 A30H s AT 1% °
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Financial Summary

A 5 g

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024
20214F 20224 20234 20245
S$’000 S$'000 S$’000 S$’°000

T3 03 T T3N3 T T3N3 T T 03K T
(from
continuing
operations)

RESULTS E4

Revenue & 10,289 4,241 3,180 5,044
Loss before taxation BRELRTEE (8,871) (13,127) (6,853) (2,251)
Income tax FriS i 86 = = 14
Loss for the year FEFBE (8,785) (13,127) (6,853) (2,237)

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2021 2022 2023 2024

20214 20224 20234 20245
S$'000 S$'000 S$'000 S$°000
T3 N3 T T3N3 T TN T F $hnig T

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE

Total assets BEE 18,907 12,396 4,148 3,967
Total liabilities wEE 14,340 18,692 16,667 (28,379)
Total equity (deficit) BiEm (EA) 4,567 (6,296) (12,519) (24,412)
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